
Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a 
Chymunedau
Lleoliad:
Ystafell Bwyllgora 2 - Y Senedd
Dyddiad: Dydd Iau, 17 Hydref 2019
Amser: 09.35

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a:
Naomi Stocks
Clerc y Pwyllgor
0300 200 6222 
SeneddCymunedau@cynulliad.cymru

------

Cyfarfod preifat cyn y prif gyfarfod (09:35-09:45) 

Yn ystod ei gyfarfod ar 3 Hydref, cytunodd y Pwyllgor i wahardd y 
cyhoedd o eitemau 1 a 2 o’r cyfarfod hwn o dan Reol Sefydlog 
17.42(vi) 

1 Gwaith dilynol ar gysgu ar y stryd yng Nghymru: Diweddariad ar 
weithgarwch ymgysylltu â dinasyddion, Rhys Jones, Rheolwr 
Ymgysylltu â Dinasyddion
(09:45-10:00) (Tudalennau 1 - 23) 

2 Gwaith dilynol ar gysgu ar y stryd yng Nghymru: Brîff ar ymchwil i 
angen â blaenoriaeth a chysgu ar y stryd, Dr Helen Taylor, 
Cymrawd Academaidd
(10:00-10:30) (Tudalennau 24 - 34) 

3 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau
 

4 Gwaith dilynol ar gysgu ar y stryd yng Nghymru: sesiwn 
dystiolaeth gyda'r Gweinidog
(10:30-12:00) (Tudalennau 35 - 54) 

 Julie James, y Gweinidog Tai a Llywodraeth Leol

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



 Emma Williams, Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr Adran Polisi Tai 
 Sarah Rhodes, Pennaeth y gangen Ddigartrefedd 

5 Papurau i’w nodi
(Tudalen 55) 

5.1 Gohebiaeth at y Gweinidog yr Economi a Thrafnidiaeth ynghylch yr 
ymchwiliad i Ymchwiliad i Gynllun y Bathodyn Glas yng Nghymru: 
Cymhwystra a Gweithredu

(Tudalennau 56 - 57) 
5.2 Gohebiaeth gan y Dirprwy Weinidog a ' r prif chwip mewn perthynas â Deddf 

Trais yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol (Cymru) 2015
(Tudalennau 58 - 67) 

5.3 Gohebiaeth at y Cadeirydd mewn perthynas â ' r ymchwiliad i ddiogelwch tân 
mewn adeiladau uchel eu cynnydd

(Tudalennau 68 - 71) 
5.4 Gohebiaeth gan Llamau mewn perthynas â'r ymchwiliad i gysgu allan yng 

Nghymru
(Tudalennau 72 - 106) 

6 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y 
cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod ar gyfer y busnes a ganlyn:

 

7 Gwaith dilynol ar gysgu ar y stryd yng Nghymru: - trafod y 
dystiolaeth a ddaeth i law
(12:00-12:20)  



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 1Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 11

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 16

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 24

Eitem 2 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 35

Eitem 4Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



1 

Mae'r papur tystiolaeth hwn yn cynnig yr wybodaeth ddiweddaraf i'r Pwyllgor am y 
camau a gymerwyd ers y sesiwn dystiolaeth ddiwethaf ym mis Mawrth 2019. A 
hynny mewn perthynas â symud agenda Llywodraeth Cymru ymlaen i atal 
digartrefedd, yn enwedig o ran cysgu allan.  

Y Cyd-destun 

Er bod y pwyllgor hwn yn rhoi sylw i gysgu allan, mae'n bwysig cydnabod mai un 
agwedd ar broblem ehangach digartrefedd ydyw, serch mai honno yw'r agwedd 
fwyaf difrifol a gweladwy. Er mwyn sicrhau ein bod yn gweithio mewn ffordd strategol 
a holistaidd ar draws y system gyfan, mae Llywodraeth Cymru'n awyddus i symud i 
ffwrdd rhag rhannu gwahanol agweddau ar ddigartrefedd yn segmentau, ac inni 
sicrhau bod ein polisïau a'n hadnoddau yn mynd i'r afael â digartrefedd yn ei 
gyfanrwydd. 

Fel imi nodi yn fy llythyr i'r Pwyllgor ym mis Mehefin eleni, ein nod yw atal 
digartrefedd, ac os na ellir ei atal, yna rhaid sicrhau ei fod yn brin, yn para am gyfnod 
byr ac nad yw'n digwydd fwy nag unwaith. 

Mae'r Pwyllgor yn ymwybodol i Lywodraeth Cymru gyhoeddi cynllun 10 mlynedd ar 
ddigartrefedd yn 2009 i Gymru, ac mae'r cynllun hwnnw'n dod i ben eleni. Un o 
flaenoriaethau cynllun 2009 oedd rhoi dull ataliol ar waith, a gafodd ei gyflawni, i 
raddau helaeth, drwy gyflwyno Rhan 2 o Ddeddf Tai (Cymru) 2014, a'i rhoi ar waith. 

Mae'r ffaith bod Rhan 2 yn cael ei gweithredu gan awdurdodau lleol ledled Cymru 
wedi gwneud llawer i atal unigolion a theuluoedd rhag mynd yn ddigartref – dros 
23,000 o aelwydydd ers 2015. Fodd bynnag, er bod cyfraddau atal digartrefedd yn 
parhau i fod yn uchel, 68% yn 2018-19, rydym yn cydnabod bod llawer gormod o 
bobl o hyd nad yw digartrefedd wedi'i atal iddynt, ac y maent yn syrthio drwy'r rhwyd. 
Mae hefyd yn bwysig cydnabod bod y galwadau ar y rheini sydd mewn perygl o 
ddigartrefedd yn cynyddu hefyd – roedd dros 10,000 o aelwydydd wedi cael eu 
cyflwyno i awdurdodau lleol yn 2018-19, a nifer fwy hyd yn oed, sef dros11,000 y 
mae dyletswydd ar yr awdurdodau lleol i sicrhau llety iddynt gan eu bod eisoes yn 
ddigartref.  

Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cynyddu'r cyllid yn sylweddol ers i'r ddeddfwriaeth i 
atal a lleihau digartrefedd gael ei chyflwyno. Yn ogystal â chyllid ychwanegol drwy'r 
Grant Cynnal Refeniw, rydym yn darparu dros £20m yn y flwyddyn ariannol hon yn 
unig yn benodol ar gyfer atal a lleihau digartrefedd, gan gynnwys cysgu allan. 

Rydym wedi bod yn bwrw golwg ffres dros ein ffordd o weithio ers gweithredu'r 
Ddeddf, ac yn sgil tystiolaeth a newidiadau ehangach o ran polisïau a'r cyd-destun. 
Mae llawer o waith sylweddol wedi'i wneud a'i ddechrau ers inni gyfarfod yn 
gynharach eleni. Mae'r gwaith hwnnw'n canolbwyntio ar fynd i'r afael â phob math o 
ddigartrefedd, ac mae'n datblygu ar y gwaith da a wnaed yn sgil gweithredu'r 
Ddeddf. Ond rydym yn cydnabod bod angen gwneud mwy ac i wneud pethau mewn 
ffordd wahanol os ydym am gyflawni ein nod o roi terfyn ar ddigartrefedd yn y pen 
draw.  

Dull gweithredu strategol 

Papur 1 - Llywodraeth  Cymru 
Paper 1 - Welsh Government

Tudalen y pecyn 46



2 
 

 
Wrth edrych ar ein dull polisi strategol o'r newydd, mae dull gweithredu Llywodraeth 
Cymru wedi'i seilio ar drafodaethau Grŵp Gorchwyl a Gorffen y Gweinidog ar gyfer 
Digartrefedd, ynghyd â thrafodaethau trawslywodraethol a rhai'r Cabinet. Bydd y 
Gweinidog Tai a Llywodraeth Leol yn gwneud datganiad llafar i'r Cynulliad 
Cenedlaethol ar 8 Hydref yn amlinellu ein dull polisi strategol ar gyfer atal 
digartrefedd a'n nod cyffredinol o wneud digartrefedd yn rhywbeth prin, sy'n para am 
gyfnod byr ac nad yw'n digwydd fwy nag unwaith. Bydd yn nodi'r dull system gyfan 
sydd ei angen ar draws y gwasanaethau cyhoeddus i fynd i'r afael â digartrefedd yn 
ei holl weddau; a bydd atal digartrefedd ac ailgartrefu'n gyflym yn ganolog iddo. Nid 
yw'r Gweinidog yn bwriadu cyhoeddi cynllun strategol hir. Yn lle hynny'n, bydd yn 
amlinellu egwyddorion polisi strategol eglur a fydd yn sail i'r holl bolisïau wrth fwrw 
ymlaen â'r gwaith hwn. Bydd y datganiad hwnnw am ein bwriad strategol yn cael ei 
ategu gan gynlluniau gweithredu blynyddol a fydd yn dangos y cynnydd yn haws, ac 
sy'n caniatáu gallu ymateb yn haws i'r dystiolaeth sy'n dod i'r amlwg, gan gynnwys yr 
arferion gorau a'r newidiadau i'r cyd-destun ehangach yr ydym yn gweithio ynddo.  
 
Mae Llywodraeth Cymru'n rhannu agwedd y Pwyllgor fod cyflawni'r nod o roi terfyn 
ar ddigartrefedd yn fater o frys. Oherwydd hynny roeddem wedi comisiynu grŵp 
gweithredu arbenigol ym mis Gorffennaf eleni i ystyried y camau y mae angen inni 
eu cymryd fel cenedl i greu polisïau newydd i gyflawni'r nod hwnnw.  
 
Fel sydd wedi'i amlinellu yn y datganiad ysgrifenedig i'r Cynulliad ym mis Mehefin 
2019, mae'r Grŵp Gweithredu yn un o grwpiau gorchwyl Llywodraeth Cymru, a fydd 
yn adrodd yn ôl i Weinidogion Cymru. Ond mae'n gweithio mewn ffordd annibynnol i 
ddatblygu argymhellion polisi ar gyfer y camau a'r datrysiadau y mae aelodau 
arbenigol y grŵp yn teimlo y mae eu hangen i ateb y cwestiynau canlynol: 
 
1. Pa fframwaith polisïau, dulliau gweithredu a chynlluniau sydd eu hangen er mwyn 
rhoi terfyn ar ddigartrefedd yng Nghymru? (Beth y mae rhoi terfyn ar ddigartrefedd 
yn ei olygu yn ymarferol?) 

2. Pa gamau y gallwn ni eu cymryd ar unwaith i leihau cysgu allan rhwng nawr a 
gaeaf 2019/20, ac i roi terfyn ar gysgu allan yn gyfan gwbl? 

3. Sut y gallwn ni wneud ailgartrefu cyflym a pharhaol yn ganolog i'r ymgyrch i atal 
digartrefedd a rhoi terfyn arno? 

4. Sut y gallwn ni sicrhau bod partneriaethau a chynlluniau lleol cydlynol yn cael eu 
sefydlu i atal digartrefedd a rhoi terfyn arno ledled Cymru? 

Mae'r Grŵp Gweithredu'n cynnwys arbenigwyr o bob rhan o'r sector cyhoeddus a'r 
trydydd sector, ac fe gaiff ei gadeirio gan Jon Sparkes, Prif Weithredwr Crisis. Am y 
rheswm ein bod yn ystyried bod yr agenda hon yn fater o frys, gofynnwyd i'r grŵp 
weithio'n gyflym iawn dros gyfnod o 9 mis, gan gynhyrchu nifer o adroddiadau yn 
ystod y cyfnod hwnnw. Disgwylir i'r adroddiad cyntaf gael ei gyhoeddi ar ddechrau 
Hydref 2019, a bydd yn canolbwyntio ar gwestiwn 2; y camau sydd eu hangen yn y 
cyfnod byr i fynd i'r afael â chysgu allan dros y gaeaf hwn. Mae'n bosibl y bydd y 
grŵp yn argymell rhai mesurau cyfnod byr y bwriedir iddynt fod yn rhai cyfnod byr 
iawn yn unig, ac felly na fyddai'n fwriad iddynt barhau yn yr hirdymor. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 47



3 
 

Mae gwaith y Grŵp Gweithredu'n hanfodol fel sail i ddull polisi a chamau 
gweithredu'r dyfodol mewn perthynas ag atal digartrefedd. O ran mynd i'r afael â 
chysgu allan y gaeaf hwn, mae un agwedd ar drafodaeth y grŵp wedi bod yn 
ymwneud â gwaith allgymorth pendant. Bydd y Pwyllgor yn ymwybodol bod 
Llywodraeth Cymru wedi comisiynu Cymorth Cymru i ddatblygu canllawiau arferion 
gorau ar waith allgymorth pendant. Er mwyn sicrhau bod gwaith y Grŵp Gweithredu 
yn gyson â'r canllawiau ar allgymorth pendant, mae'r canllawiau wedi'u rhannu â 
Chadeirydd y grŵp. Bydd y canllawiau'n cael eu mireinio ymhellach i sicrhau eu bod 
yn gyson â'r camau a gynigir gan y grŵp, cyn iddynt gael eu cyhoeddi yn Hydref 
2019.  
 
Cynllun Gweithredu ar Gysgu Allan  

 
Nododd Llywodraeth Cymru yn flaenorol ein bwriad i adolygu'r Cynllun Gweithredu 
ar Gysgu Allan fel ei fod yn adlewyrchu sylw'r gweithgarwch yn well a hefyd er mwyn 
sicrhau eglurder o ran amserlenni a phwy sy'n gyfrifol am gamau gweithredu. Caiff 
hynny ei gyflawni drwy waith y Grŵp Gweithredu ar Ddigartrefedd. Bydd adroddiad 
cyntaf y Grŵp, y disgwylir ei gyhoeddi ar ddechrau Hydref, yn canolbwyntio'n 
benodol ar y mesurau sydd eu hangen yn y cyfnod byr i gael effaith uniongyrchol ar 
gysgu allan. Yn y tymor hir, mae Llywodraeth Cymru'n dymuno symud i ffwrdd o 
gynlluniau a dulliau sy'n 'didoli' digartrefedd yn ôl math, oed neu ffactorau 
strwythurol, a chanolbwyntio ar bolisïau clir wedi'u seilio ar dystiolaeth sy'n cynnig 
cynllun unigol ar draws y system gyfan i roi terfyn ar ddigartrefedd.  

Mae dull strategol unigol tebyg hefyd wedi'i adlewyrchu yn y canllawiau newydd ar 
gyfer y Grant Cymorth Tai, yr ydym wedi bod wrthi'n eu datblygu ar y cyd drwy gydol 
y flwyddyn hon gyda rhanddeiliaid ar draws y sector. Fel imi nodi yn y papur 
tystiolaeth blaenorol ym mis Mawrth 2019, mae datblygu'r Grant Cymorth Tai yn 
cynnig cyfle inni sicrhau mwy o gysondeb o ran y Grant Cefnogi Pobl ac Atal 
Digartrefedd a chanllawiau i sicrhau'r defnydd mwyaf effeithiol o adnoddau a 
gwasanaethau cydgysylltiedig. Mae'r gwaith hwn wedi bod yn datblygu'n gyflym yn 
ystod y flwyddyn, a chan gydweithio'n agos â rhanddeiliaid. Byddwn yn cynnal 
ymgynghoriad ar ganllawiau diwygiedig y Grant Cymorth Tai yn Hydref 2019.  
 
Bydd y canllawiau newydd yn amlinellu'r gofyniad am gynllun strategol unigol, sy'n 
cynnwys agweddau statudol ac anstatudol atal digartrefedd. Bydd hynny'n sicrhau 
bod safbwynt strategol unigol yn cael ei arddel mewn ardal awdurdod lleol, gan 
sicrhau mwy o eglurder a thryloywder ar y modd y mae'r cyllid yn cael ei ddefnyddio i 
gyflawni'r strategaeth leol.  
 
Er mwyn cefnogi'r gwaith o ddarparu'r Grant Cymorth Tai a sicrhau bod ysbryd Rhan 
2 o Ddeddf Tai (Cymru) 2014 yn parhau i gael ei gweithredu'n effeithiol, rydym wedi 
edrych o'r newydd ar ein ffordd o weithio mewn perthynas â'r Cod Canllawiau a'r 
deunyddiau ategol ac wedi penderfynu cynnal adolygiad llawer mwy uchelgeisiol ac 
ehangach o'r ddogfen. 
  
Cafodd Cod Canllawiau'r Awdurdodau Lleol ar Ddyrannu Tai a Digartrefedd ei 
ddiweddaru ddiwethaf yn 2016. Ers hynny, nodwyd bod nifer o feysydd y gellid eu 
cryfhau yn y Cod Canllawiau. Bydd ymadawiad y Deyrnas Unedig (DU) o'r Undeb 

Tudalen y pecyn 48



4 
 

Ewropeaidd (UE) hefyd yn cael effaith ar y canllawiau a ddarperir yn y Cod Canllawiau 
mewn perthynas â chymhwystra dinasyddion yr UE wrth ddyrannu tai.  
 
Mae hynny wedi cynnig cyfle i wneud y canlynol:  
 

- Adolygu diben pwrpasol, cynulleidfa a fformat y ddogfen;  
- Defnyddio dull wedi'i seilio ar dystiolaeth i lunio arferion gorau wrth roi'r Cod ar 

waith;  
- Meithrin cysylltiadau â rhanddeiliaid mewnol ac allanol er mwyn cael eu 

cyfraniad gwerthfawr at gynllunio'r ddogfen newydd;  
- Cryfhau bwriad y polisi ar atal digartrefedd;  
- Gwella'r cysondeb wrth weithredu'r Cod ar hyd a lled Cymru;  
- Darparu canllawiau sy'n haws eu defnyddio ar gyfer staff rheng flaen.  

 
Bydd dogfen y Cod Canllawiau newydd yn edrych yn wahanol iawn i'r ddogfen 
bresennol sydd mewn dwy ran. Mae gwaith eisoes ar y gweill i ailddatblygu'r Cod 
Canllawiau presennol fel ei bod yn ddogfen newydd, hawdd ei defnyddio, yn fwy 
seiliedig ar bolisïau, ac mewn pedair rhan: 
 
Rhan 1 – Polisi a chyfeiriad  
Rhan 2 – Y ddyletswydd statudol  
Rhan 3 – Darparu gwasanaeth o safon uchel 
Rhan 4 – Mesur effeithiolrwydd  
 
Bydd y Cod Canllawiau newydd yn amlinellu polisi Llywodraeth Cymru a'r safbwynt 
cyfreithiol yn glir ac yn blwmp ac yn blaen. Bydd hefyd yn cynnig canllawiau ymarferol 
i gefnogi staff rheng flaen wrth ddarparu gwasanaeth o safon i unigolion ledled Cymru; 
a'u cefnogi i gael y cymorth iawn cyn gynted ag y bo modd. Bydd y Cod Canllawiau 
newydd yn ceisio dwyn ynghyd agweddau statudol ac anstatudol yr agenda, wedi'u 
seilio ar set o egwyddorion ymarferol a rennir, a ffordd fwy cyson o weithio'n 
gydweithredol sy'n seiliedig ar bartneriaethau.  
 
Ers y sesiwn dystiolaeth ddiwethaf ym mis Mawrth 2019, mae swyddogion wedi 
dechrau gweithio gyda rhanddeiliaid, gan gasglu tystiolaeth am 'yr hyn sy'n gweithio' 
a chael barn am yr hyn sydd angen ei newid ac enghreifftiau o arferion da. Sefydlwyd 
gweithgor bach allanol sy'n cynnwys cynrychiolwyr o Shelter Cymru, Cymdeithas 
Llywodraeth Leol Cymru, Rhwydweithiau Tai Awdurdodau Llol, Cymorth Cymru, Tai 
Pawb a Cartrefi Cymunedol Cymru.  
 
Gan ein bod ni bellach yn cynnal adolygiad gwraidd a brig o'r Cod Canllawiau, mae 

amserlen yr ymgynghoriad wedi symud i fis Mawrth 2020, er mwyn gallu cynnal y darn 

o waith sylweddol hwn. Mae'r gwaith hwn hefyd yn cynnwys adolygiad o arferion 

gorau, er mwyn sicrhau bod canllawiau'n cynnig cymorth ymarferol i weithwyr rheng 

flaen ac nad ydynt yn pwysleisio'r Cod Canllawiau yn unig. Mae canllawiau ar 

gysylltiadau lleol a llety interim, a oedd i fod cael eu cyhoeddi ym mis Gorffennaf eleni, 

bellach wedi'u gohirio i sicrhau eu bod yn gyson â'r ffordd newydd hon o weithio. Yn y 

cyfamser, mae swyddogion wedi ysgrifennu at bob awdurdod lleol i bwysleisio'r 

disgwyliadau sydd wedi'u pennu yn y Cod Canllawiau mewn perthynas â'r elfennau 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



5 
 

hynny o'r ddeddfwriaeth, gan gefnogi'r hyfforddiant gloywi a gynhaliwyd ddiwedd y 

llynedd.  

 

Dechreuwyd adolygu angen blaenoriaethol ym mis Mehefin 2019, ac mae'r gwaith ar 
y trywydd iawn i gyflawni adroddiad terfynol ar ddechrau'r flwyddyn nesaf. Fel y 
nodwyd yn y llythyr i'r Pwyllgor ym mis Mehefin 2019, dyfarnwyd y contract ar gyfer 
yr adolygiad i Brifysgol Caerdydd yn dilyn proses caffael agored. Mae ei gwaith 
ymchwil wedi cynnwys meithrin cysylltiadau ag amrywiaeth o randdeiliaid ym mhob 
rhan o Gymru. Bydd yr adroddiad yn cynnig asesiad annibynnol o oblygiadau 
gwneud newidiadau i angen blaenoriaethol. Mae'n hanfodol ein bod yn deall y 
canlyniadau bwriadol ac anfwriadol, cyn pennu a oes angen gwneud newidiadau.  
 
Mewn perthynas â data, mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi derbyn adroddiad drafft yn 
ddiweddar sy'n edrych ar ddichonoldeb data'r unigolyn a'r defnydd o'r data hynny 
mewn perthynas â digartrefedd statudol – disgwylir i'r adroddiad terfynol gael ei 
gyhoeddi cyn hir. Bydd yr adroddiad hwnnw'n helpu i fod yn sail i drafodaethau 
ehangach ar sut i wella data ar ddigartrefedd, boed yn statudol neu yn anstatudol, er 
mwyn llywio gwaith datblygu polisïau a darparu gwasanaethau.  
 
Fel rhan o hynny, rydym yn parhau i gefnogi peilot Wallich o'r Rhwydwaith 
Gwybodaeth Digartref ar y Stryd (SHIN), sydd eisoes ar y gweill a chaiff ei 
werthuso'n hwyrach yn y flwyddyn. Fel y nodwyd yn flaenorol, o ystyried bod data 
personol sensitif yn cael eu cynnwys, mae'n hanfodol ein bod ni'n cael hyn yn iawn 
ac yn rhoi'r trefniadau cyfreithiol a llywodraethu ar waith ar gyfer y prosiect hwn os 
ydym am sicrhau ei fod yn cael ei gyflwyno mewn modd llwyddiannus ar draws 
Cymru.  

Rydym hefyd yn parhau i gydweithio â'r Ganolfan ar gyfer Effaith Digartrefedd, a'r 
gwaith y maent yn ei wneud i wella sylfaen y dystiolaeth ar yr hyn sy'n gweithio 
mewn perthynas ag atal digartrefedd.  
 
Datblygiadau Ehangach  

 
Mae digartrefedd yn broblem i'r gwasanaethau cyhoeddus, ac rydym yn gweithio ar 
draws y Llywodraeth i fwrw ymlaen â chamau i fynd i'r afael â'r hyn sydd wrth wraidd 
iddo. Yn y bôn, mae digartrefedd yn cael ei achosi gan dlodi neu ddiffyg incwm 
sefydlog a digonol. Nid ydym o reidrwydd yn gallu ysgogi newid mewn perthynas â 
rhai o'r ffactorau economaidd sy'n cael effaith, fel diwygio lles. Fodd bynnag, mae 
gennym y gallu i ganolbwyntio ein hymdrechion a'n hadnoddau ar fynd i'r afael â 
phrinder tai fforddiadwy ac addas, gan sicrhau bod pobl yn gallu cael y cymorth sydd 
ei angen arnynt, a chan sicrhau bod ein gwasanaethau yn canolbwyntio ar yr 
unigolyn ac yn seiliedig ar gydberthynas. Rydym yn gweithio i sicrhau ein bod yn 
canolbwyntio ar fynd i'r afael â'r hyn sydd wrth wraidd digartrefedd; ar atebion 
hirdymor sy'n rhoi aelwydydd yn y cartrefi iawn, gan gynnwys y cymorth iawn i 
sicrhau eu bod yn llwyddo. Ond, gwyddom na all hynny amharu ar roi cymorth i'r 
rheini sydd mewn argyfwng neu'n agos at fod mewn argyfwng ar hyn o bryd. 
 
Ar 9 Gorffennaf, ymatebodd Llywodraeth Cymru i'r adroddiad ar yr Adolygiad o 
Gyflenwad Tai Fforddiadwy Annibynnol. Derbyniwyd neu dderbyniwyd mewn 
egwyddor, pob argymhelliad, ac eithrio mewn perthynas â dyfodol Cymorth i Brynu. 

Tudalen y pecyn 50



6 
 

Mae argymhellion yr adolygiad yn cynnig cyfle inni adlewyrchu ar agweddau gorau 
ein polisïau ac ymarferion presennol ac ar y meysydd hynny lle y gall ac y dylai 
newidiadau gael eu gwneud i sicrhau ein bod yn cael y gwerth gorau am arian o'n 
buddsoddiad mewn tai, ac yn sicrhau ein bod yn cefnogi llawer mwy o bobl yng 
Nghymru i gael y cartref fforddiadwy sydd ei angen arnynt.  
 
Gwyddom fod heriau parhaus wrth geisio darparu'r nifer o gartrefi sydd ei hangen i 
ddiwallu'r angen presennol ac yn y dyfodol. Ond, rydym yn cymryd camau allweddol 
yma yng Nghymru i ddarparu cartrefi ar gyfer y farchnad agored a chartrefi 
fforddiadwy. Darparu tai cymdeithasol yw ein prif flaenoriaeth, ac rydym wedi 
ymrwymo i adeiladu'r rheini ar y raddfa a'r cyflymdra iawn. Gall tai cymdeithasol nid 
yn unig ddarparu cartrefi o ansawdd da, ond maent hefyd yn sicrhau'r cymorth sydd 
ei angen er mwyn i bobl allu cynnal eu tenantiaethau a ffynnu.  
 
Mae'r Sector Rhentu Preifat hefyd yn ffactor bwysig wrth sicrhau bod cyflenwad tai 
digonol. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cydweithio'n agos â rhanddeiliaid allanol i 
ddatblygu cynllun a fydd yn sicrhau bod eiddo yn y sector rhentu preifat ar gael, drwy 
Awdurdodau Lleol, i'r rheini sy'n ei chael hi'n anodd i ddod o hyd i dai fforddiadwy. 
Mae'r cynllun yn anelu at sicrhau bod tai o ansawdd da yn y sector rhentu preifat ar 
gael am renti fforddiadwy, gan gynnwys y fantais o gymorth i denantiaid gan 
landlordiaid cymdeithasol. Yn y lle cyntaf, rydym yn bwriadu lansio rhaglen fraenaru 
cyn hir i ddarparu tystiolaeth gadarn er mwyn cyflwyno'r cynllun yn genedlaethol. 
 
I sicrhau diogelwch deiliadaethau yn y sectorau preifat a rhentu cymdeithasol, rydym 
wedi ymgynghori'n ddiweddar ar gynigion i ehangu'r cyfnod hysbysu byrraf a ganiateir 
o dan adran 173 o Ddeddf Rhentu Cartrefi (Cymru) 2016 drwy ddiwygio'r Ddeddf 
honno cyn iddi gael ei gweithredu. 

Mae'r ymgynghoriad yn cynnig treblu'r cyfnod hysbysu y mae'n rhaid i landlord ei roi 
pan fydd yn ceisio rhoi terfyn ar feddiannaeth safonol os bydd tor contract, sef o ddau 
fis i chwe mis. Byddai hynny'n berthnasol yn yr achosion hynny lle nad oes rhaid i 
landlord roi rheswm dros derfynu'r contract. Yn ogystal, roedd yr ymgynghoriad wedi 
cynnig cyfyngu'r mater o roi hysbysiad o'r fath tan chwe mis ar ôl y dyddiad meddiannu 
a nodwyd yn y contract. Ar hyn o bryd, pedwar mis yw'r hyn a nodir yn y Ddeddf. 

At ei gilydd, effaith y ddau gynnig allweddol hynny fyddai bod deiliaid contractau yn 
mwynhau 12 mis, yn lle chwe mis o ddiogelwch deiliadaeth yn y lle cyntaf, os nad 
ydynt yn torri telerau eu contract. 

Rhyw dros 10,000 aelwydydd sy'n cael eu hystyried i fod mewn perygl o ddigartrefedd 
ac yn ceisio cael cymorth o dan Ddeddf Tai (Cymru) 20141. Maent yn nodi mai colli 
llety rhent yw'r prif rheswm am wneud hynny2. O ganlyniad i hynny, bernir y bydd y 
newid hwn yn gwneud cyfraniad pwysig at atal digartrefedd. Y rheswm am hynny yw 
y bydd gan awdurdodau lleol a'u partneriaid darparu fwy o amser i asesu a chynnig 
cymorth a allai fod angen ei roi i ddod o hyd i lety arall i unigolyn neu i weithio gyda'r 
landlord i weld beth y gellir ei wneud i gadw'r denantiaeth.  

                                                             
1 https://llyw.cymru/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-07/digartrefedd-ebrill-2018-i-mawrth-
2019-246.pdf 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 51



7 
 

Cafodd y cynigion hyn eu hamlinellu mewn Datganiad Llafar ar 17 Medi ac mewn llythyr 
dilynol i bob Aelod o'r Cynulliad, yn nodi rhinweddau'r ffordd hon o weithio a manteision 
rhoi'r Ddeddf Rhentu Cartref ar waith cyn diwedd Tymor y Cynulliad.  

Ar draws y Llywodraeth  

Yn ehangach ar draws Llywodraeth Cymru, fel rhan o weithgarwch ymyrryd yn 
gynnar a dulliau ataliol, rydym wedi bod yn cydweithio'n agos â chyfarwyddiaeth y 
gwasanaethau cymdeithasol, gan ein bod yn gwybod bod nifer uchel anghymesur o 
bobl ifanc sy'n gadael y system gofal yn diweddu i fod yn ddigartref. Rydym wedi 
sefydlu cyd-grŵp tai a gwasanaethau cymdeithasol, sy'n cynnwys rhanddeiliaid o'r 
ddau sector ac sydd â'r dasg o wella'r llwybr o'r system gofal i fyw'n annibynnol. 
Bydd y grŵp yn nodi'r cymorth ychwanegol a/neu'r ddarpariaeth a allai fod angen er 
mwyn sicrhau'r llwybrau gwell a'r dewis o lety sydd eu hangen ar blant sy'n derbyn 
gofal a phobl ifanc sy'n gadael gofal. 
 
Mae cyllid ychwanegol eleni wedi galluogi bod gwaith drwy'r Grant Cymorth 
Ieuenctid yn cefnogi gweithgarwch ymyrryd yn gynnar a dulliau ataliol drwy 
wasanaethau addysg ac ieuenctid. Mae hynny hefyd yn cysylltu â'r cyllid ychwanegol 
ym maes gwaith ieuenctid ar gyfer iechyd meddwl a llesiant o dan y Grant Cymorth 
Ieuenctid, a'r cyllid ychwanegol sy'n cefnogi ffordd o ymdrin a llesiant ar lefel yr ysgol 
gyfan – mae’r rhain i gyd yn anelu at gefnogi pobl ifanc i arwain bywydau iach a 
llewyrchus ac maent yn cefnogi ffordd o weithio at atal digartrefedd ar draws y 
system gyfan.  
 
Rydym hefyd yn cydnabod y berthynas gymhleth rhwng anghenion camddefnyddio 
sylweddau, iechyd meddwl a thai. I gefnogi ein ffordd o weithio ar draws y 
Llywodraeth, rydym wedi cytuno ar gamau yr ydym yn eu rhannu yng Nghynllun 
Cyflawni Camddefnyddio Sylweddau 2019 i 2022, a Chynllun Cyflawni Law yn Llaw 
at Iechyd Meddwl 2019 i 2022 - mae'r ddau gynllun wedi bod yn destun 
ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus yn ystod yr haf. Mae'r ddau gynllun yn nodi camau sy'n 
rhoi blaenoriaeth i dai a'r angen i gefnogi unigolion sydd ag anghenion cymhleth 
a/neu sy'n cyd-ddigwydd. Yn ychwanegol, mae cyllid penodol ar gael yn 2019-20 a 
2020-2021 i gefnogi'r flaenoriaeth hon. Yn arbennig, o ran datblygu'r cymorth 
ymhellach ar gyfer Tai yn Gyntaf, ac rydym yn gweithio ar draws Llywodraeth Cymru 
i ddatblygu'r cynlluniau cyflawni terfynol ymhellach.  
  

Fel y trafodwyd yn y sesiwn dystiolaeth ddiwethaf ym mis Mawrth 2019, blaenoriaeth 
allweddol i Lywodraeth Cymru fynd i'r afael â chysgu allan yw sicrhau proses bontio 
effeithiol o'r carchar yn ôl i'r gymuned. Mae gennym amcan clir i sicrhau nad oes 
unrhyw un yn cael ei ryddhau o fannau diogel yn mynd i fod yn ddigartref. Arwydd 
clir o ymrwymiad Llywodraeth Cymru a Gwasanaeth Carchardai a Phrawf Ei 
Mawrhydi (HMPPS) o ran bwrw ymlaen â'r gwaith hwn ar y cyd, yw'r ffaith bod 
gennym bellach secondai o HMPPS yn gweithio i'r Tîm Atal Digartrefedd. Rydym 
wedi datblygu fframwaith strategol a chynllun gweithredu cysylltiedig ar y cyd, sy'n 
amlinellu'r ffordd strategol a chydweithredol o weithio yr ydym yn ei dilyn i fynd i'r 
afael â digartrefedd a'i atal ar gyfer pob troseddwr yng Nghymru.  

Mae bwrdd newydd wedi'i sefydlu a fydd yn goruchwylio'r rhaglen, ac uwch 
swyddogion yn Llywodraeth Cymru ac yn HMPPS sy'n gyfrifol ar y cyd am y rhaglen 
ac am ei chyflawni. Mae'r prif feysydd gwaith sydd ar y gweill yn cynnwys bwrw 

Tudalen y pecyn 52

http://record.assembly.wales/Plenary/5842#C219012


8 
 

ymlaen ag argymhellion Adroddiad Glyndwr a dechrau adolygiad o brosesau'r llwybr 
presennol, a gwaith i oresgyn y rhwystrau sy'n atal ei weithredu'n llwyddiannus. Yn 
ogystal, mae gwaith yn cael ei wneud ar y cyd â rhanddeiliaid i wella arferion a 
chanlyniadau ailsefydlu ar gyfer troseddwyr sy'n cael eu rhyddhau o Garchar Ei 
Mawrhydi Brynbuga. Rydym wedi darparu cyllid ychwanegol ar gyfer prosiect Tai yn 
Gyntaf, sy'n cael ei arwain gan Gyngor Caerdydd ac sy'n ymwneud ag amrywiaeth o 
bartneriaid sy'n targedu'r rheini sy'n gadael Carchar Ei Mawrhydi Caerdydd. Bydd 
hynny'n ariannu unigolyn o'r Tîm Dewisiadau Tai i allu gweithio yn y carchar, er 
mwyn nodi a chynnig cymorth o ran tai i unigolion cyn iddynt gael eu rhyddhau. Mae 
ein cyllid Tai yn Gyntaf hefyd wedi galluogi cynnal prosiect yn Rhondda Cynon Taf, 
sy'n targedu'r rheini sy'n gadael Carchar Ei Mawrhydi Caerdydd a Charchar Ei 
Mawrhydi Eastwood Park, ac mae'r cohort cychwynnol wedi'i nodi. 

Ailgartrefu'n gyflym – Tai yn Gyntaf  
 

Er ein bod wedi gwneud camau breision wrth sefydlu Tai yn Gyntaf ym mhob rhan o 
Gymru, rydym yn glir mai'r unig ffordd y gall fod yn wirioneddol effeithiol yw fel rhan o 
ffordd o weithio ehangach sy'n ymwneud ag ailgartrefu'n gyflym. Mae hynny'n gofyn 
am newid o ran polisïau a'r gwasanaethau a ddarperir dros amser gan symud 
adnoddau a sylw rhaglenni o'r cysyniad o ymyrryd mewn argyfwng i ymyrryd yn 
gynnar ac ailgartrefu'n gyflym. Bydd y Grŵp Gweithredu ar Ddigartrefedd yn cynnig 
cyngor ar sut y gallem wneud y newid hwnnw. Bwriedir i Tai yn Gyntaf fod ar gael i 
unigolion sydd â'r anghenion mwyaf cymhleth, ac mae'r dystiolaeth yn dangos ei bod 
yn hanfodol peidio â rhuthro ei roi ar waith. Daw canlyniadau llwyddiannus yn sgil 
cymryd yr amser i gydweithio ag unigolion a sicrhau bod y cymorth a'r dewis llety 
iawn ar gael i ddiwallu eu hanghenion. Trwy ein rhaglen Tai yn Gyntaf, rydym yn 
buddsoddi bron £1.6m eleni yn unig mewn prosiectau sy'n cael eu gweithredu ledled 
Cymru. Bydd hynny'n helpu dros 100 o bobl sydd â hanes o gysgu allan i ddod o hyd 
i lety sefydlog a'i gadw. 
 
Ar hyn o bryd, mae saith o ardaloedd Awdurdodau Lleol yn cael eu cynnwys yn y 
rhaglen (Ynys Môn, Caerdydd, Conwy a Sir Ddinbych, Merthyr Tudful, Casnewydd a 
Rhondda Cynon Taf), gan gynnwys y prosiect arbennig sydd ar waith yng 
Nghaerdydd ar gyfer dynion sy'n gadael Carchar Ei Mawrhydi Caerdydd a menywod 
sy'n gadael Carchar Ei Mawrhydi Eastwood Park.  
 
O ran y sefyllfa ar 30 Medi 2019, mae 27 o bobl mewn llety, tra bo 45 o bobl 
ychwanegol yn cael eu cefnogi gan brosiectau a nifer yn aros am gael llety priodol 
wedi'i neilltuo iddynt. 
 
Yn ychwanegol at y prosiectau hyn, mae awdurdodau lleol Blaenau Gwent, Pen-y-
bont ar Ogwr, Ceredigion, Sir y Fflint, Gwynedd ac Abertawe hefyd yn cyflawni 
prosiectau sy'n defnyddio cymysgedd o'u cyllid ei hunain a chyllid tai Llywodraeth 
Cymru. At ei gilydd mae Tai yn Gyntaf yn cael ei gyflwyno mewn 13 o awdurdodau 
lleol ledled Cymru. 
 
O ganlyniad i'r diddordeb cynyddol yn rhaglen Tai yn Gyntaf, roedd Cymorth Cymru 
wedi sefydlu Rhwydwaith Tai yn Gyntaf yn 2017, sy'n cael ei gadeirio gan Crisis, i 
helpu i gyfrannu at ddatblygu polisi Tai yn Gyntaf yng Nghymru. Mae Cadeirydd y 
Rhwydwaith yn rhan o Grŵp Gorchwyl a Gorffen y Gweinidog ar gyfer Digartrefedd, 

Tudalen y pecyn 53



9 
 

er mwyn sicrhau bod gwaith y Rhwydwaith yn cael ei oruchwylio gan y Grŵp 
Gorchwyl a Gorffen, ac mae Crisis a Cymorth Cymru yn cael eu cynrychioli yn y 
Grŵp Gweithredu ar Ddigartrefedd.  
 
Gan nad oes model parod penodol o raglen Tai yn Gyntaf, mae ystod eang o 
ddehongliadau posibl yn cael eu defnyddio. Er mwyn hyrwyddo bod yn gyson â'r 
model, roedd y Rhwydwaith, ochr yn ochr â Llywodraeth Cymru wedi datblygu rhestr 
wirio cofrestru deg pwynt sy'n hunanasesiad, ac sy'n llunio rhan o broses ymgeisio 
Tai yn Gyntaf Llywodraeth Cymru. Mae'r ffurflen gofrestru'n cynnwys y prif 
egwyddorion a hefyd yn cynnwys templed sgorio i asesu pa mor gyson y mae'r 
prosiect â model Tai yn Gyntaf. Gan adeiladu ar y broses gofrestru, ac o ganlyniad i 
gyllid a ddarparwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer rôl newydd cydgysylltydd Tai yn 
Gyntaf yn Cymorth Cymru, mae safon ansawdd yn cael ei datblygu er mwyn asesu 
cysondeb prosiectau ag egwyddorion Tai yn Gyntaf yng Nghymru. 

 
Mae manyleb wedi'i drafftio ar gyfer gwerthusiad annibynnol o Tai yn Gyntaf yng 
Nghymru. Bydd y gwerthusiad yn cynnwys prosiectau a ariennir gan Lywodraeth 
Cymru, gan gynnwys y prosiectau cynnar a arweinir gan y maes tai, a'r rheini sy'n 
cael eu datblygu'n annibynnol. Bydd yn canolbwyntio ar bennu'r gwelliannau a 
wnaed i lety cleient, ac iechyd a llesiant, gan gynnwys yr effaith mewn perthynas â 
galwadau ar wasanaethau eraill. Mae'r amserlen bresennol yn amcangyfrif y bydd y 
prosiect yn cychwyn ar ddechrau 2020, ac yn gweithredu am y cyfnod y bydd cyllid 
Llywodraeth Cymru ar gael ar gyfer y prif raglen. 
 
O ganlyniad i gronfa arloesi pobl ifanc ddiweddar Llywodraeth Cymru, mae set 
ychwanegol o brosiectau Tai yn Gyntaf i Bobl Ifanc wedi'u hariannu hefyd i'w 
gweithredu ym Mhen-y-bont ar Ogwr, Ceredigion, Sir y Fflint, Merthyr Tudful, Powys, 
Rhondda Cynon Taf ac Abertawe. 
 
Mae'r Rhwydwaith wedi sefydlu is-grŵp, ac er ei fod yn fodel gwahanol iawn i Tai yn 
Gyntaf, bydd yr is-grŵp yn cefnogi datblygu'r ffordd o weithio, gan sicrhau hefyd fod 
gwahaniaeth pendant rhwng Tai yn Gyntaf a Tai yn Gyntaf i Bobl Ifanc. 
 
Ar y cyfan, rwy o'r farn nad ydym yn osgoi'r gwir am sefyllfa digartrefedd yng 
Nghymru. Rydym yn gwneud cynnydd sylweddol, ac yn bwysicach rydym yn meddwl 
yn holistaidd ac yn strategol am y ffordd yr ydym nid yn unig yn mynd i'r afael â 
chysgu allan, ond sut y gallwn fynd i'r afael â digartrefedd yn ei holl weddau hefyd. 
Rwy'n cydnabod yr angen i wneud pethau'n wahanol, a bydd penderfyniadau anodd 
i'w gwneud a ffyrdd newydd a dewr o fynd ati i fanteisio arnynt, ac rwy'n hynod falch 
bod y sector a'r rheini sydd â phrofiad byw ar y blaen ac yn ganolog i'n helpu ni i ail-
lunio ein polisi a'n hymarfer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 54



10 
 

 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 55



Y Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau

17 Hydref2019 – clawr y papurau i’w nodi

Rhif y papur Mater Oddi wrth Gweithredu
ELGC(5)-28-19
Papur 2 

Ymchwiliad i Gynllun y 
Bathodyn Glas yng Nghymru: 
Cymhwystra a Gweithredu

John Griffiths I'w nodi

ELGC(5)-28-19
Papur 3

Deddf Trais yn erbyn 
Menywod, Cam-drin 
Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol 
(Cymru) 2015

 Y Dirprwy 
Weinidog a’r 
Prif Chwip

I'w nodi

ELGC(5)-28-19
Papur 4

Ymchwiliad i ddiogelwch tân 
mewn adeiladau uchel iawn

Ddienw I'w nodi

ELGC(5)-28-19
Papur 5

Ymchwiliad i gysgu ar y stryd 
yng Nghymru

Llamau Derbyniwyd 
papur ar 14 
Hydref 2019

Tudalen y pecyn 55

Eitem 5



4 Hydref 2019 

Annwyl Ken, 

Diolch am ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru i adroddiad y Pwyllgor ar system y 
Bathodyn Glas yng Nghymru, a'r fersiwn a gafwyd wedi hynny o’r ymateb wedi'i 
ddiweddaru. Trafododd yr aelodau’r ymateb yn ein cyfarfod ar 3 Hydref, a 
chytunwyd y dylwn ysgrifennu atoch cyn y ddadl yn y Cyfarfod Llawn, sydd wedi’i 
drefnu ar gyfer 16 Hydref. 

Roedd yr aelodau'n siomedig y gwrthododd Llywodraeth Cymru nifer o'n 
hargymhellion yn llwyr. Rydym yn cydnabod bod tri o'r argymhellion a 
wrthodwyd yn wreiddiol wedi'u derbyn mewn egwyddor yn yr ymateb wedi'i 
ddiweddaru, ond mae chwe argymhelliad wedi’u gwrthod o hyd. Roeddem ein 
synnu oherwydd ei bod yn ymddangos, yn ystod y sesiwn dystiolaeth lafar ar 1 
Mai, eich bod yn awgrymu y byddech yn agored i ystyried rhai o'r materion hyn. 

Mae argymhelliad 4 yn ymwneud ag ystyried opsiynau ar gyfer cyflwyno cynllun 
parcio rhatach ar wahân i bobl y mae arnynt angen mynediad cyflym i 
amwynderau, ond nad ydynt yn deilwng i gael bathodyn glas drwy eu rhinwedd 
eu hunain. Gwnaethom drafod â chi opsiynau posibl ar gyfer galluogi pobl, fel 
gofalwyr, i gael mynediad o'r fath a gwnaethoch ddweud wrthym y byddai’n well 
gennych edrych ar broses gyfochrog ar gyfer cynllun parcio cadarnhaol a fyddai i 
fwy o bobl. Sylwaf fod yr ymateb yn cyfeirio at yr angen am sylfaen dystiolaeth 
gadarn ac, er ein bod yn cydnabod hyn, hanfod yr argymhelliad hwn yw y dylai 
Llywodraeth Cymru ystyried opsiynau ar gyfer cyflwyno cynllun. Felly, rydym yn 
siomedig na allech dderbyn yr egwyddor y tu ôl i'r argymhelliad hwn a byddem 
yn ddiolchgar pe gallech ailystyried hyn.  

Mae argymhellion 9 a 10 yn cyfeirio at ddiwygio Deddf Cleifion Cronig a 
Phersonau Anabl 1970. Wrth wrthod y rhain, mae’r ymateb yn dweud nad oes 
capasiti yn y rhaglen ddeddfwriaethol ar gyfer y tymor Cynulliad hwn. Fodd 
bynnag, nid yw'n nodi a fyddai Llywodraeth Cymru, pe câi amser, yn cefnogi 

Ken Skates AC 
Gweinidog yr Economi a Thrafnidiaeth 
Llywodraeth Cymru  

Paper 2 - Welsh Government 
Papur 2 - Llythyr at y Llywydd

Tudalen y pecyn 56

Eitem 5.1



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

egwyddor y rhain. A allwch egluro a ydych yn derbyn egwyddor yr argymhellion 
hyn?  

Mae Argymhelliad 11 hefyd yn ymwneud â diwygio Deddf Cleifion Cronig a 
Phersonau Anabl 1970, yn yr achos hwn yn benodol ynghylch cyhoeddi 
canllawiau statudol. Mae'r ymateb i'r argymhelliad hwn yn dangos diffyg 
cysylltiad â’r dystiolaeth a gawsom gennych. Mae’r ymateb yn dweud nad yw 
Llywodraeth Cymru “o'r farn bod angen pŵer i gyhoeddi canllawiau statudol 
mewn cysylltiad â chynllun y Bathodyn Glas”, ond, mewn tystiolaeth i ni, 
gwnaethoch gyfaddef y byddai’n fwy dymunol cael canllawiau statudol ar waith. 
Byddwch yn cofio bod anghysondebau wrth weithredu'r cynllun yn un o'r prif 
bryderon a fynegwyd gan randdeiliaid ac, yn ystod eich tystiolaeth, gwnaethoch 
ddweud wrthym mai eich blaenoriaeth gyntaf oedd sicrhau bod y cynllun yn cael 
ei weithredu'n gyson ar draws Cymru. Felly, rydym yn synnu ac yn siomedig y 
gwrthodwyd yr argymhelliad hwn. 

Roedd y Pwyllgor o'r farn y byddai'n ddefnyddiol i mi ysgrifennu atoch i amlinellu 
ein pryderon. Byddwn yn ddiolchgar pe gallech roi eglurhad ar y materion hyn ac 
ymateb erbyn 15 Hydref i'n galluogi i ystyried hyn ymhellach cyn y ddadl. 

Edrychaf ymlaen at glywed gennych. 

Yn gywir 

 

John Griffiths AC 

Cadeirydd 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu yn Saesneg. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



Ein cyf / Our ref: MA-P-JH-3184-19 

John Griffiths AC 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb, Llywodraeth Leol a Chymunedau 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1NA 

  10 Hydref 2019 

Annwyl John, 

Yn eich llythyr dyddiedig 18 Rhagfyr 2018, gofynnoch imi anfon diweddariadau rheolaidd 
bob tri mis gan y Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol, er mwyn ichi gael sicrwydd o gyflymder 
gweithredu Deddf Trais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol 2015. 

Rwy'n falch iawn i amgáu'r trydydd diweddariad gan y Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol sy'n 
ymdrin â'r cyfnod o fis Gorffennaf i fis Medi 2019. 

Jane Hutt AC/AM 
Y Dirprwy Weinidog a’r Prif Chwip 
Deputy Minister and Chief Whip 

Papur 3 - Cynghorydd Cenedlaethol 
Paper 3 - National Adviser 

Tudalen y pecyn 58

Eitem 5.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Jane.Hutt@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Jane.Hutt@gov.wales


Adroddiad y Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol i Bwyllgor Cymunedau, Cydraddoldeb a 

Llywodraeth Leol - diweddariad Medi 2019 

 

1. Diben 

Yn ei llythyr dyddiedig 18 Rhagfyr 2018 i'r Dirprwy Weinidog a’r Prif Chwip, gofynnodd 

John Griffiths AC, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cymunedau, Cydraddoldeb a Llywodraeth 

Leol imi anfon diweddariadau rheolaidd gan y Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol, er mwyn rhoi 

sicrwydd o gyflymder gweithredu Deddf Trais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig 

a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 2015. 

Dyma'r trydydd diweddariad gan y Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol sy'n ymwneud â'r cyfnod 

o fis Gorffennaf 2019 i fis Medi 2019 (yn gynhwysol). 

Mae'r is-benawdau isod, “Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol” a “Swyddogion VAWDASV 

Llywodraeth Cymru,” yn dangos perchenogaeth o'r camau gweithredu sydd ym mhob 

adran. 

 

2. Cyflwyniad 

Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 
Mae'r Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol yn cydnabod bod hwn yn faes gwaith trawsbynciol 
sy'n gofyn am ymrwymiad ar draws adrannau Llywodraeth Cymru, awdurdodau lleol, 
y sector cyhoeddus, sefydliadau Llywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig, y trydydd sector a 
phartneriaid perthnasol eraill  
 
Rydym wedi cwblhau aelodaeth a chylch gorchwyl drafft y Grŵp Rhanddeiliaid 
Arbenigol ar Drais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol 
(VAWDASV) a gyfarfu am y tro cyntaf yn ystod y chwarter hwn. 
 
Rydym wedi cael cyfarfod ffurfiol â'r pedwar Cyfarwyddwr Cyffredinol yn Llywodraeth 
Cymru ac maent wedi cytuno i gael trafodaeth unigol neu ar lefel cyfarwyddwyr wrth 
wneud penderfyniad ar y cyd gyda'r Grŵp Rhanddeiliaid Arbenigol. Maent hefyd wedi 
cytuno i gael cyfarfod pellach â ni, bob hanner blwyddyn, er mwyn sicrhau bod 
VAWDASV yn parhau i fod yn flaenoriaeth ar draws y llywodraeth. 
 

 
3. Dangosyddion cenedlaethol  

 
Swyddogion VAWDASV Llywodraeth Cymru: 
 
 

Fel y cynigwyd yn y diweddariad Ebrill-Mehefin a roddwyd gerbron y pwyllgor, mae'r 
Gweithgor Dangosyddion Cenedlaethol bellach wedi cael ei sefydlu, ac ar hyn o bryd, 
mae'n adolygu'r Dangosyddion VAWDASV Cenedlaethol, y mesurau a'r ffynonellau 
data arfaethedig, gyda'r nod o gytuno ar newidiadau erbyn haf 2020. Cyfarfu'r grŵp 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



am y tro cyntaf ar 12 Medi 2019 a bydd yn parhau i gyfarfod yn fisol hyd nes y bydd y 
dangosyddion wedi eu datblygu yn llawn. 
 
Mae'r grŵp yn edrych ar ddefnydd data agored i oresgyn problemau y tynnwyd sylw 
atynt yn ystod y camau ymgynghori ynghylch y ffaith bod diffyg data cyson ar gael 
drwy Gymru.  
 
 
Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 
 
Yn y chwarter hwn, yn dilyn cyhoeddi'r Dangosyddion Cenedlaethol drafft ar gyfer 
VAWDASV, mae'r Llywodraeth wedi trefnu nifer o ddigwyddiadau ymgynghori yr ydym 
yn eu cadeirio yn ystod yr hydref. 
 
 

4. Strategaethau Lleol  

 
Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 
Cyhoeddwyd yr adroddiadau cynnydd ar y strategaethau lleol yn yr haf. Rydym yn 
bwriadu ystyried yr ymatebion gyda'r nod o bennu arfer gorau yn y maes hwn. 
Cyfarfuom â'r Gymdeithas Genedlaethol er Atal Creulondeb i Blant, Plant yng 
Nghymru a Cymorth i Ferched Cymru i drafod eu diffyg ffocws ymddangosiedig ar 
blant a phobl ifanc o fewn y strategaethau hyn. Byddwn yn ymchwilio i'r pryderon hyn 
o fewn y chwarter nesaf gyda'r golwg ar nodi unrhyw welliannau ac adrodd arnynt i 
brif swyddogion gweithredol.  
 
Mae gwasanaethau proffesiynol o ansawdd gan staff rheng flaen yn hanfodol er mwyn 
bodloni'r nod cyffredinol, sef gwella'r ffordd y mae'r sector cyhoeddus yn ymateb i 
anghenion goroeswyr.  

 

 
5. Canllawiau Statudol  
 
Swyddogion VAWDASV Llywodraeth Cymru: 

 
Canllawiau Comisiynu Rhanbarthol 
 
Mae'r Canllawiau Statudol ar gyfer Comisiynu Gwasanaethau VAWDASV yng 
Nghymru yn parhau i gael ei gyflwyno fesul cam i'r holl awdurdodau perthnasol o dan 
Ddeddf Trais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol (Cymru) 
2015. 
 
Y Fframwaith Hyfforddi Cenedlaethol  

Rhaid i awdurdodau perthnasol baratoi adroddiad blynyddol o'r cynnydd a 
wnaethant, ar lefel rhanbarthol neu lefel leol, o ran cyflwyno'r camau sydd wedi eu 
pennu yn eu cynlluniau hyfforddi lleol fel sy'n ofynnol gan y canllawiau statudol ar y 
Fframwaith Hyfforddi Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Trais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin 
Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 60



Ym mis Mai 2019, cyflwynodd yr awdurdodau perthnasol eu hail adroddiad blynyddol 
i Lywodraeth Cymru. Dros y ddwy flynedd diwethaf mae gwaith partneriaeth sylweddol 
wedi mynd rhagddo mewn perthynas â chynllunio a chyflwyno'r Fframwaith Hyfforddi 
Cenedlaethol drwy Gymru. Mae llawer o'r heriau cynnar sy'n gysylltiedig â'r gwaith o 
gyflwyno'r Fframwaith wedi eu goresgyn ac mae'n amlwg bod gwaith sylweddol wedi 
ei wneud er mwyn bodloni gofynion y canllawiau statudol. 
 
Erbyn Mawrth 2019, roedd 167,207 o bobl yng Nghymru wedi cael mynediad at 
hyfforddiant o dan y Fframwaith Hyfforddi Cenedlaethol. 
 
Mae gwasanaethau wedi bod yn gweithio tuag at gwblhau'r modiwl e-ddysgu Grŵp 1 

(hyfforddiant ymwybyddiaeth sylfaenol) ac mae'r gyfradd gwblhau ar gyfer pob 

awdurdod lleol wedi codi y llynedd.  

 Y gyfradd gwblhau ar gyfer yr holl Awdurdodau Tân ac Achub yw: 93% 

 Y gyfradd gwblhau ar gyfer yr holl Fyrddau Iechyd Lleol yw: 81% 

 Y gyfradd gwblhau ar gyfer yr holl awdurdodau lleol yw: 60% 

 
Mae gweithwyr proffesiynol yn y sector cyhoeddus yn parhau i gael eu hyfforddi drwy 
ein hyfforddiant ymyrraeth gynnar ac atal, sef ‘Gofyn a Gweithredu’ (grŵp 2 a 3), pan 
fo adnabod achosion o reolaeth drwy orfodaeth yn un o'r elfennau allweddol, ac mae 
3,000 o weithwyr yn y sector cyhoeddus wedi eu hyfforddi hyd yn hyn. Mae 
hyfforddiant ‘Gofyn a Gweithredu’ ar gael bellach ledled Gwent, Cwm Taf, Gogledd 
Cymru, yn ogystal â’r Gwasanaethau Tân ac Achub, Ymddiriedolaeth Gwasanaeth 
Ambiwlans Cymru a’r Byrddau Iechyd a’r Ymddiriedolaethau Iechyd.  Bydd y gwaith 
o gyflwyno ‘Gofyn a Gweithredu’ yn llawn yn cael ei gwblhau yn ystod 2020-21. Mae 
cyfarfodydd gweithredu wedi cychwyn ym Mhen-y-bont ar Ogwr a Bae’r Gorllewin, 
Abertawe.  
 
Mae'r gwaith cynllunio'n mynd rhagddo ar gyfer cwrs arall a ariennir yn llawn gan 
Lywodraeth Cymru a chwrs rheolwyr gwasanaeth i grwpiau 4 a 5 yn y fframwaith (y 
rheini sy'n arbenigo ym maes VAWDASV), a gweithdai rhanbarthol i arweinwyr grŵp 
6 (sy'n cynnwys y rheiny sydd â chyfrifoldebau comisiynu a chynllunio) i gychwyn ym 
mis Hydref.  
  
Mae swyddogion Llywodraeth Cymru, mewn partneriaeth â Chynulliad Cenedlaethol 
Cymru yn trefnu bod hyfforddiant ‘Gofyn a Gweithredu’ ar gael i holl Aelodau'r 
Cynulliad a’u staff cymorth. Mae cyfarfod cynllunio yn yr amserlen ar gyfer mis 
Hydref. Bydd yr hyfforddiant yn ddefnyddiol wrth iddynt gynnal digwyddiadau yn eu 
hetholaethau. Mae'n caniatáu i Aelodau’r Cynulliad drafod mewn ffordd rhagweithiol, 
a hynny mor gynnar â phosibl, gydag unigolion sydd yn agored i niwed ac yn profi 
trais a chamdriniaeth, ac i'w cyfeirio at y gwasanaethau cymorth perthnasol. 
 
Mae swyddogion Llywodraeth Cymru wedi bod yn trafod â rhanddeiliaid allweddol ac 
arweinwyr ardaloedd peilot er mwyn edrych ar sut y bydd cymorth y trydydd sector 
yn parhau drwy'r cam nesaf o gyflwyno ‘Gofyn a Gweithredu’.  
 
Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 61



Aeth y Cynghorwyr i gyfarfod Rhwydwaith Diogelu GIG Cymru ym mis Gorffennaf. 
Un o'r negeseuon allweddol  a gafodd eu cyfleu gennym oedd bod angen gwella 
llwybrau atgyfeirio VAWDASV ym maes iechyd, yn enwedig ar gyfer dioddefwyr 
cam-drin rhywiol a cham-drin hanesyddol. Pwysleisiwyd pa mor bwysig oedd gwella 
canlyniadau iechyd ar gyfer grwpiau amrywiol. Roedd ein cyfraniad yn tynnu sylw at 
yr angen am ddull gweithredu iechyd y cyhoedd er mwyn mynd i'r afael â cham-drin 
rhywiol a domestig a thrais. Roeddem wedi pwysleisio hefyd yr angen i hyfforddiant 
wneud gwahaniaeth o ran y ffordd y mae gweithwyr proffesiynol yn cefnogi 
dioddefwyr drwy adnabod yn gynnar, lleihau risg ac ailadrodd erledigaeth. 

 

6. Iechyd 
 
Swyddogion VAWDASV Llywodraeth Cymru: 
 
Cyfarfu swyddogion â chynrychiolwyr o raglen IRIS (Adnabod ac Atgyfeirio er mwyn 
Gwella Diogelwch) mewn meddygfeydd Meddyg Teulu er mwyn trafod pa mor debyg 
yw ‘Gofyn a Gweithredu’ ac IRIS. Pan fo cyllid ar gael i gyflwyno IRIS, cytunwyd mai 
dyma oedd y llwybr priodol ar gyfer meddygfeydd Meddyg Teulu gan bod cymorth 
ychwanegol ar gael gan Eiriolwr Addysgwr; fel arall bydd hyfforddiant ‘Gofyn a 
Gweithredu’ yn cael ei gyflwyno i gefnogi'r broses adnabod yn gynnar ac atgyfeirio. 
 
Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 
 

Roeddem yn hynod ffodus o gael cwrdd â Chyfarwyddwyr Cyffredinol y Llywodraeth i 
drafod sut y gellir cydlynu gwaith VAWDASV  ar draws yr holl adrannau. Rydym yn 
awyddus i edrych ar sut y gellir gwella pa mor gydnaws yw blaenoriaethau VAWDASV 
a sut y gallwn nodi meysydd o arfer da a phrif ffrydio'r dull gweithredu iechyd y cyhoedd 
o ran cael gwared ar VAWDASV. 

 
7. Addysg  
 
Swyddogion VAWDASV Llywodraeth Cymru: 

 
Bydd Addysg Rhyw a Pherthnasoedd yn cael ei ail-enwi yn Addysg Cydberthynas a 

Rhywioldeb (RSE). Bydd hyn yn rhan statudol o'r cwricwlwm newydd i'r holl 

ddysgwyr rhwng 3 a 16 oed a bydd y canllawiau wedi'u diweddaru yn cael eu 

cyhoeddi ar gyfer y cwricwlwm newydd. Cyfrannodd swyddogion VAWDASV at y 

canllawiau diweddaraf hyn ar gyfer RSE yn y cwricwlwm cyfredol yng Nghymru: yn 

ddiweddar, cyhoeddwyd y canllawiau ar gyfer ymgynghoriad ffurfiol. Mae'r 

canllawiau yn rhoi ystyriaeth i dystiolaeth a gyflwynwyd gan Banel Arbenigwyr 

Addysg Rhyw a Pherthnasoedd gan anelu  at roi'r wybodaeth a'r gefnogaeth 

ddiweddaraf ynghylch y maes astudio hwn, sydd, gan amlaf, yn sensitif ac yn symud 

yn gyflym.  

 

Cyfarfu swyddogion â CBAC i drafod datblygiad Rhaglen Mentora Cymheiriaid 

Iechyd a Lles Bagloriaeth Cymru. Byddwn yn cydweithio â CBAC i lunio her a diben 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



benodol er mwyn treialu'r Rhaglen drwy ysgolion yn Ne Cymru yn gynnar yn 2020 

cyn gweithredu'r Rhaglen yn llawn erbyn mis Medi 2020.  

 

Mae CCAUC yn datblygu canllawiau VAWDASV gyda chymorth swyddogion, gyda'r 

nod o gyhoeddi'r canllawiau a'u dosbarthu ym mhrifysgolion Cymru erbyn mis Ebrill 

2020.  

 
8. Anffurfio Organau Cenhedlu Benywod (FGM), Cam-drin ar sail 
anrhydedd (HBA), a phriodas dan orfod (FM) 

 
Swyddogion VAWDASV Llywodraeth Cymru: 
 
Edrychwyd eto ar aelodaeth Grŵp Arweinyddiaeth Cam-drin ar sail Anrhydedd Cymru 
Gyfan er mwyn sicrhau bod yr aelodau yn arweinwyr ar gam-drin ar sail anrhydedd yn 
eu sefydliadau. Roedd cyfarfod wedi ei gynnal gyda'r aelodaeth newydd ar 12 Awst.  
Roedd y drafodaeth wedi canolbwyntio ar gylch gorchwyl, trafodaethau ystyrlon, 
cydlafurio a chyflenwi blaenoriaethau. Cytunwyd y dylid rhoi “cam-drin” yn lle “trais”, 
gan fod cam-drin yn cynnwys pob math o gam-drin, emosiynol, seicolegol ac ariannol 
yn well. Roedd y cyfarfod nesaf wedi ei amserlennu ar gyfer mis Tachwedd. 
 
Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 
 
Mae ein trafodaethau gyda grwpiau pobl dduon ac Asiaidd a lleiafrifoedd ethnig 
(BAME) wedi tynnu sylw at yr angen i sefydlu Panel Dysgu. Byddwn yn defnyddio ein 
profiad o achosion blaenorol sydd wedi dod i'n sylw ac yn trafod â'r holl asiantaethau 
perthnasol i nodi gwelliannau i'r modd o gyflwyno'r gwasanaeth. 

 
9. Model Cyllid Cynaliadwy  
 
Swyddogion VAWDASV Llywodraeth Cymru: 
 
Mae'r gwaith i ddatblygu model cyllid cynaliadwy ar gyfer VAWDASV yn parhau drwy'r 
Grŵp Cyllid Cynaliadwy. 
 

Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 
 
Rydym yn cadeirio'r grŵp cyllid cynaliadwy ac yn parhau i weld y dasg o reoli 
disgwyliadau rhanddeiliaid yn heriol. Rydym wedi nodi diffyg cydlyniant gyda 
chomisiynwyr ar draws Cymru ac mae'r gwaith o ddarparu dull gweithredu cydlynol yn 
parhau i fynd rhagddo. 
 
Mae'n her i aelodau'r grŵp ddeall y cysyniad o gyllid cynaliadwy nad yw'n ddibynnol 
ar gefnogaeth ariannol gan Lywodraeth Cymru. Byddwn yn cynnal gweithdai yn ystod 
y chwarter nesaf i hybu grŵp comisiynu ar wahân er mwyn darparu trywydd at nodi 
cyfleoedd cyllid ar y cyd pan fo hynny'n bosibl. Rydym yn bwriadu edrych ar ddull 
gweithredu Rhanbarth Caerdydd a'r Fro o ran comisiynu, sy'n golygu gweithio tuag at 
gylch o saith mlynedd. 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 63



10. Dyraniadau Cyllid 
 

Swyddogion VAWDASV Llywodraeth Cymru: 
 
Cyllid Refeniw  
Ers y diweddariad diwethaf, yr un yw'r sefyllfa; Mae Llywodraeth Cymru  yn parhau i 
ddarparu cyllid refeniw i Bartneriaethau Rhanbarthol a sefydliadau'r trydydd  sector 
bob blwyddyn. 
 
Mae swyddogion yn parhau i fonitro cyflenwi ar sail cynlluniau cyflenwi rhanddeiliaid 
fesul cylch hawlio bob chwarter, sy'n cynnwys cyfarfodydd monitro. 
 
Cyllid Cyfalaf 
Mae'r cynllun grant cyfalaf ar gyfer 2019-2020, sy'n gyfanswm o £969k wedi ei 

gyflwyno ac wedi denu lefelau o ddiddordeb nas gwelwyd mo'i fath. Mae gwerth dros 

£1.4m o geisiadau wedi dod i law yn y cam ceisiadau llawn gan amrywiaeth o 

randdeiliaid, sy'n cynnwys sefydliadau anstatudol a sefydliadau o'r trydydd sector.  

Mae swyddogion wrthi ar hyn o bryd yn sgorio'r ceisiadau ar sail meini prawf cadarn, 

a bydd ymgeiswyr yn cael y canlyniad yn yr hydref. 

 
11. Gweithio gyda Throseddwyr  
 
Swyddogion VAWDASV Llywodraeth Cymru: 
 

Cynhaliwyd digwyddiadau rhannu arferion yng Nghaerdydd a Chyffordd Llandudno 
ym mis Gorffennaf. Daeth llawer i'r digwyddiadau hyn a cafwyd cyflwyniadau gan 
STOP-SO, Drive a Caring Dads. 
 
Ym mis Gorffennaf cafwyd cyfarfod i drafod y llif gwaith VAWDASV sy'n gysylltiedig 
â'r ‘Fframwaith i Gefnogi Newid Cadarnhaol ar gyfer y rhai sydd mewn Perygl o 
Droseddu yng Nghymru. Mae'r grwpiau gorchwyl a gorffen sy'n adrodd ar y llif gwaith 
yn mynd rhagddo bellach, yn canolbwyntio ar gomisiynu gwasanaethau i droseddwyr, 
safonau gwasanaeth a thrafod â defnyddwyr gwasanaeth. 
 
Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn darparu cefnogaeth barhaus a goruchwyliaeth i astudiaeth 
ymchwil Prifysgol Abertawe ar aflonyddwch, sy'n cael ei hariannu gan Lywodraeth 
Cymru mewn cydweithrediad â KESS II (Ysgoloriaethau Sgiliau'r Economi 
Wybodaeth), rhan o Gronfa Gymdeithasol Ewrop.   
 
Bydd canllawiau arfer da Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer gwasanaethau cyhoeddus sy'n 
gweithio â throseddwyr yn cael ei gyhoeddi ym mis Hydref. 
 
Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 
 
Rydym yn parhau i dynnu sylw at yr angen am y gwaith hwn fel rhan o'r agwedd ar 
"atal" yn Neddf Trais yn erbyn Menywod, Cam-drin Domestig a Thrais Rhywiol 
(Cymru) 2015. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 64



 

 
12. Fframwaith Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Ymgysylltu â Goroeswyr 

Yn ychwanegol at y diweddariad diwethaf, mae'r prosiect peilot i ddatblygu 

Fframwaith Cenedlaethol ar gyfer ymgysylltu â goroeswyr wedi parhau. Mae model 

theori o newid ar gyfer ymgysylltu â goroeswyr wedi ei ddatblygu. 

Roedd canfyddiadau o'r arolwg i drafod â'r goroeswyr hynny a oedd wedi'u 

tangynrychioli yn ein trafodaethau hyd yma (101 o ffurflenni) yn cefnogi ffurfio panel 

peilot sydd bellach wedi'i sefydlu. Cyfarfu'r panel am y tro cyntaf ar 30 Medi ac roedd 

yn cynnwys cymysgedd o oedrannau, rhyw ac ethnigrwydd.  

Diben y panel peilot fydd i oroeswyr rannu eu gwybodaeth a'u profiad byw er mwyn 

dylanwadu ar ddatblygiad y strategaeth genedlaethol nesaf ar drais yn erbyn 

menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol. Bydd y panel peilot hefyd yn cyfrannu 

at waith y grŵp rhanddeiliaid arbenigol o dan gadeiryddiaeth gan yr Cynghorwyr 

Cenedlaethol.  

Bydd y Panel yn cael ei fonitro dros y cyfnod o dri mis. Cynhelir cyfarfodydd 

gwerthuso gyda'r rhai sy'n trafod â ni, a chânt eu cyfuno â chanfyddiadau eraill o'r 

gwaith peilot er mwyn sefydlu ai dyma'r dull gorau o weithredu ac a yw lleisiau a 

phrofiadau'r goroeswyr wedi gwneud gwahaniaeth. Bydd hyn yn llywio'r adroddiad 

terfynol a fydd yn dylanwadu ar fframwaith ymgysylltu a goroeswyr sy'n gynaliadwy, 

a rhagwelwn y bydd yn cynnwys amryw o ffyrdd i drafod â goroeswyr ledled Cymru.  

 
Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 
 
Rydym yn parhau i drafod â'r rhwydweithiau dioddefwyr a goroeswyr ac maent yn 
parhau i fod yn ganolog i'r gwaith o ddatblygu polisi. Fodd bynnag, yr ydym yn parhau 
i bryderu am gynaliadwyedd rhai grwpiau a chymhlethdodau gwledig/trefol o ran 
darparu gwasanaethau. 

 
 
13. Byw Heb Ofn 
 

Swyddogion VAWDASV Llywodraeth Cymru: 
 
Mae swyddogion wedi comisiynu astudiaeth gwerthusadwyedd i lywio contractau yn y 
dyfodol ar gyfer darparu'r Llinell Gymorth Byw Heb Ofn. Bydd yr astudiaeth yn caniatáu 
i feini prawf gwerthuso gwell fod yn rhan o fanyleb y contract pan gaiff y contract ei ail-
osod y flwyddyn nesaf. 
 
Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 
 
Mae'r Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol yn falch o nodi'r cynnydd yn nifer y dilynwyr newydd 
a'r drafodaeth fywiog ar-lein a'r adborth a gynhyrchwyd gan ymgyrchoedd cyfathrebu 
Llywodraeth Cymru. Lle y bo'n bosibl, mae'r Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol yn parhau i 
rannu negeseuon allweddol am eu priod sianeli cyfryngau cymdeithasol. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 65



 

14. Cyfathrebu 

Swyddogion VAWDASV Llywodraeth Cymru: 
 
Ymgyrchoedd  
 
Mae'r gwaith cynllunio ar gyfer cam 3 a 4 o ymgyrch  ‘Nid cariad yw hyn. Rheolaeth 
yw Hyn’, a lansiwyd ym mis Ionawr 2019, wedi parhau i ddatblygu yn ystod y cyfnod 
hwn. Mae'r ymgyrch yn tynnu sylw at natur beryglus, gronnus rheolaeth drwy 
orfodaeth yn ogystal â'r cyfrwystra cysylltiedig.  Bydd yn parhau i adlewyrchu mwy o 

enghreifftiau o ymddygiadau rheoli drwy ystod o brofiadau gydol y flwyddyn. Bydd Cam 
3 a 4 o'r ymgyrch yn adlewyrchu profiadau pobl ifanc, rheolaeth a thrais rhywiol. 
Bydd Cam 3 yn tynnu sylw at yr heriau sy'n wynebu pobl ifanc wrth iddynt ddatblygu 
cydberthynasau a theimlad o hunaniaeth unigol.  Bydd Cam 4yn parhau i edrych ar 
gamfanteisio, meithrin perthynas amhriodol, codi ofn a rheoli, ac yn tynnu sylw at sut 
mae hyn yn edrych pan fo'n digwydd o fewn teuluoedd a pherthnasau agos.  
 
Mae swyddogion Llywodraeth Cymru wedi bod yn trafod â'r Grŵp Arbenigol o 
Rhanddeiliaid Cyfathrebu, y rhanddeiliaid allweddol sy'n arbenigo mewn trais rhywiol 
a phobl ifanc a goroeswyr, a hynny er mwyn datblygu negeseuon a delweddaeth ar 
gyfer y ddau gam nesaf. 
 
Mae data dangosol cynnar gan yr heddlu ac o Linell Gymorth Byw Heb Ofn yn parhau 
i ddangos bod yr ymgyrch yn cael effaith ar nifer y galwadau ynghylch troseddau 
rheolaeth drwy orfodaeth a nifer y troseddau rheolaeth drwy orfodaeth yr adroddir 
arnynt yng Nghymru.  
 
Rydym wedi gweithio'n agos gyda chydgysylltwyr rhanbarthol i ofyn am gynigion am 
weithgareddau cyfathrebu cymunedol eleni. Bydd gweithgareddau cyfathrebu 
cymunedol yn cael eu hariannu ym mhob rhanbarth a fydd yn cynnig cyfle i 
ganolbwyntio ar ein hymgyrchoedd blaenorol a'n hymgyrch ddiweddaraf: ‘Nid Cariad 
yw Hyn. Rheolaeth yw Hyn’. Bydd gweithgareddau eleni yn cael eu harwain gan 
oroeswyr achosion o gam-drin, mewn partneriaeth â rhanddeiliaid arbenigol ar draws 
y saith ardal ranbarthol yng Nghymru. 
  
Rydym hefyd wedi cynnal ymgyrchoedd bychan ar sianeli cyfryngau cymdeithasol 
Byw Heb Ofn, yn tynnu sylw at ein llwyddiannau yn yr adroddiad blynyddol a'r 
ymrwymiadau o ran aflonyddu ar y stryd, a gafwyd o ddigwyddiad bord gron a 
gynhaliwyd gyda sefydliadau'r sector cyhoeddus. 

 

15. Casgliadau 

Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol: 

Rydym wedi paratoi ein hadroddiad blynyddol ar gyfer 2018-19 yn unol â'n cyfrifoldeb 
statudol i ddarparu adroddiad cynnydd blynyddol i Weinidogion Cymru. Fe'i 
cyhoeddwyd ar 30 Medi. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 66



Roeddem yn bresennol yn y drafodaeth Bord Gron ar Gam-drin Domestig o dan 

gadeiryddiaeth  y Gwir Anrhydeddus Priti Patel AS, yr Ysgrifennydd Cartref ar 28 

Awst.  Cyflwynom enghreifftiau o'n gwaith, ein grwpiau VAWDASV cenedlaethol a 

sut yr ydym yn mynd ati i atal, amddiffyn a chefnogi. Yn benodol, roedd yr 

Ysgrifennydd Cartref yn awyddus i gael gwybod mwy am ba mor effeithiol oedd 

Cymru am godi ymwybyddiaeth o faterion VAWDASV. Mae'r Cynghorwyr 

Cenedlaethol yn awgrymu bod cyfarfodydd rheolaidd yn cael eu cynnal rhwng 

swyddogion perthnasol Llywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig, yn benodol y Comisiynydd 

cam-drin Domestig. Rydym hefyd am annog cydweithrediad parhaus a dysgu ymhlith 

swyddogion  y pedair gweinyddiaeth. 

 

Cynghorwyr Cenedlaethol 

Medi 2019 

Tudalen y pecyn 67



FAO – John Griffiths, Chair of Equalities, Local Government & Communities Committee 
cc – Dawn Bowden AM
cc – Mark Isherwood AM
cc – Leanne Wood AM

7th October 2019

Lack of duty of care and putting lives in danger

Dear John Griffiths, Chair of Equalities, Local Government & Communities Committee 

I am a Leaseholder at the  and a member of a newly 
formed group ‘

I purchased my property through Redrow in 2006.  My purchase was influenced by the 
company promoting its reputation of building high quality homes and flats and as stated on 
their website

“Ensuring our sites are safe places to work, live and visit is central to our build 
operations”

Within the 2006 Redrow Handbook, it states “The building has been designed and 
constructed to work as a number of fireproof compartments.  This will stop fire and smoke 
from spreading to neighbourhood areas for a significant amount of time”.(See Document 1).

You may be aware of the serious issues discovered at this development in recent years that 
is endangering and putting lives as risk with the most recent being the discovery of missing 
fire safety measures both internally and externally of the flats.  This was highlighted in a 
Type 4 assessment undertaken in July 2019 by International Fire Consultants Ltd.  In its 
conclusion, they state:-

The type 4 Assessment confirms the findings of the indicative survey that no effective
fire stopping exists in the compartment wall between each flat and the common 
corridor (See Document 2).

Following the tragedy of Grenfell Tower in 2017, this must be treated as a matter of urgency 
and it is of deep concern how a so-called reputable company has treated such important 
issues so lightly and worse still, Redrow and its sub-contractors are not taking responsibility 
for their work. It is clear beyond any doubt that there are significant problems with this 
development and that these problems have not been caused by the leaseholders. You do 
not need any expertise to look at the problems evident in the buildings.

Other Health & Safety Issues and putting lives at risk

Dock Path – If flooded this could be a problem for access for the Fire Service if they needed
to attend.  Not only could residents be at risk, but also members of the Fire Service.

Render cladding - Various problems with the render cladding, a few years ago, one section 
of vertical cladding came off and it was fortunate this did not result in injury or loss of life.  

Papur 4 
Paper 4

Tudalen y pecyn 68

Eitem 5.3



This continues to be a Health & Safety concern not affecting only residents but to member of
the public using the public footpaths surrounding the site.

Balconies – Following engineers advice, residents now advised that they do not use 
balconies because of the potential danger of glass shattering from the balconies.

Roof Anchors – The anchors that were installed are not suitable and again, a Health & 
Safety risk of injury or death.
The company is showing a complete disrespect and disregard for the well-being of the 
people who reside within the development and have interests there.

Does Redrow really put profits ahead of peoples health safety? 

This is how Redrow has been doing in recent years and profiting from people who have put 
faith and trust in the building quality of their products.

 2014 - pre-tax profits of £133m
 2015 - pre-tax profits of £204m
 2016 - pre-tax profits of £250m
 2017 - pre-tax profit of £315m
 2018 - pre-tax profits of £380m
 2019 - pre-tax profits of £406m

Apart from the risk to peoples safety, the issues are leaving many Leaseholders in Financial 
hardship and causing a lot of stress and depression.  Redrow need to stop evading, accept 
responsibility and start remedial action as a matter of urgency before something terrible may 
occur.

I would like to take the opportunity to thank the Welsh Government and recent statement 
made by Julie James Housing Minister on 19th September 2019 recognising the safety of 
people is paramount and that building owners and developers should face up to their moral 
responsibility and put right these faults, or else risk their professional reputation.

Furthermore, the Local Government & Communities Committee recognised the importance 
of fire safety in high rise buildings as per its enquiry in the last 12 months and with this in 
mind, can the committee consider inviting Redrow to answer the concerns raised by the 
residents and leaseholders or express its concerns to them in light of the Grenfell tragedy or 
would you please write to Redrow to ask for an explanation of why they have not taken 
responsibility and failed to address the issues raised over the past few years putting lives at 
risk.

Yours faithfully 

Tudalen y pecyn 69



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 70

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Tudalen y pecyn 72

Eitem 5.4



Tudalen y pecyn 73



1

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019

LGBTQ+ Youth 
Homelessness in Wales:
FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019

Tudalen y pecyn 74



32

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Thanks Foreword by the Director  
of Stonewall Cymru 

The Research Team

Peer Researchers

For reasons of anonymity, the 
details of the peer researchers 
involved are not shared here. 
The peer research team are a 
group of young people who 
identify as LGBTQ+ and have 
experienced homelessness in 
Wales. The group were trained by 
Shelter Cymru in peer research 
methodology and ethics.

End Youth  
Homelessness Cymru 

The peer researchers were 
supported by the End Youth 
Homelessness Cymru team. End 
Youth Homelessness Cymru is a 
coalition of organisations, ranged 
across a variety of sectors and led 
by Llamau, working to end youth 
homelessness in Wales by 2027. 
The team consisted of: Hugh 
Russell – Project Manager; Emily 
Jenkins – Project Coordinator; 
and Jemma Bridgeman – Policy 
and Research Officer.

Shelter Cymru 

Edith England contributed 
significantly to this report, inputting 
data from her work with trans 
homeless people. Edith has 
worked in the fields of equalities 
and welfare/ housing rights for 
many years. She is currently a 
PhD Researcher in the School 
of Geography and Planning at 
Cardiff University, supervised 
by Dr Peter Mackie. Her thesis 
explored the changing nature of 
rights and responsibilities under 
the Housing (Wales) Act 2014.

For young LGBTQ+ homeless people in Wales the extent and depth of 
challenges is stark.  This report details their experiences and highlights 
the additional factors they experience because of their sexual orientation 
and/or gender identity.  These include greater risk of psychological harm, 
substance misuse problems and exposure to sexual exploitation. 

We know that LGBTQ+ young people are overrepresented in the general 
homeless population, more likely to leave stable accommodation to 
escape family rejection, domestic or sexual abuse and at greater risk of 
harm when homeless than non-LGBTQ+ young people. Despite this, they 
are underserved by support services designed to respond to their specific 
needs.  It is unsurprising, though no less concerning, therefore that levels 
of trust in services are low amongst LGBTQ+ young people. 

This research also includes the views of those working with young people 
and research from around the globe.  We have highlighted examples 
of best practise and made a series of recommendations for all those 
responsible for eradicating and preventing youth homelessness.

Ultimately, we all have a responsibility to listen to young people and hear 
what it is they say is needed. Reading the first-hand accounts of LGBTQ+ 
young people in the pages which follow should move each and every one 
of us to action.  

Andrew White
Director, Stonewall Cymru 

Thanks to the following organisations for funding this report 
and ‘Cai’s Story’, a short film available on the Llamau website, 
which will be used alongside this report to raise awareness 
of the issue of LGBTQ+ youth homelessness in Wales:

T
udalen y pecyn 75



54

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

The purpose of this report is to enhance the knowledge and capabilities  
of policy makers and practitioners on how best to deliver services which 
improve the situations of young LGBTQ+ people who are vulnerable to 
homelessness in Wales. 

We set out to achieve this aim by meeting a set of objectives, noted below:

–   To develop an understanding of what specific issues are 
faced by young LGBTQ+ people who are homeless or 
vulnerable to homelessness 

–   To learn what interventions and support are needed, 
contrasting this with an understanding of what is 
currently available.

–   To amplify the voices of young LGBTQ+ people on the 
issue of youth homelessness. 

–   To recommend a series of proposals which will ensure 
that LGBTQ+ youth homelessness becomes rare, brief 
and non-recurrent. 

For the purposes of this report, we have chosen to use the term LGBTQ+ (Lesbian, 
Gay, Bi-sexual, Trans and Queer, with the + representing inclusion of other identities 
to represent other non-cisgender and non-heterosexual groups). This decision was 
made in consultation with the young people who worked on the project as peer 
researchers, as they felt it was the term most likely to resonate with their peers. This 
definition will be deviated from only when making reference to data collected by 
others (e.g. the Office for National Statistics’ use of LGB) or when making specific 
differentiation between members of the wider group, e.g. when discussing the 
specific experiences of trans people. Where the term ‘trans’ is used, it is included 
as an umbrella term to describe people whose gender is not the same as, or does 
not sit comfortably with, the sex they were assigned at birth, as per Stonewall’s 
guidance.1 Some trans people are also LGBQ+.

At the time of writing, a European definition of youth homelessness is under 
development by FEANTSA, the European homelessness network. Pending its 
publication, for the purposes of this report, the Canadian definition (as recently  
used in influential reports on the subject by the Wales Centre for Public Policy)  
has been used:  

‘ “Youth homelessness” refers to the situation and 
experience of young people between the ages of 13 
and 24 who are living independently of parents and/
or caregivers, but do not have the means or ability 
to acquire a stable, safe or consistent residence.’2

1   Stonewall. (no date). Glossary of Terms. Retrieved from: https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-advice/
glossary-terms#. Last accessed 29th June 2019. 

2   Canadian Observatory of Youth Homelessness. (2016). Canadian Definition of Youth 
Homelessness. Retrieved from: https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/Definition_of_Youth_
Homelessness.pdf. Last accessed 29th June 2019.

Aim A Note on Terminology  
and Definitions

T
udalen y pecyn 76

https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-advice/glossary-terms
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-advice/glossary-terms
https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/Definition_of_Youth_Homelessness.pdf
https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/Definition_of_Youth_Homelessness.pdf


76

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Part 1: Introduction

Why study LGBTQ+ Youth Homelessness? 

3   Source: Llamau’s bespoke data capture tool ‘Demon’. 

4   Office of National Statistics. (2017). Sexual Identity, UK: 2016. Retrieved from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2016#people-aged-16-to-24-are-more-likely-to-identify-as-lesbian-gay-or-bisexual-than-
any-othe. Last accessed 29th June 2019. 

5   Government Equalities Office. (2018). Trans People in the UK. Retrieved from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721642/GEO-LGBT-factsheet.pdf. Last accessed 29th June 2019.

6   Bateman, W. (2015). LGBT Youth Homelessness: UK National Scoping Exercise. Albert Kennedy Trust. Retrieved from: https://www.
theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf. Last accessed 30th 
July 2019.

7   Morton, M. H., Samuels, G. M., Dworsky, A., & Patel, S. (2018). Missed opportunities: LGBTQ youth homelessness in America, Chapin Hall 
at the University of Chicago. Retrieved from: http://voicesofyouthcount.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/VoYC-LGBTQ-Brief-FINAL.pdf. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019. 

The decision to research the issue of LGBTQ+ youth 
homelessness was, in large part, reached due to the 
rising numbers of LGBTQ+ young people accessing 
the services of Llamau, a charity which supports 
young homeless people in Wales and which is the 
lead partner in the End Youth Homelessness Cymru 
coalition. 

Llamau’s in-house data monitoring service has 
demonstrated a year-on-year increase in the 
proportion of LGBT young people (under 25) 
accessing supported housing. Statistics for 2017/18 
demonstrate that 9% of those accessing Llamau’s 
supported housing services classify themselves as 
LGBT, up from 8% in the previous year and 7% the 
year before that.3 By contrast, the ONS’ most recent 
data collection on this issue showed that “in 2016 
in the UK, 4.1% of the population aged 16 to 24 
identified as lesbian, gay or bisexual (LGB).”4 There 
are no equivalent figures for the trans population, but 
it is believed to be less than 1% of the population as a 
whole.5

This suggests that the LGBQ+ community is 
disproportionately affected by youth homelessness. This 
assertion is supported by similar findings in research 
undertaken elsewhere in the UK (Albert Kennedy Trust 
found that 24% of the youth homelessness population 
across the UK identified as LGBT, for example).6 
Research from elsewhere in the world supports this 
point: a recent study in America found that “young 
adults, ages 18 to 25, who identified as LGBTQ 
experienced homelessness within the last 12 months 
at over twice the rate of their heterosexual peers who 
identified as their birth gender”, for instance7.

The in-house data collected by Llamau also 
demonstrates that LGBT young people are more likely 
to be made homeless as a result of family breakdown 
than their non-LGBT peers. The data for the last 5 
years shows a year-on-year (with one slight exception, 
when the figure dropped by 1% in 2017/18) increase 
in this reason being given for young LGBT people’s 
homelessness, up from 26% in 2013/14 to 35% in 
2017/18. By contrast, the number of young people 
who do not identify as LGBT becoming homeless due 
to family breakdown has stayed static at between 22 
and 23% over the same period. 

 

Llamau’s data suggests a significantly higher 
preponderance of mental health issues among 
LGBT young people; in 2017/18 72% of the young 
homeless LGBT people accessing supported housing 
were experiencing mental ill health at the start of 
support, compared to 64% of their non-LGBT peers. 
The last 5 years’ data suggest that mental ill health 
is broadly rising amongst non-LGBT young homeless 
people at the start of support (up from 46% in 
2013/14 to 64% in 2017/18). The figure for LGBT 
young people has remained relatively stable, from a 
peak of 78% in 2013/14 to 72% in 2017/18. 

The statistics show that the vast majority of those in 
Llamau’s supported housing record that they have 
made progress with their mental health during their 
support period. However it is more likely that non-
LGBT people will make progress with their mental 
health (87% of non-LGBT young people reported 
making progress on mental ill health during support in 
2017/18 compared to 80% of LGBT young people). 

The reasons for these statistics are open to 
interpretation but, by this measure, a disproportionately 
high number of young people who experience 
homelessness in Wales are LGBTQ+. This fact, 
plus a lack of recent research on the issue in Wales, 
meant that it was imperative that LGBTQ+ youth 
homelessness was better understood as part of End 
Youth Homelessness Cymru’s wider goal. 

T
udalen y pecyn 77

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721642/GEO-LGBT-factsheet.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721642/GEO-LGBT-factsheet.pdf
https://www.theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf
https://www.theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf
http://voicesofyouthcount.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/VoYC-LGBTQ-Brief-FINAL.pdf


98

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Legislative Context

8   Welsh Government. (2018). Housing. Retrieved from: https://gweddill.gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/services-and-support/
homelessness/?lang=en. Last accessed 25th April 2019.

9   Matthews, P., Payner, C. and Kjellgren. (2018). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and queer experiences of homelessness and identity: 
insecurity and home(o)normativity. International Journal of Housing Policy. 1-22. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1
080/19491247.2018.1519341. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

10   Welsh Government (2016). Code of Guidance for Local Authorities on the Allocation of Accommodation and Homelessness. Cardiff: 
Welsh Government. Retrieved from: https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/160324-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities-on-
allocation-of-accommodation-and-homelessness-en.pdf

11   As 10 (WG Code of Guidance for LA’s) 

12   Equality and Human Rights Commission. (2019). The Public Sector Equality Duty. Retrieved from: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/
en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 aims to ensure more 
is done by local authorities and their partners to help 
people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness.8 
An objective of the law is to ensure people facing 
homelessness or who are at risk of homelessness 
receive help as early as possible, with a strong focus 
on prevention. It places a duty on local authorities 
to work with people who are at risk of losing their 
home within 56 days to find a solution to their 
housing problems. All 16 and 17 year olds in Wales 
are automatically considered to be in priority need, 
which may entitle them to somewhere to stay in an 
emergency while the council considers their case. 
Young people aged 18-20 who are at particular risk of 
sexual or financial exploitation are also considered to 
be in priority need. 

In the UK, the Equality Act (2010) outlawed 
discrimination because of sexual orientation or 
gender identity.9 Local Authorities are expected to pay 
due regard to the Equality Act when exercising their 
functions under The Housing (Wales) Act 2014. Welsh 
Government guidance on exercising the functions 
of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 states that local 
authorities and their partners should ensure allocation 
policies are sensitive to the particular difficulties 
experienced by LGBT people such as homophobic 
harassment.10  The guidance also states local 
authorities and their partners should ensure their staff 
receive training on trans issues. The guidance lists the 
needs of LGBT people amongst particular households 
that need specific types of information and advice, 
particularly when this advice is needed to prevent 
homelessness.11 Under the Public Sector Equality Duty, 
local authorities (and other bodies performing a public 
service, such as housing associations) have a duty to 
advance equality of opportunity among groups with 
protected characteristics.12

Methodology

Evidence for this report has been collected via a 
mixed-methods approach, outlined below. In summary 
this consisted of:

• Semi-structured interviews with LGBTQ+ young 
people in receipt of support;

• Longer, semi-structured interviews with young trans 
people, including both those who had received help 
and support from homelessness services, and those 
who had not;

• A survey of local authority and third sector 
homelessness staff;

• Several meetings of a working group of experts 
in the fields of LGBTQ+ issues and youth 
homelessness;

• A desk-based literature review.

Participant Group 1 (LGBTQ+ Young People in 
Receipt of Support)

Shelter Cymru provided training in research methods 
for a group of young LGBTQ+ people who had 
experienced homelessness and were living in 
supported housing, with either Llamau or GISDA. The 
training was undertaken over two days and included 
time to discuss and agree terminology, as well as to 
confirm the questions to be included in a peer survey. 
7 young people participated in this process, of whom 
5 went on to work as peer researchers. 

Participant recruitment for this element of the study 
was more time-consuming than had been anticipated 
and ultimately provided fewer interviewees than had 
been hoped, despite an incentive (a shopping voucher) 
being offered and a number of recruitment methods 
being employed. Posters and flyers were shared online 
and posted on the walls of supported housing for 
young homelessness people across Wales; flyers were 

distributed at Pride in Cardiff and we asked that the 
peer researchers participate in recruitment by telling 
their peers about the project (N.B. peer researchers 
were never paired with individuals they already knew, 
for ethical reasons). To increase the numbers of 
participants, additional interviews were undertaken 
with the peer researchers directly, carried out by 
members of the research team. The research team also 
interviewed participants directly at times when Peer 
Researchers were unavailable. 

The interviews were all undertaken using the same  
co-designed survey, with prompts to expand offered 
to the participants, where appropriate. In all, 10 
interviews were undertaken between Summer 2018 
and Spring 2019.

Participants were assured of anonymity and all names 
and identifying details have been changed. 

A key distinction between the two participant groups 
is that, despite efforts to recruit more broadly, the first 
participant group were ultimately recruited exclusively 
from among young people who were in supported 
housing or had recently moved on, so had all been 
through the homelessness system. The participants 
from group 2 (more on whom anon) were not recruited 
via services and thus had, in some cases, markedly 
different experiences. Almost all of this second group 
had some involvement with services, notably youth 
services, social care services and/or mental health 
services. However, only around half had formally made 
a homelessness application, despite these services 
typically being aware of their homelessness. 

The report is structured around, and draws primarily 
from, the interviews with Participant Group 1, who 
were predominantly LGB. Where appropriate, 
interviews with the second group are used to 
supplement these findings.

T
udalen y pecyn 78

https://gweddill.gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/services-and-support/homelessness/?lang=en
https://gweddill.gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/services-and-support/homelessness/?lang=en
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/19491247.2018.1519341
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/19491247.2018.1519341
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/160324-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities-on-allocation-of-accommodation-and-homelessness-en.pdf
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/160324-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities-on-allocation-of-accommodation-and-homelessness-en.pdf
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty


1110

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Participant Group 2 (Young Trans People)

The element of the study which covers trans 
homelessness was undertaken by Edith England, as 
a part of a study of trans homelessness in general 
(as opposed to our youth-focussed approach), 
‘Homelessness Among Trans People in Wales’.13 

The Shelter Cymru study consisted of long, narrative 
interviews with 25 trans people who had experienced 
homelessness. A majority of these had first been 
homeless before the age of 25, and around half were 
still under 25 at the time of interview. Participants 
were recruited for the Shelter Cymru study primarily 
via social media and approaches to gatekeeper 
organisations. Recruitment and interviews took place 
between early 2018-19. 

Trans participants had a mixture of gender identities, 
with the majority identifying as trans men or trans 
women. However, a significant minority identified 
as non-binary or had another trans identity. It is 
also important to note that some trans people are 
also members of the LGBQ+ community, and their 
comments were informed by this experience.

Interviews lasted between 60-120 minutes on average. 
They were recorded and transcribed professionally. An 
interview schedule was used to guide the questions. 

As with group 1, participants were assured of 
anonymity and all names and identifying details have 
been changed. 

13   England, E. (2019). Homelessness among trans people in Wales. Retrieved from: https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2019/06/Homelessness-among-trans-people-in-Wales_Website.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

An early decision was taken to incorporate some of 
the findings from the ongoing Shelter Cymru study into 
the study above, despite significant methodological 
differences. This was primarily to avoid re-sampling 
the same small group, and hence reduce participant 
burden: the trans community is small, and of intense 
curiosity for researchers, and there is increasing 
concern about the impact upon community members 
of being over-researched.

Youth Homelessness Workers 

For comparative purposes it was important that we 
studied the experiences and attitudes of adult staff 
working with young homeless people. We took two 
approaches to doing so. This was done through an 
electronic survey, via Survey Monkey, to individuals 
who have contact with homeless young people, or 
those at risk of becoming so. These surveys were 
distributed via the following networks: 

• The Local Authority Homelessness Network, to 
garner the views of local authority homelessness 
team staff; 

• Cymorth Cymru, to garner the views of third-sector 
support providers; 

• ADSS Cymru (the association of Directors of Social 
Services in Wales), to garner the views of local 
authority Directors and Heads of Children’s Services 
and Heads of Adults Services.

Insight from Experts 

Further to the surveys of young people and those 
working with them, we have also included the findings 
of a working group made up of experts in the areas 
of homelessness and LGBTQ+ issues, which met 7 
times across 2018 and 2019 to discuss the issue of 
LGBTQ+ youth homelessness. A summary of their 
findings is included as part of this report.

Desk-Based Literature Review 

This report is underpinned by a literature review, 
the purpose of which is to ensure that the 
recommendations are supported by up-to-date 
research findings from other, relevant studies. 

Review of findings with young people 

The findings of the report have been discussed with 
homelessness-experienced LGBTQ+ young people, in 
order to ensure that what we propose is acceptable to 
those for whom the changes would be made.

T
udalen y pecyn 79

https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Homelessness-among-trans-people-in-Wales_Website.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Homelessness-among-trans-people-in-Wales_Website.pdf


1312

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Part 2: Literature Review

Key Findings of the Literature Review: 

14   McCann, E. & Brown, M. (2019). Homelessness among youth who identify as LGBTQ+: A Systematic Review. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 
2019: 1-12. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

• LGBTQ+ young people are disproportionately 
overrepresented in the wider homelessness population. 
Despite this, they are underserved by support 
services designed to respond to their specific needs.

• The predominant cause of LGBTQ+ youth 
homelessness is family breakdown, with abuse at 
home a greater risk for LGBTQ+ young people. 
LGBTQ+ young people are increasingly coming out 
to friends and family at a younger age, suggesting 
an increased level of vulnerability amongst future 
LGBTQ+ youth. 

• Young, LGBTQ+, homeless people are highly likely 
to experience mental ill-health and more likely 
to leave home as a result of this, than their non-
LGBTQ+ peers. Similarly, they face greater risk of 
violence, discrimination and sexual exploitation than 
non-LGBTQ+ young homeless people. 

• LGBTQ+ youth homelessness is an under-
researched area; issues worthy of further 
examination include the use of social media 
within the LGBTQ+ community to gain access to 
accommodation and, in the few instances in which 
they are available, the effectiveness of LGBTQ+ 
focussed services to prevent youth homelessness.

• Accurate data collection is an area of considerable 
difficulty, but services can improve understanding 
of LGBTQ+ youth homelessness by both looking 
to their own data-capture methods and taking steps 
to provide a welcoming and trustworthy service for 
LGBTQ+ youth.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

“LGBTQ+ homeless youth is a major public health 
concern that has significant consequences for a young 
person’s physical and psychosocial well-being.”14

Introduction

15   McCann, E. & Brown, M. (2019). Homelessness among youth who identify as LGBTQ+: A Systematic Review. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 
2019: 1-12. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

16   Tunaker, C. (2015). “No Place Like Home”. The journal of Architecture, Design and Domestic Space.12 (2), 241-259. Retrieved from: 
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/17406315.2015.1046300. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

17   As 15 (McCann, E. & Brown, M). 

This review aims to present the key points from the 
(limited) literature on LGBTQ+ youth homelessness, 
covering both the specific issues faced by young 
LGBTQ+ people who are homeless or vulnerable 
to homelessness and presenting information on how 
services might effectively respond to this issue. Much 
of the available literature comes from North America 
and the UK, so it is from these areas that most of this 
review draws its source material.  
 
 

“Homeless youth who identify 
as LGBTQ+ are one of the most 
marginalised and disenfranchised 
groups in society. Nevertheless, 
the multifarious pathways to 
homelessness in LGBTQ+ youth 
remain understudied”.15 

There is a paucity of research on the housing 
experiences of LGBTQ+ homeless youth. Tunaker 
explains that as both homeless young people and 
LGBTQ+ people are seldom heard populations, 
locating the intersection of homeless LGBTQ+ youth is 
challenging.16 The literature suggests there is even less 
research on trans populations, in particular. McCann 
and Brown note there are no international multi-
centred studies or research into the needs of homeless 
trans populations.17 T

udalen y pecyn 80

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/17406315.2015.1046300


1514

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Young LGBTQ+ People’s Experiences of Homelessness

18   Morton, M.H., Dworsky, A., & Samuels, G.M. (2017). Missed opportunities: Youth homelessness in America. National estimates. Chicago, 
IL: Chapin Hall at the University of Chicago. Retrieved from: https://www.opressrc.org/content/missed-opportunities-youth-homelessness-
america. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

19   As 18 (Morton, M.H., Dworsky, A., & Samuels, G.M)

20   Bateman, W. (2015). LGBT Youth Homelessness: UK National Scoping Exercise. Albert Kennedy Trust. Retrieved from: https://www.
theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf. Last accessed 
30th July 2019. 

21   Coolhart, D & Brown, M. T. (2017). The need for safe spaces: Exploring the experiences of homeless LGBTQ youth in shelters. Children 
and Youth Services Review. 82, 230-238. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319661703_The_need_for_safe_
spaces_Exploring_the_experiences_of_homeless_LGBTQ_youth_in_shelters. Last access 30th July 2019.

22   Dunne, G. Prentergast, S. & Telford, D. (2002). Young, Gay, Homeless and Invisible: A Growing Population. Culture, Health & Sexuality. 4 
(1), 103-115. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/136910502753389404. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

23   As 22 (Dunne et al, 2002) 

Extent of the representation of LGBTQ+  
Youth in Homeless Populations

Although limited, the available literature on LGBTQ+ 
youth homelessness consistently points toward an 
overrepresentation of young LGBTQ+ people among 
wider homeless populations. The University of Chicago 
undertook a nationally representative phone survey to 
identify how common, or prevalent, youth homelessness 
in America.18 They interviewed 26,161 young people 
during 2016 – 2017. The findings indicate one in 10 
young adults, aged 18 to 25 and one in 30, 13 to 17 
year olds, experience homelessness over the course of 
a year. According to the findings of the survey LGBT 
youth had a 120% increased risk of experiencing 
homelessness than heterosexual and cisgender (i.e. 
someone whose gender identity is the same as the sex 
they were assigned at birth) youth.19 In the UK, 
research from the Albert Kennedy Trust found that 
LGBT young people were more likely to find themselves 
homeless, than heterosexual and cisgender youth, 
reporting LGBT young people make up 24% of the 
homeless population.20

Coolhart & Brown suggest that because LGBTQ+ 
youth experience homelessness at a disproportionate 
rate, it logically follows they represent a disproportionate 
number of young people using housing and 
homelessness services.21 Respondents to a UK study 
looking at the extent to which sexual orientation played 
a part in individuals’ housing crises suggested that 
their sexual orientation had played a significant role 
in triggering housing breakdowns and that for up to 
a third of LGB people this crisis had been prompted 
by their family’s inability to accept their sexual 
orientation.22 Young people reported they had been 
physically abused and/or kicked out of home once 
they revealed their sexuality. The same report described 
the hitherto invisible and increasing population 
in England of LGB young homeless people and 
again, their fieldwork suggested a disproportionate 
overrepresentation of LGB young people in the wider 
homeless population.23 Moreover, because their needs 
may differ from the needs of non-LGBTQ+ peers, 
they are not being addressed by service providers. This 
could be because LGB youth are making themselves 
invisible to avoid homophobic bullying or because 
they are being made invisible by the heteronormative 
assumptions of others. This in turn can reinforce 
LGBTQ+ young people’s invisibility in the planning 

and delivery of housing services and contributes to 
their scarce coverage within research.24

Trans people are specifically more likely to experience 
homelessness than non-trans peers. McNeil et 
al (2012) found that a fifth of trans adults had 
experienced homelessness over the lifespan, with a 
tenth having been homeless repeatedly.25 

Causes of LGBTQ+ Youth Homelessness

The literature suggests that young people are coming 
out at younger ages; the average age at which people 
come out to their communities has dropped from 
post-university age in the 1990s to 16, meaning more 
and more young people are coming out while they are 
still economically dependent on their families.26 While 
this may imply that younger people are feeling more 
comfortable expressing themselves (and possibly that 
younger people are more accepting and understanding 
of LGBTQ+ issues), the response from family is 
not always positive: the most common reason for a 
young LGBTQ+ young person to become homeless 
is parents’ rejection of sexual orientation or gender 
identity.27 There is thus a risk that future LGBTQ+ youth 
who experience homelessness will be younger and thus 
even more vulnerable than they are now.

24   As 22 (Dunne et al, 2002)

25   McNeil, J. Bailey, L., Ellis, S., Morton, J. & Regan, M. . (2012). Trans Mental Health. Retrieved from: http://worldaa1.miniserver.
com/~gires/assets/Medpro-Assets/trans_mh_study.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019.  

26   Abramovich, A. (2015). A Focused Response to Prevent and End LGBTQ2S Youth Homelessness. Prepared for Government of Alberta. 
Retrieved from: https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness. Last accessed 
30th July 2019.  

27   Coolhart, D & Brown, M. T. (2017). The need for safe spaces: Exploring the experiences of homeless LGBTQ youth in shelters. Children 
and Youth Services Review. 82, 230-238. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319661703_The_need_for_safe_
spaces_Exploring_the_experiences_of_homeless_LGBTQ_youth_in_shelters. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

28   McCoy, S. (2018). Danger Zones and Stepping Stones: Phase Two, A quantitative exploration of young people’s experience of temporary 
living. Retrieved from:. https://uk.depaulcharity.org/sites/default/files/DANGER-ZONES-REPORT-FINAL-EMBARGOED-TILL-00.01AM-
THURSDAY-22-MARCH-2018.pdf Last accessed 30th June 2019.  

Mental Health, Substance Misuse and Risk of 
other Harms to Homeless LGBTQ+ Youth

De Paul’s ‘Danger Zones and Stepping Stones’ report 
notes that of a survey of 712 young people who have 
experienced homelessness across the UK 16% were 
LGBT.28 This group showed a number of vulnerabilities 
which suggest that they are more likely to come to 
harm than non-LGBT young people who experience 
homelessness: 

T
udalen y pecyn 81

https://www.opressrc.org/content/missed-opportunities-youth-homelessness-america
https://www.opressrc.org/content/missed-opportunities-youth-homelessness-america
https://www.theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf
https://www.theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319661703_The_need_for_safe_spaces_Exploring_the_experiences_of_homeless_LGBTQ_youth_in_shelters
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319661703_The_need_for_safe_spaces_Exploring_the_experiences_of_homeless_LGBTQ_youth_in_shelters
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/136910502753389404.
http://worldaa1.miniserver.com/~gires/assets/Medpro-Assets/trans_mh_study.pdf
http://worldaa1.miniserver.com/~gires/assets/Medpro-Assets/trans_mh_study.pdf
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319661703_The_need_for_safe_spaces_Exploring_the_experiences_of_homeless_LGBTQ_youth_in_shelters
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319661703_The_need_for_safe_spaces_Exploring_the_experiences_of_homeless_LGBTQ_youth_in_shelters
https://uk.depaulcharity.org/sites/default/files/DANGER-ZONES-REPORT-FINAL-EMBARGOED-TILL-00.01AM-THURSDAY-22-MARCH-2018.pdf
https://uk.depaulcharity.org/sites/default/files/DANGER-ZONES-REPORT-FINAL-EMBARGOED-TILL-00.01AM-THURSDAY-22-MARCH-2018.pdf


1716

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

“The majority (59 percent) of survey respondents lost their stable 
accommodation when they were younger than 18, and were, therefore, in 
temporary living arrangements as children... LGBT young people were more 
likely than non-LGBT young people to say they had left stable accommodation: 
to escape emotional or mental abuse (36 percent compared with 17 percent); 
to escape violent abuse (21 percent compared with 12 percent), or because 
of their own mental health issues (21 percent compared with eight percent).”

29   McCann, E. & Brown, M. (2019). Homelessness among youth who identify as LGBTQ+: A Systematic Review. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 
2019: 1-12. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099. Last accessed 30th July 2019.  

30   Rosario, M., Schrimshaw, E. W. & Hunter J. (2011). Risk factors for homelessness among lesbian, gay and bisexual youths: A 
developmental milestone approach. Children and Youth Services Review. 34, 186-193. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
pmc/articles/PMC3279927/. Last accessed 30th July 2019

31   Bateman, W. (2015). LGBT Youth Homelessness: UK National Scoping Exercise. Albert Kennedy Trust. Retrieved from: https://www.
theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf

32   As 29 (McCann, E. & Brown, M.) 

33   Abramovich, A. (2015). A Focused Response to Prevent and End LGBTQ2S Youth Homelessness. Prepared for Government of Alberta. 
Retrieved from: https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness

The clear indication is that this is a group of people 
at greater risk of abuse at home, as well as one which 
suffers from mental ill-health to the extent that it harms 
their ability to remain in stable accommodation. 
LGBTQ+ youth are subject to specific stressors, 
including stigma and discrimination. A consequence 
of this is mental and physical ill health, with this 
manifesting in a number of ways, including risky sexual 
behaviour and substance misuse.29 

Rosario et al found that homeless LGB youths initiate 
substance misuse at an earlier age than non-homeless 
youth and that most substance misuse occurs 
alongside or subsequent to an initial episode of 
homelessness.30 Evidence from elsewhere shows that 
substance misuse issues are most often a consequence 
rather than a cause of homelessness.31

As well as the risk of psychological harm and 
substance misuse, the literature states that there 
are many more challenges facing LGBTQ+ youth; 
these can include obtaining safe shelter, staying in 
school, earning money and accessing social support 
and health services32. Whilst these are challenges 
shared by non-LGBTQ+ young people, they are 
often compounded by risks encountered on the 
streets and within support services which heterosexual 
and cisgender homeless youth are highly unlikely 
to experience, largely due to homophobic and 
transphobic violence and discrimination33. These 
additional risks mean that homeless LGBT youth are 
more likely to experience violence and discrimination, 
develop substance misuse problems, be exposed to 
sexual exploitation, and engage in higher levels of risky 

sexual behaviour, than their non-LGBT counterparts.34 
Prock & Kennedy note that LGBTQ+ homeless youth 
report higher rates of sexual victimisation, mental 
illness and substance misuse when compared to their 
heterosexual, cisgender homeless counterparts.35

Survival Sex 

With limited legal methods of supporting themselves, 
research suggests that many LGBTQ+ young people 
are forced to engage in sex work to meet their basic 
needs. 36 Walls and Bell define this as survival sex – a 
consequence of poverty and economic dependence.37  
Homeless youth who engage in survival sex are at 
increased risk of mental illness and at significant 
risk of contracting sexually transmitted infections.38 
Prock and Kennedy show that LGBTQ+ youth who 
experience sexual abuse before their first incidence of 
homelessness are more likely to report considerably 
greater sexual victimisation when homeless than 
LGBTQ+ young people who had not been abused as 
children. 39 Sexual victimisation can include unwanted 
sexual encounters, sexual assault or rape, or engaging 
in survival sex40. 

34   As 31 (Bateman AKT) 

35   Prock, K. A. & Kennedy, A. C. (2017). Federally-funded transitional living programs and services for LGBTQ+ identified homeless youth: 
A profile of unmet need. Children and Youth Services Review. 83, 17-24. Retrieved from: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2017-53025-004. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019.

36   McCann, E. & Brown, M. (2019). Homelessness among youth who identify as LGBTQ+: A Systematic Review. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 
2019: 1-12. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

37   Walls, E. & Bell, S. (2010). Correlates of Engaging in Survival Sex among Homeless Youth and Young Adults. The Journal of Sex 
Research. 48 (5), 423-436. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00224499.2010.501916?needAccess=true. 
Last accessed 30th June 2019. 

38   As 36 (McCann & Brown) 

39   Prock, K. A. & Kennedy, A. C. (2017). Federally-funded transitional living programs and services for LGBTQ+ identified homeless youth: 
A profile of unmet need. Children and Youth Services Review. 83, 17-24. Retrieved from: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2017-53025-004. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

40   As 38 (Prock and Kennedy) 

41   WHQ (2018). Call for Action to End Sex for Rent: Retrieved from: https://www.whq.org.uk/2018/12/03/call-for-action-to-end-sex-for-
rent/ Last accessed 25th April 2019.

42   As 41 (WHQ) 

43    As 41 (WHQ) 

While survival sex, sometimes known as sex for rent, is 
not a new issue, the use of social media platforms to 
advertise accommodation in return for sex means it is 
perhaps easier to solicit than before.41 WHQ (2018) 
cite the findings of Shelter Cymru’s 2017 YouGov 
survey that 3% of women and 2% of men who were 
private tenants were propositioned for sex in exchange 
for rent by their landlord in the last five years.42 This 
could equate to 6,900 women and 4,600 men at risk 
of this phenomenon in Wales.43 

T
udalen y pecyn 82

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3279927/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3279927/
https://www.theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf
https://www.theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness
https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2017-53025-004
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00224499.2010.501916?needAccess=true
https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2017-53025-004
https://www.whq.org.uk/2018/12/03/call-for-action-to-end-sex-for-rent/
https://www.whq.org.uk/2018/12/03/call-for-action-to-end-sex-for-rent/


1918

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Rice et al examined the prevalence and usage of 
mobile phones amongst homeless young people, 
finding that mobiles have a positive impact on young 
people’s ability to access housing.44 Linked to this, 
research on social media usage by homeless young 
people found that it enabled them to build networks 
in order to meet their immediate needs, for example, 
to find a bed for the night if they were sofa surfing.45 
There is an apparent gap in the available literature for 
research that considers the use of social media and 
hook-up apps, such as Grindr, by LGBTQ+ young 
people to access accommodation and how this links 
to survival sex. Recent criminal cases, such as that of 
the murderer, Stephen Port, indicate the significant 
risks inherent with use of hook-up apps; given the 
heightened vulnerability of young LGBTQ+ people 
experiencing homelessness, further work is needed to 
improve understanding of this phenomenon and how 
the risks can be reduced.

44   Rice, E., Lee, A and Taitt, S. (2011). Cellphone Use among Homeless Youth: Potential for New Health Intervention and Research. Journal 
of Urban Health: Bulletin of New York Academy of Medicine. 88 (6), 1175-1182. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/
articles/PMC3232411/. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

45   Palzkill Woefler, J & Hendry, D. G. (2012). Homeless Young People on Social Network Sites. Washington: University of Washington. 
Retrieved from: https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2207676.2208686. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

46   Abramovich, A. (2015). A Focused Response to Prevent and End LGBTQ2S Youth Homelessness. Prepared for Government of Alberta. 
Retrieved from: https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness. Last accessed 
30th July 2019. 

47   Boucher, D. (eds). (2006). The Housing Needs of lesbian, gay and bisexual (LGB) people in Wales. Cardiff: Triangle Wales, Trothwy 
Cyf, Stonewall Cymru and Welsh Government. Retrieved from: https://www.taipawb.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/LGB-Housing-
Homelessness-Report.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

Service Responses to LGBTQ+ 
Youth Homelessness

Data Collection

While evidence suggests that LGBTQ+ young people 
are overrepresented in the youth homeless population, 
as laid out above, we do not know the true extent of 
the issue because providers do not always collect data 
on sexual orientation or gender identity and, even 
when they do, there is a reluctance to disclose on the 
part of the presenting young person.46 Research on 
LGB housing issues in Wales in 2006 found that a lack 
of monitoring data acted as a barrier to understanding 
LGB housing need and prevented the provision of 
appropriate responses.47 

Not only does the literature suggest that data 
collection is an area for improvement from the 
perspective of service providers, but a lack of reliable 
data is compounded by the (entirely understandable) 
issue that young people might be unwilling to disclose 
this information as part of monitoring or an induction 
process.48 LGBT Youth Scotland found that young 
people were not comfortable coming out to services, 
having often experienced homelessness as a result of 
the response to their coming out to their families.49 
Shelton reports service access and acquisition is 
often complex and can be particularly dangerous for 
trans and gender expansive young people, who often 
experience stigma and discrimination and also face 
systematic barriers including sex-segregated programs 
and institutional practices.50 Such experiences may 
form the basis of a lack of trust in services which may 
inhibit honest responses to monitoring questions. 

In order to help young people feel more confident in 
sharing information on their sexual orientation and 
gender identities, thus informing the development 
of improved LGBTQ+ services, services can take 
a variety of steps. Fundamentally, improving staff 

48   Dunne, G. Prentergast, S. & Telford, D. (2002). Young, Gay, Homeless and Invisible: A Growing Population. Culture, Health & Sexuality. 4 
(1), 103-115. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/136910502753389404. Last accessed 30th July 2019.  

49   LGBT Youth Scotland “LGBT Youth Commission on Housing and Homelessness”. Retrieved from: https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/national-
programmes/policy-and-influencing/youth-commission-housing-and-homelessness/. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

50   Shelton, J. (2018). LGBT Youth Homelessness: What are You Going to Do about it? Public Integrity. 20 (6), 542-545. Retrieved from: https://
www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10999922.2018.1441963. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

51   Abramovich, A. (2015). A Focused Response to Prevent and End LGBTQ2S Youth Homelessness. Prepared for Government of Alberta. 
Retrieved from: https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness. Last accessed 
30th July 2019. 

understanding of the issues faced by LGBTQ+ people, 
to avoid the breakdown in trust between LGBTQ+ 
young people and youth-facing services, is a necessity. 
Beyond this, it has been suggested that homelessness 
projects, housing programmes and youth serving 
organisations could publically display appropriate 
and diverse resources for LGBTQ+ young people. 
These could include leaflets, flyers, posters on walls, 
information on coming out, on LGBTQ+ safe sex as 
well as information on local LGBTQ+ services and 
events.51 The creation of a welcoming environment, 
coupled with staff training on LGBTQ+ issues, may 
help young people feel more comfortable revealing 
sexual orientation or gender identity to service providers.

It must also be recognised that asking young people to 
share information about their gender identity and/or 
sexual identity is potentially extremely vulnerabilising. 
It is imperative that, where information is sought, this 
is for a specific purpose, and it is kept confidential 
and anonymised. Where gender or sexual orientation 
information is linked to other information, such 
as progress of a homelessness application, these 
concerns are significantly greater.  

T
udalen y pecyn 83

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3232411/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3232411/
https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2207676.2208686
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness
https://www.taipawb.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/LGB-Housing-Homelessness-Report.pdf
https://www.taipawb.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/LGB-Housing-Homelessness-Report.pdf
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/136910502753389404
https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/national-programmes/policy-and-influencing/youth-commission-housing-and-homelessness/
https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/national-programmes/policy-and-influencing/youth-commission-housing-and-homelessness/
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10999922.2018.1441963
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10999922.2018.1441963
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness


2120

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Training for Practitioners 

Many LGBTQ+ young people need support to prevent 
potential homelessness, but practitioners report they 
do not always feel confident in supporting LGBTQ+ 
young people, often because they do not have the 
appropriate training. 52  A UK-based systematic review 
of LGBTQ youth homelessness identified concerns 
about the limited availability of appropriate education 
and training.53 The need for LGBTQ+ cultural diversity 
training for all practitioners working with young 
people is recommended throughout the literature54. 
Abramovich argues that when cultural diversity training 
is not made mandatory staff and management do not 
feel prepared to intervene in situations of homophobia 
and transphobia.55 Research with practitioners working 
with young people suggests that without trained, 
culturally competent staff who can deliver services, 
young LGBTQ+ people will receive inadequate care 
or avoid the services they need all together.56 Sherriff et 
al suggest there is considerable value in co-designing 
training with young people and using their experiences 
as a learning tool, either working directly with 
homelessness-experienced young people or offering 
them the opportunity to participate by telling their 
stories in audio or film recordings.57 

52   LGBT Youth Scotland “LGBT Youth Commission on Housing and Homelessness”. Retrieved from: https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/national-
programmes/policy-and-influencing/youth-commission-housing-and-homelessness/. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

53   McCann, E. & Brown, M. (2019). Homelessness among youth who identify as LGBTQ+: A Systematic Review. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 
2019: 1-12. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

54   Dolamore, S. & Naylor, L. A. (2017). Providing Solutions to LGBT Homeless Youth: Lessons from Baltimore’s 
Youth Empowered Society. Public Integrity. 1-16. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/
abs/10.1080/10999922.2017.1333943?scroll=top&needAccess=true&journalCode=mpin20. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

55   Abramovich, A. (2015). A Focused Response to Prevent and End LGBTQ2S Youth Homelessness. Prepared for Government of Alberta. 
Retrieved from: https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness. Last accessed 
30th July 2019. 

56   Maccio, E. M. & Ferguson, K. M. (2015). Service to LGBTQ runaway and homeless youth: Gaps and recommendations. Children and 
Youth Services Review. 63, 47-57. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294122487_Services_to_LGBTQ_runaway_
and_homeless_youth_Gaps_and_recommendations. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

57   Sherriff, N., Hamilton, W. E., Wigmore, S. and Giambrone, B. L. B. (2011). “WHAT DO YOU SAY TO THEM?” INVESTIGATING AND 
SUPPORTING THE NEEDS OF LESBIAN, GAY, BISEXUAL, TRANS AND QUESTIONING (LGBTQ) YOUNG PEOPLE. Journal of Community 
Psychology. 39 (8), 939 – 955. Retrieved from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/jcop.20479. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

LGBTQ+ Specific Services 

Despite the overrepresentation of young LGBTQ+ 
people amongst the homelessness population, services 
are rarely set up with LGBTQ+ users in mind. Indeed, 
often services can be exclusionary and contribute to 
forcing young LGBTQ+ to find their own, potentially 
unsafe, solutions to their relationship programming 
that discusses only opposite-sex partnerships.58 
Researchers have noted that homeless projects may 
not adequately meet the needs of LGBTQ+ people, 
given their sexual orientation or gender identity, 
complex trauma history and mental health needs. 59 
It has been argued that the lack of understanding of 
LGBTQ+ young people’s needs means that, at best, 
homelessness services are not meeting their unique 
needs and, at worst, services alienate them due to 
heteronormative bias.60 

58   Maccio, E. M. & Ferguson, K. M. (2015). Service to LGBTQ runaway and homeless youth: Gaps and recommendations. Children and 
Youth Services Review. 63, 47-57. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294122487_Services_to_LGBTQ_runaway_
and_homeless_youth_Gaps_and_recommendations. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

59   Prock, K. A. & Kennedy, A. C. (2017). Federally-funded transitional living programs and services for LGBTQ+ identified homeless youth: 
A profile of unmet need. Children and Youth Services Review. 83, 17-24. Retrieved from: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2017-53025-004. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

60   As 58 (Maccio & Ferguson) 

61   Shelton, J. (2018). LGBT Youth Homelessness: What are You Going to Do about it? Public Integrity. 20 (6), 542-545. Retrieved from: https://
www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10999922.2018.1441963. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

62   As 61 (Shellton) 

63   Abramovich, A. (2015). A Focused Response to Prevent and End LGBTQ2S Youth Homelessness. Prepared for Government of Alberta. 
Retrieved from: https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness. Last accessed 
30th July 2019. 

64   Prock, K. A. & Kennedy, A. C. (2017). Federally-funded transitional living programs and services for LGBTQ+ identified homeless youth: 
A profile of unmet need. Children and Youth Services Review. 83, 17-24. Retrieved from: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2017-53025-004. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

The literature suggests service access and acquisition 
can be complex and/or dangerous for trans and 
gender expansive young people, who in addition 
to stigma, discrimination and transphobia will 
face systematic barriers including sex-segregated 
programmes and institutional practices.61 Shelton 
argues that because housing projects for young people 
have been designed by a cisgenderist ideology, they 
have not been designed to meet the needs of trans 
and gender expansive young people.62 Abramovich 
argues that instead of a “one size fits all approach” 
policies and programmes need to address the diverse 
needs of young people experiencing homelessness and 
accessing services. 63

It has been suggested that effective LGBTQ+ 
specific services should be LGBTQ+ affirming, effect 
non-discriminatory practices including both sexual 
orientation and gender identity and might include 
gender-neutral bathrooms and safe sleeping areas, 
as well as supporting access to medical treatment for 
services such as hormone replacement therapies.64 

T
udalen y pecyn 84

https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/national-programmes/policy-and-influencing/youth-commission-housing-and-homelessness/
https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/national-programmes/policy-and-influencing/youth-commission-housing-and-homelessness/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10999922.2017.1333943?scroll=top&needAccess=true&journalCode=mpin20
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10999922.2017.1333943?scroll=top&needAccess=true&journalCode=mpin20
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294122487_Services_to_LGBTQ_runaway_and_homeless_youth_Gaps_and_recommendations
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294122487_Services_to_LGBTQ_runaway_and_homeless_youth_Gaps_and_recommendations
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/jcop.20479
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294122487_Services_to_LGBTQ_runaway_and_homeless_youth_Gaps_and_recommendations
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294122487_Services_to_LGBTQ_runaway_and_homeless_youth_Gaps_and_recommendations
https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2017-53025-004
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10999922.2018.1441963
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10999922.2018.1441963
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness
https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2017-53025-004


2322

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

“(My family) treated it like it was a mental illness: ‘You can 
get help for this’, ‘You can be cured’. It was definitely one 
of the main reasons why I did become homeless.”

Key Findings from Interviews with LGBQ+ Young People 

65   Stonewall. (2018). Supporting trans women in domestic and sexual violence services: Interviews with professionals in the 
sector.  Retrieved from: https://www.stonewall.org.uk/system/files/stonewall_and_nfpsynergy_report.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

• Family breakdown was a predominant factor in almost 
every participant’s experience of homelessness. 
Their families’ response to finding out their 
sexual orientation or gender identity was a clearly 
contributing factor in this breakdown in most cases. 

• Participants called for earlier intervention to prevent 
family breakdown. The introduction of an Upstream 
service, as demonstrated in Geelong, Australia, 
would offer a potentially effective solution to future 
young people’s experiences of intervention, by 
flagging those at risk at an earlier point.

• LGBTQ+ young people face considerable harm 
when homeless, turning to survival sex in some cases.

• Mental ill health is present in every case and 
participants’ experiences of access to and support 
from mental health agencies were mostly negative. 
A more proactive offer to engage young people 
in mental health support before their situations 
deteriorated may have prevented much of the 
trauma experienced by some participants.

• Some participants noted that their schools were 
extremely important sources of support for them, 
but this was not an experience shared by all, with 
some participants clearly traumatised by experiences 
at school or feeling very let down by a lack of 
intervention from school staff.

• Trans people are known to be at elevated risk of 
domestic abuse; in this study, abuse was often 
compounded by previous familial rejection, 
meaning that young people typically had nowhere to 
turn when they were in an abuse situation, leading 
to homelessness.65

• Economic precarity also underpinned many young 
trans people’s experiences, with difficulties in 
obtaining and keeping employment, compounded 
by benefits restrictions for young people, making it 
very difficult for them to escape homelessness.

• Young trans people typically had poor experiences 
of homelessness services. Very few found them 
helpful. A large minority were put off approaching 
the services because they believed that they would 
be unhelpful or even judgemental; in several 
cases this was as a result of hearing of negative 
experiences with homelessness services from other 
trans people.

Pathways to Homelessness and Prevention

Participants’ routes to homelessness differed but 
relationship breakdowns with family members were 
noted as key. For example, one participant stated that:

“In April in 2018 I had a breakdown 
in the relationship with my mum, 
big time, and it turned into 
constant arguing and she made 
me homeless overnight and when 
she was away on holiday and I 
was at army camp, I rung up (third 
sector agency) and got emergency 
accommodation in the hostel.”

Participants stated that they felt the fact that they 
are LGBTQ+ had, in some way contributed to 
the situations which led to their homelessness. 
One young person stated: “I think that the 
majority of my family are homophobic”. 
That the response to their sexual orientation or 
gender identity was a contributory factor in their 
relationship breakdowns was clear in some cases: 

“My Dad used to beat me because I was bi-sexual 
and I have had a lot more female partners than 
male partners and my Dad didn’t accept that”

66   Russell, S. T., Pollitt, A. M., Li, G. & Grossman, A. H. (2018). Chosen Name Use Is Linked to Reduced Depressive Symptoms, Suicidal 
Ideation, anwd Suicidal Behavior Among Transgender Youth. Journal of Adolescent Health. 62 (4), 503-505. Retrieved from: https://
www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29609917. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

A lack of acceptance of the participants’ 
sexual orientation or gender identity was not 
noted by any participant as the sole reason 
for their homelessness, but it was a key 
contributory factor to family breakdown.

“Yes, I would say it had an impact. I wouldn’t 
say it’s fully the reason (for becoming 
homeless) but I would say it was a big part”

“It was a big part of it yes, obviously 
with being accepted or not.”

For young trans people, family rejection was often 
characterised by a refusal to use their correct name 
or pronouns, a practice which is understood to 
have severe mental ill health consequences.66

“They just refused to call me by my name, kept 
calling me she. Well I’m not she. Kept calling 
me by my deadname. Well that’s not who I 
am. Truth be told, I’ve never been her. It’s not 
like this should have been a surprise. I’d been 
telling them for years. So that’s when I left. 
Packed all my stuff and left. Just like that. I 
had to get away. But I had nowhere to go.” 

Two clear themes emerged from participants’ 
responses to questions about what might have 
prevented them from becoming homeless. 
Firstly a number of participants noted that they 
felt that had their relationships with certain key 
family members been better that they might 
not have become homeless, for example:

“I would say that if I had got on with my Auntie’s 
partner, there could have still been a chance I 
was living with her and the same with my Nan.”

Part 3: The Experiences of Young  
LGBTQ+ People who have been homeless.

T
udalen y pecyn 85

https://www.stonewall.org.uk/system/files/stonewall_and_nfpsynergy_report.pdf
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29609917
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29609917


2524

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Early intervention by family-focussed support 
services may have been helpful in these cases, but 
without engagement from parents/ guardians there 
is a limit to the effectiveness of such services:

“I did try and get mediation between me 
and my mum to try and sort it out but she 
was stubborn basically, she wouldn’t change 
anything so there wasn’t anything that I 
could do to stop it at the end of the day.”

Cases such as this one indicate a need for greater 
societal understanding of LGBTQ+ issues.

The other clear trend in response to questions about 
prevention was a desire for social services to have 
either intervened earlier or, in one participant’s 
case, to have demonstrated significantly greater 
sensitivity in disclosing his sexual orientation to his 
parents, in relation to a child sexual exploitation 
matter. In that case, the participant noted: 

“I think social services were massively detrimental 
to my situation. My Dad would never have known I 
was gay if social services didn’t tell (my parents)… 
I think that social services made things worse 
and after that I could just see the breakdown in 
the relationship. At that point, it created so much 
tension. I really didn’t sleep in my house more than 
four nights a week. I was sleeping at a friend’s 
house just because I couldn’t bear to go back to 
them and feeling embarrassed and ashamed” 

Participants described missed opportunities 
for early social services intervention:

67   Schwan, K., French, D., Gaetz, S. Ward, A., Akerman, J. & Redman, M. (2018). Preventing youth homelessness: An international review of 
evidence. Cardiff: Wales Centre for Public Policy. Available at: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/preventing-youth-homelessness/. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019. 

“Social services were involved from when I was 
4 up until I left and they didn’t do anything. They 
knew we were being beaten, they knew everything 
that was going down. They knew that they were 
trying to turn me straight but nothing was being 
done. Social services need to pull their finger out.”

“(My homelessness could have been prevented) 
if social services had interfered sooner. I think 
they saw the signs but my dad is quite good at 
covering his tracks when he used to hurt me.”

“I was looking after my sister but I honestly do 
think that social services and stuff need to buck 
up their ideas, and any other supporting child 
system, because if someone rings them to say 
“my mum’s doing this” or “my Dad’s doing that” 
or “My siblings are doing this”, they need to get 
that child out. It annoys me that they left me 
there with my mum for a longer time than they 
should have. I don’t think the really bad things 
would have happened if they’d really listened.”

The reasons for social services’ response, or lack 
thereof, in these cases were not explored in further 
detail and from a small sample it is hard to make 
generalised comments. Clearly, however, a greater 
understanding of the sorts of experiences LGBTQ+ 
young people go through would have made a big 
difference in some of these cases, so specific training 
may have helped. Earlier intervention may have been 
achieved with the introduction of an Upstream-style 
service, as detailed in the WCPP report ‘Preventing 
Youth Homelessness’, which explains how the 
Geelong Project, an Australian system, identifies 
young people at risk at an early stage, through 
universal screening at school and has achieved a 
40% reduction in youth homelessness as a result. 67

Experiences of homelessness

The participants noted numerous situations, 
throughout the interviews, in which they were at 
considerable risk of harm while homeless. 

Using social media to find a place to stay was 
something noted by a number of participants. 
Some mentioned the use of Grindr both for 
romantic liaison and for shelter and food.

“I have used Grindr lots. I used to start going on it 
when I was 14, I would go out to meet someone 
anyway but if they offered the opportunity to stay 
over I would definitely. If it was a night away 
from my parents then I would…. Since I’ve been 
14 I’ve used it to stay over guys houses or since 
I’ve been homeless I’ve used it to get a meal”

One participant noted explicitly the protective 
measures they felt they needed to take to 
avoid harm on these encounters:

“I have used Grindr to hook up. It’s like a 
gay tinder. It’s not about having meaningful 
relationships. Every time I’ve gone to meet 
a randomer I’ve had a knife in my boot.”

Most participants were clear that they had put 
themselves in harmful situations to gain shelter 
since becoming homeless, either by sharing 
accommodation with drug users or by putting 
themselves in situations in which they were likely 
to be asked for sex in return for a place to stay: 

“I was staying at my mate’s and my mate’s 
boyfriend is a drug addict and it was 
either go there or sleep on the streets. I 
would rather go there and just keep out 
of the way than stay on the street.”

“I used to hang around with all the men and 
people I knew would have drugs. We would be 
having a party just so I could be in someone’s 
house instead of having to sleep wherever.

“Sometimes I have gone over to someone’s 
house just to stay over there and I have had no 
interest or intention of sleeping with them but 
they have. I’m just kind of like no and they are 
like well you’re over my house. No, especially 
when it comes to sex I am assertive and I will 
say no. I’ve had someone verbally challenge 
that but never physically challenge. If they were 
to physically challenge that I would leave or 
depending how drastic it was, do something else.”

“I’ve been in homes where I’ve felt and 
known that I’m not wanted there, which 
has put me out of my comfort zone.”

Others described experiences of rough 
sleeping, on occasion to avoid harm at 
home or in another place of shelter: 

“I was staying with a heroin addict whilst sofa 
surfing. I walked into her room one night and 
caught her with foil and I caught her smoking it. 
I would rather sleep on a bench, so I did. I slept 
on a bench for 2 weeks. I’ve had my fair share 
of drugs so I just left that, it wasn’t for me.” 

Young trans people also engaged in risky behaviours 
in order to secure somewhere safe to stay. However, 
they typically entered relationships which were 
unsafe and which became abusive, yet, particularly 
in the absence of supportive family, they were often 
left with few options to allow them to leave.

T
udalen y pecyn 86

https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/preventing-youth-homelessness/


2726

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

“My girlfriend at the time was abusive, yeah. 
You know, 20/20 hindsight – great, isn’t it? 
But I was only 15, I didn’t have anywhere 
else to go. My step-dad- well he’s not a 
very nice person, shall we say? I just got on 
with it. No one was interested anyway. ” 

“Yeah I guess that relationship…I guess you’d call 
it coercive control. It took me a long time to realise. 
How do you even realise when the only person in 
the world who is ever there for you is a big part of 
the problem? Social services, the hostel, college, 
they were all useless, didn’t want to know. They 
were the only one who ever looked out for me” 

For trans participants, survival sex per se was not a 
significant finding. However, several participants 
reported sexually predatory behaviour by 
acquaintances, peers, or within support services, which 
they were exposed to as a result of being homeless 
and having few alternative options. Here, trans identity 
was typically a factor in sexual victimisation: young 
trans people were the subject of fetishation or curiosity.

Mental Ill Health

Experiences of poor mental health, whether before 
homelessness or as a result of becoming homeless, 
were rife amongst participants. 

“I felt quite lost and abandoned and I already had 
attachment disorder but I saw it got a lot worse 
when I felt that I was being abandoned and moved 
around so much. It made my mental health go 
downhill.” 

“I was trying to make myself straight again... I’ve 
only recently opened back up to the fact that I 
can’t change who I am.”

“My Bi-polar and PTSD was from before I was 
made homeless, and that was purely because of 
my mother. To this day, I cannot hear someone 
whistle near my ear without falling to the floor and 
not be able to do anything about it. I will go into a 
full-on panic attack. My mother was a whistler. 
She’d whistle after beating. She would go and sit 
down and smoke a fag. I have to deal with that to 
this day because you can be walking down the 
street and someone is whistling.”

One participant noted that a bed and breakfast 
placement had a directly negative impact on their 
mental health, which only improved on moving out 
and into their own accommodation:

“When I was in the Bed and Breakfast I was having 
a break down, it was a pure crisis. I was self-harming 
and feeling suicidal then but I didn’t seek anything 
out for it. I tried to access support for depression 
and anxiety and I was going through those kinds 
of feelings. I just left it and when I was offered a 
place I felt more of a sense of security in my head 
and those feelings decreased over the months after 
living here. When you are there, it’s just small 
room in a hotel there is no stability and no way  
of knowing how long you are going to be there.”

One participant stated that they had used drugs as a 
direct result of their homelessness, which had a 
significant impact on their mental health. 

“It increased my drug use because why else would 
I want to be sober on the streets? It just takes too 
long for the day to pass. So, obviously that caused 
me to have paranoia... it led me to have tablets 
every day, you know, so if I was in a nice home 
doing normal things, I wouldn’t have a bad mental 
health record because I wouldn’t be doing things 
that would affect me in that way.“

Support Mechanisms

All participants were asked about the support they had 
received, both in advance of their homelessness and 
since becoming homeless. A few key areas of provision 
were highlighted: statutory support (both homelessness 
services and social services); schools and colleges; 
mental health services (both statutory and third sector); 
and third sector support providers. 

Since these interviews were undertaken, Welsh 
Government has funded statutory youth services 
to specifically develop youth homelessness 
prevention as a part of their service; this nascent 
development is intended to improve early 
intervention and collaboration across different 
departments and, given time and sufficient 
resource, may go some way to addressing some 
of the issues mentioned by participants. 

Statutory Support

Experiences of statutory support varied. One 
participant noted:

“The council accommodated me. At the Info 
station they helped to put me into an adult hostel 
and things like that. But not really… Social services 
were never informed. I was on my own for the first 
six weeks. (third-sector homelessness provider) 
have been the only ones that helped me and 
it wasn’t until six weeks after. I was sixteen.”

Although it was not specifically asked, some 
participants noted that gaining access to statutory 
support was difficult. One, for example stated: 

“At 16 I was sofa surfing for nine months before 
I got accommodation and the only reason I got 
accommodation was because they offered me the 
Foyer but I stayed on a park bench instead for 
two weeks in the end so they had to get me flat 
then otherwise I was on the bench for the rest of 
it. A social worker who does conference meetings 
flipped her lid with my social worker and then 
contacted (third-sector homelessness provider).”

One noted: 

“Well, I didn’t get much support from the 
council, they only offered me a sleeping bag 
and a tent. But I got a lot of support from mental 
health teams pushing for me to get a place 
in (third-sector homelessness provider).”

One was pleased with the fact that a range of 
services came together to support them:

“I had (third-sector homelessness provider), 
I had my social worker, a YOS worker, I 
had counselling and CAMHS and stuff, so it 
was really good. I found them helpful.”

Another also mentioned a positive 
experience of joint working between the 
local authority and the third sector: 

“I think I found out I was being kicked out from 
the rehab on the Wednesday and rung them 
on the Thursday and had an interview on the 
Friday and then six weeks later I had a flat on 
my own and that’s when I heard about (third-
sector homelessness provider) then…. and 
they have been extra supportive every day.”

T
udalen y pecyn 87



2928

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Many trans participants had very different experiences. 
A minority were successfully placed in hostels. In 
these cases, what typically made the difference to 
the success of their placement was the presence 
of other young people who accepted them. 

“In the hostel, I live with 5 boys and 1 girl. The girl 
is the oldest in the hostel. All the boys class me as 
one of their boys and the girls class me as a boy.” 

However, some trans participants noted very poor 
experiences of third sector services. One young 
person described an experience of mediation in 
which he felt he was expected to see his gender 
as negotiable and subject to discussion.

“So we were sent to mediation- that’s where 
the homeless people sent me. Me and my mum 
and dad in a room eyeballing each other…the 
trouble is, they don’t want to accept I’m trans. 
I tried to explain to them [the mediators], they 
[parents] don’t want to talk to me. Whatever you 
say, they won’t accept me. It’s their daughter 
they want. And I’m not their daughter. The 
mediators were like, oh, you just need to talk to 
each other. You need to understand where your 
parents are coming from. Uh no. Waste of time.”

Schools/ Colleges

Some participants were predominantly positive about 
the support they received at school and college, 
both academically and, in some cases, with referral 
to and recommendations of support services:

“Yes, they were really helpful and supportive 
because I moved schools halfway through GCSE’s 
and I ended up going to private school and they 
were really supportive about everything. They gave 
me extra time.”

68   Allen-Kinross, P. (2019). Ofsted: Quarter of teachers have witnessed off-rolling. Retrieved from: https://schoolsweek.co.uk/ofsted-quarter-
of-teachers-have-witnessed-off-rolling/. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

“I have found that my college have helped me 
to get where I am today. I wouldn’t have known 
where to go if it wasn’t for them.”

“I spoke to my head of year and he offered support 
with anything if I needed it and the college I’m at 
have said if I have any financial difficulties I could 
speak to their funding organisation and they might 
be able to get financial support for certain things.”

“College were the ones that advised me to go 
to the Info station. Lucky enough…I became 
homeless at the end of my first year at college so I 
had time to get back onto my feet (in the holidays) 
and concentrate on my studies.”

By contrast, others had extremely negative experiences 
of school and college. One noted an experience that 
brings to mind the controversial practice of ‘off-rolling’ 
pupils whose grades are likely to bring down an 
institution’s average68:

“The head of A Levels was not supportive. I 
didn’t continue with A Levels because she didn’t 
help me and she was detrimental to me really. 
She said “now that you are in this situation are 
you going to be able to continue with A Levels. 
I might have to just drop you from A Levels 
because obviously you are not going to be 
able to continue”. When she said that to me I 
thought ‘is there any point in me even revising 
then?’ and I was in a Bed and Breakfast for 
three months of my A Levels. There was no room 
to put things anywhere or room to revise or 
get anything sorted. I was like why bother?” 

Another participant noted that their school failed to 
protect them from homophobic bullying:

“(The teachers) were the worst of them all. 
They were worse than the kids. I didn’t even 
go to college because of (bullying)… I didn’t 
leave with any GCSE’s like because by year 9 I 
was on a three-hour timetable because of the 
bullies. I couldn’t go into school for 6 hours a 
day without being abused. If I was to wear a 
wig, it would get snatched straight off my head 
and probably get burnt up the field. (My school) 
were terrible when it came to accommodating 
those needs. You had the odd one or two 
teachers who would be “like oh my God! I 
think you’re fabulous!” and then you wouldn’t 
see them for the rest of your life in school.”

One of the participants noted a lack of general 
education on LGBTQ+ issues which contributed to 
their feeling of isolation. This is a theme which arose 
again in questions about what the participants felt 
needed to change, later in the interviews.

“(At the time that) I was forced to try and 
convert, we weren’t taught anything about 
being gay in any way, shape or form, trans, 
bi, lesbian, there was nothing to say its ok to 
be with the same sex and this should have 
changed when I was still in school.”

“School did not educate officially on gender and 
sexuality. They spoke to me about it because it was 
an issue with bullying and that but there wasn’t 
any formal education on it in college or school.” 

The plans to deliver broader Relationship and Sexuality 
Education in Wales, including LGBT issues, will 
hopefully address some of these issues.

Mental Health Services

Responses to questions about support for participants’ 
mental health were mostly negative. Most participants 
who had accessed support (or tried to) were downbeat 
about their experience, as shown in the examples below:

“I went to CAMHS from the age of 5 until last 
year but they didn’t help. They were like, “it’s only 
a phase, you’ll be fine” but at that point in time 
they let me down a lot. I was self -harming by the 
age of 7 and did my first overdose at the age of 
8 but they kind of just let me go still… At first, it 
all started out as a cry for help. I needed help to 
get away from my Dad and they saw that but I 
just got locked in this world where I hated myself. 
I’ve got body dysmorphia, so I hate myself, I hate 
everything about myself and I was just going more 
and more downhill and no-one could see that I 
was. I went to a point where I was overdosing once 
a week and I couldn’t deal with anything but they 
still just let me go. I was going to appointments 
and I was getting people coming to see me but 
they just put it down to what was going on at 
home, they didn’t dig any deeper.” 

“I think they should listen to us and actually take 
into account that not all of us just want attention, 
be that having someone to talk to us or getting the 
medication to get through a day.”

“I didn’t get any help until I went into rehab really 
and I came off drugs because my mum thought I 
had like ADHD since I was a kid and she thought 
there was something wrong with me. She knew 
there was something wrong with me but they 
kept on pushing us away because I was on drugs 
and they said it was because of the drugs… and 
it wasn’t until I came off the drugs that I got a 
diagnosis of ADHD and Asperger’s and other 
things as well. I didn’t have a choice really; the 
doctors wouldn’t do anything.” 

T
udalen y pecyn 88

https://schoolsweek.co.uk/ofsted-quarter-of-teachers-have-witnessed-off-rolling/
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/ofsted-quarter-of-teachers-have-witnessed-off-rolling/


3130

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

“Well my experiences have been pretty rubbish. 
I’ve been pushed around from pillar to post and 
they finally gave me a diagnosis about two weeks 
ago, after fighting for nine years.”

Based on these interviews, it seems that an active 
offer of mental health support would have made a big 
difference. Prevention and early intervention are the 
ideal, but the following quote suggests that a more 
proactive offer of support at point of housing crisis 
would make a difference. This participant is describing 
how they felt that they dare not ask for more support 
after being offered accommodation, even though 
earlier in the interview they had described self-harming 
and feeling suicidal before that offer:

“It was weird… I thought that because I was in that 
situation I’d be getting too much support, I’d be a 
bit greedy. ‘Well he’s already getting money off us 
every week, he’s in this place and now he wants 
more support.’ I felt like a burden.”

Others noted that they had tried to address their 
mental health themselves, without relying on medical 
intervention. 

“I was trying to self-medicate and trying to do 
something about it. My mind was going so fast, my 
body wasn’t keeping up with it so I’d have some 
uppers and I’d be up for like 3 or 4 weeks and 
then if I couldn’t sleep I’d take downers so I could 
sleep then. So, I was trying to control my body with 
the drugs really but it doesn’t work.”

It is important that it is understood that young people 
resort to strategies like this to handle their mental ill 
health and that a lack of mental health support is often 
at the heart of the issue; withholding mental health 

69   National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. (2019). Health and social care directorate Quality standards and indicators Briefing 
paper. Coexisting severe mental illness and substance misuse. Retrieved from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gid-qs10078/
documents/briefing-paper. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

70   England, E. (2019). Homelessness among trans people in Wales. Retrieved from: https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2019/06/Homelessness-among-trans-people-in-Wales_Website.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

support until someone is clean is an inappropriate 
response. Recent NICE guidance recommends that 
secondary care mental health services should not 
exclude people with severe mental illness because of 
their substance misuse.69

Only one participant described a positive experience of 
mental health support: 

“(3rd Sector Mental Health Service Provider) were 
really good with things, especially the LGBT stuff. 
They were really accepting there. There are loads 
of people there who are LGBT and they are good 
at talking about stuff, addressing issues and 
challenging homophobia when it comes up. It’s a 
nice place there.”

It is noteworthy that this participant highlighted that 
support from other LGBTQ+ people was of particular 
benefit. Other research points to the benefits of a shared 
vocabulary and experience that employing LGBTQ+ 
staff to support LGBTQ+ service users can yield.70

Third Sector Homelessness Support

Participants spoke in a mostly positive fashion about 
the support that they had received from the third sector 
organisations working with them. As noted, recruitment 
of the young people in Participant Group 1, who 
form the majority of respondents whose responses are 
presented below, came via third sector homelessness 
services. Most were receiving ongoing support, which 
was clearly a positive influence in their lives. 

“Before I became homeless and before I 
approached (third-sector homelessness provider) 
I was not a confident person at all, I always felt 
negative. That is what helped me, so exactly 
what I have been through and what (third-sector 

homelessness provider) gave me is exactly what 
needs to happen with the LGBT community, just 
more of it. For people who couldn’t go back home, 
but there is a struggle, just more mediation, more 
support and more help to try and keep them with 
their families if necessary.”

“I received shelter from (third-sector homelessness 
provider). I was also offered counselling, I didn’t 
take it up but I was offered it. I also received 
numerous grants to help me get on my feet to live 
independently.”

“I think that (third-sector homelessness provider) 
have supported me in the best way that they can 
because I’ve got the best result. I have achieved 
the goal that they have set for me. I’m just going to 
try and work hard in college and better myself and 
see what the future holds.”

For all the positive comments though, based on the 
experiences of the participants there are some significant 
areas for improvement for third sector providers, 
particularly with regard to the sensitivity displayed when 
asking young people about their sexual orientation, 
suggesting that investment in staff training might improve 
young LGBTQ+ people’s experiences of support. 

“The support workers are just being nosy, they 
want to know for themselves. It never leads to 
anything when they end up finding out (about my 
sexuality). I’ve had four workers in the past who 
have asked me, I’ve ended up telling them and 
nothing has been done about it. They could have 
been like “there’s an LGBT group going on, let’s 
go and do this” but they weren’t. They were just 
being nosy. There is a way of asking. They don’t 
say why they are asking they just seem curious.” 

“When a worker meets a young person and that 
person is likely in the LGBT community, do not try 
and rush that young person into saying what they 
are. It’s nothing to do with you and as a worker 
you need to respect the fact that someone wants to 
keep it a secret. I’ve met lots of workers and they 
say “I don’t mean to be rude but are you gay?” 
and it’s like “I don’t mean to be rude but its none 
of your fucking business”. There is no need for it.”

One participant spoke about how being asked about 
their identity inappropriately by a staff member made 
them feel and how it affected their experience of living 
in shared supported housing:

“Do you not understand how someone else on 
the project, especially in (hometown), may be 
raised to have negative feelings towards the LGBT 
community? That made me feel unsafe where I’m 
living. At the time, I didn’t know these people. 
(The support worker) didn’t take into consideration 
how that would make me feel or why that would 
make me feel bad and the implications that could 
have on people… I felt so anxious for like a month 
with him knowing (my sexuality). I don’t know if 
the other boys living here know or would actually 
do anything because of it, or challenge me or say 
anything and that is an anxiety that I still carry 
round. I will carry it around until they leave. They 
might try to think I’m hitting on them or something, 
which is not the case. I fear communicating 
with them just in case they think something is 
misdirected. Staff could definitely take that into 
consideration but I don’t think it’s on their mind.” 

Some participants acknowledged that asking someone’s 
gender identity and sexual orientation was important 
to understand what support they might benefit from, 
but the issue of how this is asked for (and when) was a 
recurrent theme, with one participant stating: 

T
udalen y pecyn 89

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gid-qs10078/documents/briefing-paper
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gid-qs10078/documents/briefing-paper
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Homelessness-among-trans-people-in-Wales_Website.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Homelessness-among-trans-people-in-Wales_Website.pdf


3332

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

“I think I did disclose my sexuality straight away 
but I can see why someone should be phased by 
that. Especially if you’ve been kicked out for being 
LGBT and then you are asked and then could think 
is this going to be a barrier in terms of me getting 
help or a place. Is this person going to judge me 
from my response? Do they want to know so they 
don’t have to have me in their service? I have since 
found out that is not the case.”

Other comments reflected how the perception of 
the being the lone LGBTQ+ person in a supported 
housing project can make young people feel singled 
out and unnerved, supporting the argument for 
the development of LGBTQ+-specific supported 
accommodation:

“When you go for support in homeless places there 
are lots of dodgy characters around the house… 
it can be very intimidating being amongst loads of 
homeless people. The majority, when I was being 
supported, all of them were straight so it was very 
daunting because they were naturally intimidating 
people and being gay can feel like you are a 
target almost. I had just turned 16 and was the 
youngest there.”

Some service providers demonstrate their support 
for LGBTQ+ rights, with posters and flags visibly 
displayed, which can have a positive impact on young 
people’s experiences. Findings from the interviews 
suggest that displays like this alone are not enough to 
make people feel safe, though, and must be supported 
with appropriate training and policies. An anecdote 
from one of the study’s trans participants shows how 
these displays undermine confidence among the LGBTQ+ 
community if not supported with appropriate action:

“I was in the hostel, in reception, you know, waiting… 
a fight breaks out between these two lads. “You 
fag, you cocksucker, you tranny”. They are there 
screaming at each other and then there’s me... 
Staff were behind the counter, behind their screen, 
you know. Did nothing. Irony was- it was pride 
month or something, I don’t know. Anyway, all this 
right in front of a huge rainbow Stonewall poster”

Recommendations for Change from Young 
LGBTQ+ People with Experience of Homelessness

The final set of questions sought to understand what 
the participants would change to prevent young 
LGBTQ+ people from becoming homeless, what 
would help for those already homeless and what 
they saw as necessary for their own progression from 
supported housing. They included a question about 
what the young people would ask the First Minister of 
Wales to change if they had the opportunity.

A repeated theme through these conversations was 
a call for increased provision of LGBTQ+ – specific 
services, such as supported housing (in a response to 
the homophobia experienced by participants in shared 
housing and hostels) or mental health services which 
specifically cater for LGBTQ+ people:

“Sometimes I thought I don’t want to go into a hostel, 
cos I’m different and people will pick on me and that, 
so putting more protective housing in for (young 
LGBTQ+ people) maybe that would work. I don’t know, 
just to stop people from picking on what you are”

“You’ve got the mental health for all the different 
disorders but then they should have one for the 
LGBTQ people so that they could all get together 
and understand that they are not on their own 
at the end of the day. They have got the Amber 
Project, which is a self-harm project and is with 
a load of other people who self-harm but I think 
there should be one of them for people who are 
different sexualities or gender, so then we could  
all talk to each other.”

“I would just say, just more accommodation to help 
people within that community to give them the 
opportunity to go and live on their own and give 
themselves confidence.” 

On a similar note, one young trans person called 
specifically for domestic violence shelters that are 
gender neutral, stating: 

“I feel that DV services could benefit from shelters 
that are for all genders. It is useful to have 
women’s refuges and man’s refuges but we need 
another option for trans people who may not feel 
safe or comfortable in these gendered spaces. It 
would also benefit, say, mothers with teenage sons 
who are fleeing DV. The more options we can give 
people, the better.”

Education was another recurrent theme in the 
participants’ proposed areas for change.

“I would ask the First Minister to change the way 
that people go about things, instead of treading on 
eggshells when you are talking about it. I would 
ask him to educate parents especially or carers 
about what experiences the young person or adults 
go through when they are LGBT. I would ask him to 
educate carers, parents and even the community a 
bit more. Training in schools and colleges because 
they are quite hopeless in that situation.”

“Something I would ask the First Minister to 
change or implement would be the education 
about sexual minorities in schools. I think the 
education about LGBT is important because it sets 
the idea of it into people’s heads to normalise it 
rather than learning from word of mouth or the 
internet. It is something that would be accurate 
and does represent the community well and is 
informative and when those students become 
parents their children won’t need to come out as 
LGBT it will just be normal. There wouldn’t be a 
reason why they would become homeless. 

One participant wanted to see a Human Rights 
approach applied to the issue of LGBTQ+ youth 
homelessness:

“The things I would ask the First Minister to 
change, you couldn’t change. Diminishing the 
ideas that social institutions put into place. The 
family, for example, if someone’s family is religious 
and against LGBT people, if they have a child that 
child will be brought up like that. It’s the same with 
the education system, the same with any social 
system really, I don’t really think you can eradicate 
these things. Could he bring anything in on the 
UNCRC? I know that if you are a Muslim, for 
example, and your child wants to be a Christian, 
one of those rights is that you should allow your 
child to follow whatever religion in the same 
household. Is there a specific right for children 
being from a sexual minority?”

Other comments followed a similar theme – the 
participants did not feel protected from discrimination 
and were unclear on what their rights were when this 
happened:

“Calling people ‘faggot’ or ‘tranny’ should be a 
hate crime. There should at least be a fine for it. “

“I do think there should be valid punishments for 
people committing hate crimes against the LGBT 
community. It’s a hate crime…If we get hated we 
have to go on rallies and walk around the streets 
in drag. We should all be accepting of each other.” 

Participants called specifically for an improvement in 
the availability of community groups offering activities 
and the opportunity to develop relationships with 
peers. The research team visited and met with staff 
from 2 LGBTQ+ youth groups during the course of 
this work and both clearly had an extremely positive 
impact on those attending, giving the opportunity to 
socialise, learn and develop a sense of community 
(though funding was noted as being extremely tight for 
one of these groups).

T
udalen y pecyn 90



3534

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

“There should be more groups and youth clubs for 
people to be able to get together and understand 
each other and make sure that they know they are 
not on their own. I have had a lot of people come 
into my hostel and think they are on their own. I 
have been there for a year now and they think they 
are on their own but at the end of the day, we are 
not. No matter what sexuality you are, we are all 
the same and we are all in the same situation. We 
just need to find a way to get on and communicate 
with each other. Even just in the living room, on 
one night have a movie night or a games night or 
just something like that so that we all get together 
maybe once a week and just make sure that 
everyone knows they are not on their own.” 

“Have groups more often instead of one day in a 
week or something and make it a thing where you 
can actually go and hang out with people who’ve 
been through the same stuff and that way you 
can learn to go through some stuff you are going 
through that they have been through. Maybe that 
would help probably. Learning from other people 
in group situations and going to places, not just 
going to a centre and hanging out in one room 
like, be more like we’ll all meet and then go to the 
cinema or we’ll all meet and go bowling. Be able 
to do normal things instead of feeling that you 
can’t go out.”

Faster routes to suitable accommodation were a clear 
priority area for change: 

“There should be more services because when 
I was moving to (third-sector homelessness 
provider), before I was put on emergency priority, 
I was looking at waiting almost a year to move 
in…. If someone is becoming homeless, or they 
are homeless they definitely have a good reason 
and no-one does it out of the blue. If they need 
to move in, they need to get somewhere quickly. 
Make more accommodation available.” 

“I would probably make a bit of a change to the 
council to tell them to have closer links with local 
homeless charities instead of just saying they will 
give you a tent and a sleeping bag. That’s no help 
it’s just hopeless.”

Financial support was another area that young people 
told us needed to be improved, to enable them to 
make the necessary changes in their lives to move on 
from homelessness and live independently: 

“I’m on income support, the payments from 
income support just about suffice and by just 
about, I mean I have about a quid left by the time 
I’ve come to pay day. I can’t make humongous 
investments. Until I get a full-time job I more than 
likely wouldn’t be able to do a driving test or even 
get a provisional.”

“I think it should be something that 
as a service we are much more 
comfortable talking about with 
clients, understanding how their 
sexuality or gender could affect their 
life experiences and how in turn 
that affects their housing needs.”

Key Findings from Survey of Practitioners:

•  A clear finding from our survey is that there is a 
strong desire for training for those working with 
young people, so that they feel better informed as 
to how to appropriately support LGBTQ+ young 
people. There was, broadly, a very positive attitude 
to wanting to help as much as possible, but a 
lack of in-depth knowledge was holding some 
practitioners back.

• Similarly, more information on which specialist 
providers to refer young people to would be 
welcomed by many.

• Although most felt that their working environment 
was a welcoming space for LGBTQ+ youth, many 
stated that there were no particular provisions made. 

Respondents

A survey was designed based on a similar approach 
taken in Scotland, by LGBT Youth Scotland, which has 
seen them make significant progress on the issue of 
LGBTQ+ Youth Homelessness. This was shared with 
members of third sector and local authority bodies 
who work with young homeless people via three 
routes: third sector participants were accessed via 

Cymorth Cymru; LA homelessness practitioners via 
the LA Homelessness Network; and social workers 
(whose role in youth homelessness has been clarified 
since the Southwark Judgement in 2009) via ADSS 
Cymru. All of these organisations have wide reach 
across professionals in their specific areas and we 
are grateful for their involvement. A methodological 
note: the researchers did not question the extent of 
the distribution of the survey so it is hard to know the 
proportion of respondents, but a response rate of 61 
people in total offered some useful data, nevertheless. 

Roughly, one quarter of respondents were LA 
homelessness professionals; another quarter social 
services; 10% from homelessness charities and the rest 
from various sources, such as housing associations, 
mental health charities and domestic abuse support 
organisations. 50% were managerial and the rest 
were predominantly frontline workers (with one person 
noting that they were a commissioner of services).

Beyond these, demographic details, including the LA in 
which respondents were based, were not requested.

Monitoring

94% of respondents monitor the gender of people 
who present to their services, but only 56% record 
whether those people are trans or not. 73% record the 
sexual orientation of those presenting to their services. 
Most of the 19 respondents who provided further 
details of this noted a list of options provided (e.g. 
‘heterosexual/ straight, gay, lesbian, bisexual, other, 
prefer not to say’), but one respondent noted that their 
organisation’s position is that ‘clients are asked what 
their orientation is without providing any labels’. 

As noted elsewhere in this report, monitoring sexual 
orientation and gender identity is a particularly 
sensitive issue; for young people who may have 
recently been kicked out of home after revealing their 
sexual orientation or gender identity, there is a need 
for utmost sensitivity in asking for this information. 

Part 4: Survey of Local Authority 
and Third Sector Practitioners

T
udalen y pecyn 91



3736

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Not providing labels can lead to a sense of feeling 
‘othered’. Ultimately, services should develop their 
approaches to monitoring in conjunction with 
LGBTQ+ groups and people, explaining clearly why 
the data is being requested and working together to 
identify how it can be most effectively collected. 

Of interest to this issue are the responses to the question 
‘On your initial introduction to someone who will use 
your service, do they have opportunity to talk through 
their experiences in a private environment where there 
is no possibility of their conversation being overheard?’. 
While the vast majority (all bar 4 respondents) answered 
‘Yes’, the comments below revealed that this is not 
necessarily the case in every situation; that a presenting 
service user might need to request privacy or, it could be 
presumed, be asked to provide detail on gender identity 
or sexual orientation in a space that is not private. 

“We take initial information down on reception 
and then if they wish to discuss something in 
private we take them to a room. If they absolutely 
don’t want to discuss any aspect of their housing 
on reception we can take them into a quiet room.”

“Should client be unwilling to disclose  
information on desk, can be interviewed  
by officer in private room.”

It is not hard to imagine that a young person, in a 
new environment, recently made homeless and self-
conscious about their sexual orientation, might lack 
the confidence necessary to ask for privacy, or might 
find it easier not to disclose their sexual orientation at 
this point. Services can work to gain the trust of the 
LGBTQ+ community with training undertaken by staff 
and visible demonstrations of support for LGBTQ+ 
rights. For more on this point, see the example of the 
Rock Trust, provided in Part 4.

Confidence, Training and Training Needs

Taking inspiration from the Scottish approach to their 
survey, we included two questions about levels of 
understanding and confidence amongst staff working 
with young homeless people. Both highlighted 
that most staff were confident in their abilities to 
support appropriately and in their knowledge of the 
specific issues young LGBTQ+ people at risk of 
homelessness might face, but there was clearly scope 
for improvement in both areas. Less than 20% felt fully 
confident and just 28% said they had a firm grasp on 
young LGBTQ+ people’s needs. 

Q8. Do you feel that you understand the specific 
needs of LGBTQ+ young people (i.e. 16-25) who 
present to your service? E.g. an understanding of 
the provision of gender-appropriate services for 
trans people. 

Figure 1. Stakeholder Understanding of LGBTQ+ Young People’s Needs

Q9. How would you rate your own confidence in 
dealing with the specific issues of young LGBTQ+ 
people who present to your service?

Figure 2. Stakeholders’ Confidence in Dealing with LGBTQ+ Young 
People’s Specific Needs

With regard to training, which would help those whose 
do not feel fully confident in their understanding 
of the issues faced by LGBTQ+ young people, a 
slim majority (51%) of respondents told us that their 
organisation does not offer training which focusses 
specifically on sexual orientation and gender identity. 
This, combined with the results of the open question at 
the end of the survey (see below) is indicative of a clear 
need and demand for training in this area. 

71   Stonewall (2017). What’s in My Area: Find LGBT services and community groups that are local to you. Retrieved from: https://www.
stonewallcymru.org.uk/help-advice/whats-my-area. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

Services and Referral

Most answered ‘no’ (93%) to whether they provided 
specific services for LGBTQ+ young people, with one 
LA Homelessness Team member stating: ‘No, there 
isn’t a need for it’. Others noted ‘We don’t provide 
any services but would seek and support anyone 
who may need this. And support them to get this 
info’ and ‘No but we are able to access information 
and support citizens in accessing groups and 
information’, suggesting that, in some cases, there is 
an awareness of where to turn for specific support. 

On this point, 51% of respondents stated that they 
do refer people to specialist services, with a number 
of different agencies highlighted in the comments as 
sources of support to whom agencies refer. These 
included: Unique; VIVA; Broken Rainbow; Rainbow 
Bridge; Unity; Stonewall Cymru; Umbrella; and GLAD. 
Stonewall Cymru provides a useful resource on their 
website via which users can access information on 
groups and specialist providers in their areas.71

One respondent noted: “We have had a number of 
tenants who, whilst accessing our services, have 
been undergoing surgery to support their decision 
to identify as transgender. For this reason, we have 
good links with support groups local to (our area) 
for Transgender service users. We also have a good 
awareness of what agencies are out there to help 
Young People accessing our services.”

0% 20%

No, not at all

I have a limited...

I have a firm grasp on the...

40% 60% 80% 100%

0% 20%

Not confident at all

Only slightly confident

Reasonably confident

40% 60% 80% 100%

Fully confident

T
udalen y pecyn 92

https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/help-advice/whats-my-area
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/help-advice/whats-my-area


3938

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

A Welcoming Environment 

Question 10 asked respondents about how they felt 
about the environment they provided for LGBTQ+ 
young people (see fig. 3).  

Q10. Do you feel that your service offers a 
welcoming environment for LGBTQ+ young 
people? E.g. do you visibly demonstrate support for 
LGBTQ+ rights?

Figure 3. Stakeholders’ Perceptions of Whether their Service Offers a 
Welcoming Environment for LGBTQ+ Young People

 
While the majority suggested that they did, indeed, feel 
that theirs was a welcoming space for LGBTQ+ young 
people, the comments suggest that in many places no 
specific effort is made. 

Comments included:

“Housing options is very neutral and is open for 
everyone regardless of gender, sexual orientation, 
ethnicity etc. and all the staff treat everyone 
equally. It does not visibly demonstrate support like 
posters and banners.”

“We are welcoming to LGBTQ+ but we don’t 
visibly demonstrate the support for their rights. 
There are a number of things we would need to 
visibly demonstrate publicly if we started with one 
group of young people. Perhaps it is something we 
could consider in the meeting rooms to make them 
feel more at ease.”

One respondent, from a LA Homelessness Team 
questioned ‘Why should we demonstrate our 
support for LGBTQ+ rights when we approach all 
citizens in a non-judgemental supporting way? 
Would it not be going against equality to make 
additional provisions?’

Another respondent, also from a LA homelessness 
team, highlighted a systems-issue which is preventing 
them from providing specific support to some 
LGBTQ+ people:

“Our systems are not set up to record any gender 
except female / male. If young people are 
transitioning we do not have the capacity to log 
this or to change their gender preference / name 
preference until it’s a legal change.”

This quote is indicative of a patchwork of different 
approaches – some trans participants noted that they 
had had a very positive experience when asking to 
have their gender changed on LAs’ systems. When 
done quickly and without fuss it was very much 
appreciated.

One respondent noted that they were concerned about 
service users’ views undermining staff efforts to create 
a welcoming environment:

“We operate a shared supported housing 
service for people with complex and enduring 
mental health needs so although we would 
look to do all we can to provide a welcoming 
environment I would have concerns that 
the views and prejudices of some of the 
people we house would cause problems.”

Adoption of a zero-tolerance to homophobia 
approach would be a positive step forward in those 
practitioner organisations who do not already have 
a clear policy in this regard. “Adopting a zero-
tolerance position is not the same as a guarantee that 
harassment will not occur. It is a statement of intent, 
with clear expectations, sanctions and remedies for 
responding to harassment.”72

Positively, there were some examples of organisations 
proactively working to make LGBTQ+ young people 
feel welcome, citing examples of how they make 
their environments more visibly welcoming, such as 
“Positive promotion using images and case studies” 
and “We include LGBT posters e.g. end youth 
homelessness Cymru”. Another talked about visibility 
of LGBTQ+ support as part of a wider strategy: 

“We are signed up to Stonewall as a local authority 
and display posters and raise awareness through 
set days. Refer them to Peter Tatchel for further 
advice and guidance”

72   Scottish Housing Regulator (2009). Understanding the Housing Needs and Homeless Experiences of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 
Transgender (LGBT) People in Scotland A Guide for Social Housing Providers and Homelessness Services. Retrieved from: https://www.
south-ayrshire.gov.uk/documents/stone%20wall%20lgbt%20guidance.pdf. Last accessed 30th June 2019. 

Ideas for Change

The final question of the survey was “Do you have any 
ideas for changes that could be made to improve your 
service for LGBTQ+ young people?” which elicited 
some constructive ideas, summarised below: 

Exploration of LGBTQ+-specific services was 
recommended, with one respondent noting:

“We have supported a number of young homeless 
YP’s who have identified as LGBTQ. I feel a service 
should be developed for LGBTQ young people that 
allows them to express and explore their sexuality 
and identity.”

There was a particularly high demand for training and 
information sharing:

“more in depth training for staff to enable them 
to provide a stronger support network for an 
LGBTQ+ service user”

“Some training for the staff since a lot of staff 
members that make up the whole of the support 
staff in the company are a part of the LGBTQ+ 
community”

“Diversity officer to make contact to attend team 
meetings and share information about their role 
and any events which would be relevant for us to 
share with young people who may want to attend”

0% 20%

Yes

No

40% 60% 80% 100%

T
udalen y pecyn 93

https://www.south-ayrshire.gov.uk/documents/stone%20wall%20lgbt%20guidance.pdf
https://www.south-ayrshire.gov.uk/documents/stone%20wall%20lgbt%20guidance.pdf


4140

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

“training to staff about the potential vulnerability 
of LGBGT applicants when they are facing 
discrimination within travelling communities or 
from local communities and the potential risks 
they would be exposed to if they became homeless 
(attacks, targeting, etc)”

“more resources to be made available, handouts 
and visually”

“We should receive LGBTQ+ training so people 
understand the different definitions, people 
are more sensitive to clients who present who 
don’t confirm to binary gender definitions or 
heterosexual / gay / bisexual. I think it should 
be something that as a service we are much 
more comfortable talking about with clients, 
understanding how their sexuality or gender could 
affect their life experiences and how in turn that 
affects their housing needs.”

Two comments, in particular, both from local authority 
staff, reinforced the need for more training and 
awareness of the specific needs of LGBTQ+ young 
people and why they might require additional or 
distinct support to a non-LGBTQ+ young person:

“not treat them as different or special. they are all 
young people sexuality race or religion aside”

“No, on the grounds of equality I do not see any 
additional provisions which can be made without 
going above and beyond. There should be an 
equal grounding where everyone feels welcome. 
I don’t care about peoples sexuality, religion, 
culture. we are all people.”

Improving environments for young people, in 
partnership with specialists, was an issue raised by 
some respondents:

“closer working with Stonewall to ensure reception 
areas are clear that we are supportive.”

Two people noted a need for more information to be 
made available to the wider community:

“We could do more awareness raising in the 
LGBTQ+ community to ensure that they are aware 
of what healthy relationships look and feel like 
and ensure that they know how inclusionary our 
service is should they ever need to access support 
for domestic abuse”

Finally, and perhaps most positively, a suggestion was 
made that changes to services should be coproduced 
with both service users and LGBTQ+:

“Service user involvement and LGBTQ+ staff 
involvement to plan and drive change. Outreach to 
groups / services to support us with that.”

Part 5: Insight from Experts via the End 
Youth Homelessness Cymru Task Group on 
LGBTQ+ Youth Homelessness

“Creating a culture of diversity… raising awareness on equality and non-
discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in 
education settings and investigating all incidents of violence and discrimination 
against LGBT youth, holding perpetrators accountable will be necessary 
measures to effectively address the underlying causes of homelessness.”73

73   Office of the United Nations High Commissioner on Human Rights (2019). The right to housing of LGBT youth: an urgent task in the 
SDG agenda setting. Retrieved from https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=24877&LangID=E Last 
accessed 13th August 2019

Key Findings of the EYHC LGBTQ+ 
Youth Homelessness Task Group

• Prevention of Homelessness was a major point of 
discussion. A cultural shift in how LGBTQ+ issues 
are understood is ultimately necessary. Alongside 
this, the group discussed a number of ways to 
better engage with young people at an earlier age, 
acknowledging that youth involvement is a necessity 
in the design of services, if we are to ultimately end 
LGBTQ+ youth homelessness. 

• Youth-serving agencies could help to prevent 
homelessness amongst young LGBTQ+ people by 
co-producing locally relevant guidance to support 
young people who want to come out, as well as 
their families, such as that provided by AKT.

• School-based support is crucial to helping LGBTQ+ 
young people avoid homelessness and appropriate 
resources (e.g. Stonewall Cymru’s ‘Creating a Trans 
Inclusive School’ report) should be accessed by all 
schools and colleges.  

• Some excellent ideas as to how homelessness 
organisations might better work with LGBTQ+ 
organisations, with subsequent benefits for both 
parties, such as improved referral routes, shared 
skills and improved levels of trust from local 
LGBTQ+ people with consequent benefits for 
uptake of services. 

• The group focussed on the question of how to make 
LGBTQ+ youth homelessness everybody’s business, 
suggesting that local authority homelessness 
strategies should be revisited, in consultation with 
local LGBTQ+ groups, to ensure that the issue is 
addressed effectively. 

• In order to ensure a comprehensive overview of 
LGBTQ+ youth homelessness and its prevention 
can be developed, the group identified a number 
of areas for further investigation, both in terms of 
academic exploration, but also for consideration 
from service providers. These include links between 
LGBTQ+ youth homelessness and sex work, gender, 
race, disability and economic disadvantage. 

T
udalen y pecyn 94

https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=24877&LangID=E


4342

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Introduction

This section of the report sets out the findings of a 
working group made up of experts in the areas of 
homelessness and LGBTQ+ issues, which met 6 times 
across 2018 and 2019.

Andrew White, Director of Stonewall Cymru and 
a member of the End Youth Homelessness Cymru 
steering group, chaired the group responsible for this 
report. 

Contributions came from a varied membership whose 
expertise was crucial in compiling the following report. 
The group consisted of the following people: 

• Andrew White, Director of Stonewall Cymru (Chair)

• Edith England, Researcher at Cardiff University and 
Shelter Cymru

• Alicja Zalesinska, Director of Tai Pawb

• Lindsay Cordery-Bruce, Chief Executive of The 
Wallich

• Joy Kent, Consultant at Joy Unlimited

• Claire Owens, Deputy Team Manager (Homeless 
Prevention Team) at Denbighshire County Council

• Charlotte Davies, Youth and Community Manager, 
YMCA Swansea (plus representatives from her team)

• Lisa Cordery-Bruce, Specialist Community Public 
Health Nurse (Child Health) at Switched On 
Substance Misuse Service

• Adam Jones, Public Health Practitioner – Policy at 
Public Health Wales

• Jen Daffin, Chair of Psychologists for Social Change

• Emily Jenkins, Project Coordinator for End Youth 
Homelessness Cymru

• Hugh Russell, Project Manager of End Youth 
Homelessness Cymru

In addition to the membership of the group, experts 
from across Wales and beyond were called upon for 
their views on what it would take to prevent young 
LGBTQ+ people from experiencing homelessness. The 
key informants who provided their insight were: 

• Annie Emery, Operations Director at Albert Kennedy 
Trust

• Rachel Benson, Equality, Inclusion and Programmes 
Manager at Youth Cymru

• Gary McMillan, Housing Support Project Worker 
and chair of LGBTIQ Focus Group at the Rock Trust

• Diane Jones, Systems Therapist at CAMHS 
Denbighshire

• Hannah Rowan, Project Manager VIVA LGBT, West 
Rhyl Young People’s Project

• Faye Willett, Young Persons Homeless Officer, 
Conwy Council

• Phillip Mullen, Postgraduate Research Student, 
Newcastle University 

• Janice Stevenson, Development Officer, LGBT Youth 
Scotland 

Aim

The aim of the group was established as providing End 
Youth Homelessness Cymru with a clear position on 
what needs to change in Wales for homelessness to be 
prevented for young LGBTQ+ people, where possible, 
and what needs to change for young LGBTQ+ people 
who still do become homeless to be guaranteed the 
support they need to move on quickly and effectively 
from homelessness services.

Prevention of Homelessness

Much of the group’s discussion focussed on the specific 
steps that could be taken to prevent LGBTQ+ youth 
homelessness. Conversations with representatives of 
homelessness-focussed organisations, such as the 
Albert Kennedy Trust in England and the Rock Trust in 
Scotland, were instructive, providing an insight into 
what effective and sensitive service delivery looks like 
for young LGBTQ+ people at risk of homelessness. 
The group also discussed the issue of prevention at a 
wider level, before the intervention of homelessness-
focussed organisations was necessary.

The group spoke with Annie Emery, Director of 
Operations for the Albert Kennedy Trust (AKT), an 
English organisation which provides support and 
accommodation to young LGBTQ+ people who are 
homeless or at risk of homelessness. Annie’s input was 
particularly instructive on the subjects of prevention 
and youth engagement. With 14-18 year olds 
comprising 40% of their service user group, AKT are 
developing an expertise in engaging early to prevent 
youth homelessness in the LGBTQ+ community.74

In order to achieve this early engagement, AKT have 
found that it is crucial to have a digital presence with 
which young people can interact. To this end, they 
have created a digital mentoring project, which offers 
an effective mechanism for getting to young people 
with whom they might otherwise struggle to engage 
(e.g. those living far from where they offer traditional 
services). AKT also use social media live sessions, e.g. 
live chats on Facebook with experts talking on trans 
issues, benefits etc. for young people to engage with. 
The live chat service on their website has proven very 
effective, with pop ups asking people if they want to 

74   Albert Kennedy Trust (2019). Business Plan Update. Retrieved from: https://www.akt.org.uk/News/business-plan-update. Last accessed 
30th July 2019.  

75   Albert Kennedy Trust. (no date). your toolkit. Retrieved from: https://www.akt.org.uk/Blogs/toolkit. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

76   Stonewall Cymru. (no date). Creating a Trans Inclusive School Cymru. Retrieved from:. https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/creating-trans-
inclusive-school-cymru Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

chat. They work to an online safeguarding policy co-
developed with NSPCC.

Young people who have worked with AKT have 
told them that they have found it helpful to have 
conversations with experts before they broach the topic 
of their sexual orientation or gender identity at home. 
Building on this, AKT have developed an online service 
called Your Toolkit, offering resources written by young 
people for others in need of information or support, 
which includes advice on coming out to family, as well 
as practical steps on how to approach the council for 
help with homelessness, if necessary.75 

The issue of school-based preventative work was 
one which came up frequently within the group’s 
discussion. The group were firmly supportive of schools 
teaching their pupils about LGBTQ+ issues and 
examples of good practice in this regard were noted. 
These included the resources Stonewall Cymru have 
developed for schools to use, including Creating a 
Trans Inclusive School, a bilingual publication partly 
funded by Welsh Government.76 Support for young 
people, or a lack thereof, at school, through referral 
to LGBTQ+ or homelessness services, for instance, 
was noted as a significant factor in young people’s 
experiences in the research undertaken by EYHC. The 
plans to ensure that relationship and sex education 
lessons are LGBTQ+ inclusive in Wales was welcomed 
by the group.

AKT work in schools with services targeted at 12-13 
year olds aiming to make connections with young 
people, as well as ensuring that the school staff know 
that they are there if their expertise is required and 
providing training to those staff. 

Rachel Benson stated that there is a need for increased 
support for parents and families of young LGBTQ+ 

T
udalen y pecyn 95

https://www.akt.org.uk/digital-mentors
https://www.akt.org.uk/News/business-plan-update
https://www.akt.org.uk/Blogs/toolkit
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/creating-trans-inclusive-school-cymru
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/creating-trans-inclusive-school-cymru
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/creating-trans-inclusive-school-cymru
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/creating-trans-inclusive-school-cymru


4544

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

people. She said that TransForm Cymru signpost 
people to Mermaids, who don’t have a physical 
presence in Wales, and FFLAG (Friends and Family 
for LGBT) who provide support for families and meet 
monthly in Cardiff. Given the high prevalence of 
family breakdowns reported in the LGBTQ+ Youth 
Homelessness in Wales study, there is clearly more 
to be done to help parents to adjust to a young 
person coming out, with the potential for improved 
understanding leading to a reduction in the rejection  
of young people and subsequent homelessness. 

Improving Services for 
Homeless Young People

LGBTQ+ young people for whom homelessness has 
not been prevented have reported mixed experiences 
of the services they have received, subsequently. Philip 
Mullen noted that his research has found that LGBT 
youth in the UK often reported experiencing rejection, 
homophobia and transphobia from support staff in 
non-specialist organisations that were supposed to 
be helping them, as well as from other young people. 
The group discussed a number of areas in which 
homelessness services could be improved in Wales. 

Introducing LGBTQ+ specific accommodation

There is a distinction between LGBTQ+ inclusive 
homelessness services and services specifically designed 
for LGBTQ+ people, such as supported accommodation 
reserved solely for use by LGBTQ+ people. Successful 
examples of this type of accommodation can be found in 
cities including Toronto and London.77 78

77  Miller, K. (2017). 5.3 YMCA Sprott House: Creating a Better Space for LGBTQ2S Youth in Toronto: Sprott House our First Year. Retrieved 
from: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/5.3_YMCA_Sprott_House.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

78  Cowan, M. (2019). ‘LGBT shelter means I can be myself’. Retrieved from: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-48122185. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

The issue of LGBTQ+-specific supported 
accommodation was discussed within the group 
and welcomed, as it was felt that for young people 
who may have faced intolerance from peers when 
accessing existing, non-specific accommodation, the 
possibility of living in a shared-LGBTQ+ space could 
offer a more positive experience. Phillip Mullen stated 
that within his research the young LGBTQ+ people 
who experience homelessness had, in almost every 
case, faced rejection, isolation and stigma for being 
LGBTQ+. He also found that many of these youth 
valued interacting with a diverse group of LGBTQ+ 
young people with a range of identities, as this 
supported them to explore identities that in some cases 
better reflected the way they felt about their identity. 
For this reason he recommended that LGBTQ+ 
specific supported accommodation should be provided 
to reflect the importance of accepting peer support 
networks to these youth, alongside how these specific 
services would shield LGBTQ+ young people from 
homophobia and transphobia.

Proactive Offers of Privacy

A key issue which the group focussed on was that of 
homelessness services using open environments to 
discuss sensitive issues. Philip Mullen stated that his 
fieldwork repeatedly found that a lack of privacy within 
homelessness and governmental services (e.g. Housing 
Options Services) made young people uncomfortable 
with disclosing their needs that resulted from their 
identities. This reflected a wider need for cultural 
change to make homelessness services more inclusive 
and aware of LGBTQ+ young people. In response to 
this issue, Andrew White noted that when he worked 
on the Welsh Language Board working with the Health 
sector, he looked at the health needs of first language 
Welsh speakers and worked to ensure that a proactive 
offer of a service in Welsh would be made up front. 

Andrew explained that public bodies are under 
legal duty to collect data on sexual orientation 
and gender identity in Wales, but it was crucial 
that this was done sensitively.79As such, a clear 
recommendation from the group is that private 
space should be proactively offered to all young 
people presenting to homelessness services.

Improvements to Mental Health Support 

Youth homelessness and mental ill health are closely 
related issues: the findings of the joint Llamau/ 
Cardiff University SEYHoPe research revealed that an 
alarming 87.8% of young people with experience of 
homelessness had a psychiatric disorder compared to 
32.3% of young people in the general population.80 
Experiencing mental ill health can be both a cause 
and a consequence of homelessness and makes 
moving on challenging. As a group who, in most 
cases, have experienced discrimination and often 
familial rejection, LGBTQ+ young people who 
experience homelessness are at particularly high 
risk of experiencing mental ill health. Mental health 
services need to be cognisant of these additional 
experiences, as well as the practical hurdles faced 
by young homeless people. The group found that 
this was not always the case though. The group 
discussed a number of barriers faced by homeless 
young people when accessing mental health services, 
particularly the leap between CAMHS (child and 
adolescent mental health services) and adult services. 

Involving partner organisations

The Rock Trust informed the group about the LGBT 
Charter Mark developed by LGBT Youth Scotland, 
which is a programme of training accompanied 
by a review of policies, practice and resources to 

79   Stonewall. (2017). Service Delivery Toolkit: Step 1: Beginning the journey. Retrieved from: https://www.stonewall.org.uk/resources/
service-delivery-toolkit-step-1-beginning-journey. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

80   Llamau (2015) Experiences of Homeless Young People. Retrieved from: https://www.llamau.org.uk/seyhope. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

81   LGBT Youth Scotland (2018). LGBT Charter. Retrieved from: https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/lgbt-charter/. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

ensure that organisations such as schools, public and 
third sector bodies are not only meeting legislative 
requirements but are as inclusive as they can be.81 
Gary McMillan from the Rock Trust told the group 
that the awards were challenging and require 
change, with Rock Trust having recently completed 
its silver award with changes to policies and social 
media. Practical steps they have taken include 
nominations of LGBT champions in every department 
of the organisation and training of all staff, whether 
frontline or otherwise. Confirmation of progression 
through the process is only granted upon receipt of 
satisfactory responses in a survey of young service 
users, which asks questions like ‘Do you mask or 
downplay who you are when you come to the Rock 
Trust?’ and ‘Do you feel that the Rock Trust is an 
inclusive organisation?’. The Rock Trust’s link-up 
with LGBT Youth Scotland is an excellent example of 
partnership working between a youth homelessness 
organisation and an LGBT youth organisation. Beyond 
their work on the charter, the two organisations 
are influencing changes to policy in Scotland, with 
LGBT Youth Scotland represented on the steering 
group of the Scottish youth homelessness coalition, 
A Way Home Scotland, which Rock Trust lead. 

Hannah Rowan outlined the work undertaken by 
VIVA LGBT, which is the longest running LGBT youth 
group in Wales and part of the West Rhyl Young 
People’s Project, with services across the north east 
of Wales. She said that the project provides group 
and 1:1 support, raises awareness of LGBT issues in 
schools and provides support to families. VIVA LGBT 
are increasingly facing calls for support from younger 
people and currently offer support for 11 -25 year-
olds. They are also increasingly called upon to support 
other agencies, including requests from primary 
schools to support teaching staff & families. 

T
udalen y pecyn 96

https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/5.3_YMCA_Sprott_House.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-48122185
https://www.llamau.org.uk/seyhope
https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/lgbt-charter/


4746

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Although not a specifically homelessness-focussed 
organisation, Viva LGBT are finding that homelessness 
is a recurrent feature in the lives of the young people 
they support. Similarly, mental ill-health is a concern 
for many of their clients, with high levels of anxiety 
common alongside other, often undiagnosed, 
conditions. Viva LGBT’s family work seeks pre-
empt and address stresses within families to avoid 
homelessness. Beyond this, they are working to 
improve understanding about LGBTQ+ people among 
staff doing frontline work. 

VIVA LGBT’s work with young people goes beyond that 
of a typical youth group; Hannah described it as about 
offering LGBTQ+ young people the opportunity of 
being in a majority when in a group, not a minority – a 
powerful, affirming experience in the lives of the young 
people they work with. The sense of security offered by 
the provision of a space in which young people can 
express themselves is very important. 

Other organisations noted as being useful contacts for 
homelessness organisations and local authorities were 
Gendered Intelligence and Unique, a transgender 
network operating in north Wales.

Visibility and Practical Steps

The group discussed a number of examples of good 
practice where organisations have installed gender-
neutral facilities.82 By making physical spaces more 
inclusive, the environment becomes more inclusive and 
safe for all who wish to use them.

The result of their partnership with LGBT Youth 
Scotland and their visual demonstration of support for 
LGBTQ+ rights has been an increase in the numbers 
of LGBTQ+ young people accessing their service, 
with 18% of people in their supported accommodation 

82  Rhyl, Prestatyn and Abergele Journal (2018). City loo first as gender-neutral toilets are installed as part of St Asaph cathedral revamp. 
Retrieved from: https://www.rhyljournal.co.uk/news/15847158.city-loo-first-as-gender-neutral-toilets-are-installed-as-part-of-st-asaph-
cathedral-revamp/. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

83   Recovery Cymru (no date). Recovery Cymru. Retrieved from: http://www.recoverycymru.org.uk. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

and 21% of all of their emergency presentations being 
young people from LGBTQ+ community.

The group was clear that there were dangers of visibly 
demonstrating inclusivity, if a clear understanding of 
the needs of LGBTQ+ young people was not properly 
embedded within organisations. Policies such as a 
zero-tolerance approach to harassment or abuse must 
be firmly adhered to, to garner the confidence of the 
LGBTQ+ community. However, if done correctly, as 
seen in Scotland, the result can be a service in which 
LGBTQ+ young people can place their trust and move 
on swiftly and effectively from homelessness.

Andrew White noted that the default response of many 
LGBTQ+ individuals is to stay in the closet until they 
feel safe. By taking steps to visibly demonstrate support 
for LGBTQ+ rights (Adam Jones suggested that 
rainbow lanyards as an example) people can be put at 
ease, but tokenism must be avoided. 

Involving Young People

Involving young people in the decisions that affect their 
lives is key to the approach taken to ending LGBTQ+ 
youth homelessness. The group made a number of 
suggestions of existing practice to improve future 
engagement with young people.

A strategy that has been effectively trialled with 
addiction groups and could have some useful 
application amongst LGBTQ+ young people who 
have been made homeless is the development of role 
model schemes (see for example Recovery Cymru).83 
By developing peer support networks, providers 
of services to LGBTQ+ youth (both within the 
homelessness sector and elsewhere) can ensure that 

new service users have someone they can look up to 
who they know has been through similar experiences 
to them. 

Stonewall Cymru offer a number of opportunities 
which could enable young people to develop skills, 
networks and confidence, which might be invaluable 
in preventing or moving on from homelessness. These 
include a young campaigners programme and a youth 
placement scheme, which matches young people with 
LGBT-inclusive employers.84 

Albert Kennedy Trust hold two key youth engagement 
events annually. A Youth Strategy Day involves working 
with a tight cohort of about 12 people that work 
on strategy, honing in on areas of work that they 
want to see AKT focus on. They then hold a Youth 
Conference for LGBTQ+ young people and their 
allies. Engagement is otherwise often undertaken 
with young people online, via emails about new 
campaigns and Facebook polls. They have recruited 
a Youth Engagement Officer, who will develop further 
opportunities for young people to influence the 
organisation’s direction, exploring a youth trustee 
board, for example.

As a researcher, Philip Mullen, described engagement 
with LGBTQ+ young people who have experienced 
homelessness as a challenge. He suggested that it was 
important that something positive comes out of the 
experience for the young person and that it is crucial 
to communicate that they will be helping other young 
people. Future researchers of this group need to 
understand that these young people have experienced 
rejection, in many cases, so any participation in 
research must be treated sensitively and results fed 
back to participants.

84   Stonewall Cymru (no date). Work Placements: A space for young people to be mentored by LGBT role models from a Diversity 
Champion employer. Retrieved from: https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/get-involved/get-involved-education/work-placements. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019. 

85   Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council (CBC), Caerphilly CBC, Monmouthshire CBC, Newport City Council & Torfaen CBC (2018). Gwent 
Homelessness Reviews Retrieved from: https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Housing/Homelessness_Reviews_Final-(1).aspx. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019. 

In the experience of Rachel Benson, of TransForm 
Cymru, young people need support to understand 
their rights, so they feel empowered to demand the 
services they need. Youth workers, support workers, 
advocates and teachers need to have solid knowledge 
of children’s rights to enable them to challenge and 
support to ensure access to services. Similarly, a strong 
understanding of LGBTQ+ issues can make a huge 
difference to the abilities of youth-facing workers to 
help those they are supporting to access support from 
elsewhere. As a practical example, support staff can 
help young trans people to change their name via 
deed poll or statutory declaration and update relevant 
documents, such as passports.

How to make LGBTQ+ Youth 
Homelessness Everybody’s Business

A key goal for the group was to consider how to 
make LGBTQ+ youth homelessness everybody’s 
business, i.e. what steps to take in order to raise public 
awareness and ensure that public bodies and beyond 
take responsibility for addressing the issue. 

Local Authority Strategies

Local authority homelessness strategies and related 
strategic documents were mentioned a number 
of times by the group. In some cases these make 
no reference to the LGBTQ+ community, nor 
their increased likelihood of becoming homeless 
(although this is not the case everywhere: the Gwent 
homelessness review 2018, for example, sets out 
some detail on gaps in knowledge and where these 
authorities can improve on the issue).85 Reference 

T
udalen y pecyn 97

https://www.rhyljournal.co.uk/news/15847158.city-loo-first-as-gender-neutral-toilets-are-installed-as-part-of-st-asaph-cathedral-revamp/
https://www.rhyljournal.co.uk/news/15847158.city-loo-first-as-gender-neutral-toilets-are-installed-as-part-of-st-asaph-cathedral-revamp/
http://www.recoverycymru.org.uk
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/get-involved/get-involved-education/work-placements
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Housing/Homelessness_Reviews_Final-(1).aspx


4948

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

to the specific needs of LGBTQ+ young people at a 
strategic level should lead to improvements in the level 
of service offered to this group. 

Using Data 

The group discussed how best to use data to 
raise awareness of the issue of LGBTQ+ youth 
homelessness. All were clear that the quantitative 
data in Wales is an area for improvement but that 
qualitative data – young people’s stories – presented 
hugely powerful drivers for change and should not be 
disregarded. Where statistics are available, such as 
those provided by AKT’s work, they can be presented 
in such a way as to bring home the scale of the 
situation (e.g. 1 in 4 young people who experience 
homelessness are LGBTQ+). 

Action Plans

The group heard from local authority representatives 
that action plans for homelessness teams would be a 
great help, laying out what they needed to change to 
become more inclusive and better support LGBTQ+ 
young people. The homelessness network was 
discussed as providing a good opportunity to share 
LAs’ progress on the development of these. 

86   Sagar, T., Jones, D. & Symons, K. (2018). Sex Work, Drug and Alcohol Use: Bringing the Voices of Sex Workers into the Policy and 
Service Development Framework in Wales. Swansea University. Retrieved from: https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/
basw_44205-2_0.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

87   Sagar, T., Jones, E., Jones, D & Clark, C. (2014). Sex Work Research Wales: Summary of Findings. Swansea University Research 
Repository. Retrieved from: https://cronfa.swan.ac.uk/Record/cronfa26759. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Gaps in Understanding

As a relatively poorly researched area, there are a 
number of gaps in our understanding and areas for 
further inquiry. These include: 

Sex workers

The research which accompanies this report has 
highlighted some of the issues around sexual 
exploitation, in particular ‘survival sex’, experienced 
by young LGBTQ+ people who have been made 
homeless, but has not touched in particular on non-
exploitative sex work. The group highlighted this as a 
particular knowledge-gap, though useful information 
can be inferred from related studies. In particular, a 
2015 study by Sagar et al interviewed 40 sex workers 
in south Wales, finding that the majority of their sample 
had experienced multiple periods of homelessness 
(with eviction following accumulation of rent arrears 
cited as the most common causal factor). 11 of 
the 40 respondents stated that they were LGBT.86 
A separate 2014 study by Sagar et al for Sex Work 
Research Wales also interviewed sex workers in the 
South Wales area and found that out of their sample 
of 44 participants 31 had been homeless.87 It is clear 
from these studies that there is a strong link between 
homelessness and sex work and that, in these cases 
LGBT people are disproportionately likely to engage 
in sex work. Further research would help to improve 
understanding of these links.

Gender and health outcomes

The group raised the issue that, although work has 
been undertaken on the gaps in health outcomes 
between homeless men and women, LGBTQ+ 
people are an understudied group in this regard, 
with most work in this field offering a binary gender 
representation and no consideration of sexual identity. 

Prevalence 

A theme of discussion for the group was the lack 
of data on the prevalence of LGBTQ+ youth 
homelessness. Useful studies from the Albert Kennedy 
Trust and others have gone some way to illuminating 
the overrepresentation of LGBTQ+ people in youth 
homelessness data but further work on understanding 
the extent of the issue in Wales is a necessity if the right 
level of service response is to be made available. Data 
collection is covered in greater detail in the EYHC 
research paper.

Intersectionality

Beyond gender there are a number of other areas of 
intersection with LGBTQ+ youth homelessness that 
the group flagged as being in need of further study, 
specifically: 

• Economic disadvantage and LGBTQ+ youth 
homelessness: Poverty and youth homelessness 
are closely linked. Senior Research Fellow at Heriot-
Watt University, Beth Watts, is quoted in the Wales 
Centre for Public Policy’s 2018 Preventing Youth 
Homelessness report as saying: “Any prevention 

88   Schwan, K., French, D., Gaetz, S. Ward, A., Akerman, J. & Redman, M. (2018). Preventing youth homelessness: An international review 
of evidence. Cardiff: Wales Centre for Public Policy. Retrieved from: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/preventing-youth-homelessness/. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019.  

89   Poverty and Social Exclusion (2014). Poverty and Sexual Orientation. Retrieved from: http://www.poverty.ac.uk/editorial/poverty-and-
sexual-orientation. Last accessed 30th July 2019.  

90   Campbell, J. A., (2013). Homelessness amongst people from Black and Minority Ethnic Populations in Wales. Retrieved from: https://
sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/BME-REPORT-20141.pdf.  Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

91   Galop. (2014). LGBT Intersections: A Charity Perspective. Retrieved from: http://www.galop.org.uk/lgbt-intersections-a-charity-
perspective/. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

strategy or plan must recognise that the roots of 
youth homelessness are child poverty”.88 Linked 
to this, Uhrig’s 2014 paper ‘An Examination 
of Poverty and Sexual Orientation in the UK’ 
noted an increased risk of poverty among LGBT 
people.89 Further work is needed on the issue in 
a Welsh context, with a particular emphasis on 
understanding how we can address poverty among 
LGBTQ+ people and their families, as an approach 
to reducing the stresses on households which may 
lead to a young person being kicked out. 

• Race and LGBTQ+ youth homelessness: Shelter 
Cymru research in Wales has found that “some 
people from BME communities are likely to suffer 
(homelessness) disproportionately compared to 
the rest of the population as they face additional 
barriers to those faced by the White Welsh 
majority”.90 Elsewhere in the UK, a report by Galop 
identifies a range of potential harms which LGBT 
people from BAME communities are at risk of 
experiencing, including homelessness: “Conflict at 
home or anti-LGBT abuse from family members is 
still a major cause of homelessness for young LGBT 
BME people. While faith is a source of strength 
for many young people, it can also play a part in 
shaping negative views of family leading up to a 
LGBT young person leaving or being thrown out of 
home. That can involve visits from religious figures, 
restriction on their dress/movement to prevent them 
socialising with other LGBT people, or prayers by 
the local community to ‘cure’ them.”91 

T
udalen y pecyn 98

https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw_44205-2_0.pdf
https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw_44205-2_0.pdf
https://cronfa.swan.ac.uk/Record/cronfa26759
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/preventing-youth-homelessness/
http://www.poverty.ac.uk/editorial/poverty-and-sexual-orientation
http://www.poverty.ac.uk/editorial/poverty-and-sexual-orientation
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/BME-REPORT-20141.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/BME-REPORT-20141.pdf
http://www.galop.org.uk/lgbt-intersections-a-charity-perspective/
http://www.galop.org.uk/lgbt-intersections-a-charity-perspective/


5150

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

• Disability and LGBTQ+ Youth Homelessness: 
17% of the UK’s LGBT population consider 
themselves to have a disability, rising to 33% of 
trans people. 92 Stonewall’s ‘LGBT Britain: Home 
and Communities’ report from 2018 notes an 
increased risk of disabled LGBT people experiencing 
homelessness “Almost one in five LGBT people (18 
per cent) have experienced homelessness at some 
point in their lives. This number increases to almost 
three in ten LGBT disabled people (28 per cent) 
compared to more than one in ten LGBT people 
who aren’t disabled (11 per cent)”93 The learning 
disability charity Mencap states that there are 1.4 
million people with a learning disability in the UK, 
approximately 2% of the population, of whom 1.2 
million live in England.94 By contrast, Homeless 
Link’s Young and Homeless report, which considers 
youth homelessness in England, suggests that 9% of 
the youth homelessness population have a learning 
disability – a significant overrepresentation.95 
Based on these figures there appears to be a 
high likelihood that young LGBTQ+ people with 

92   Government Equalities Office (2018). National LGBT Survey. Retrieved from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/
system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721704/LGBT-survey-research-report.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019.  

93   Bachmann, C. L. & Gooch, B. (2018). LGBT in Britain: Home and Communities. Retrieved from: https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/
default/files/lgbt_in_britain_home_and_communities.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

94   Mencap (2018). How common is a learning disability. Retrieved from: https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/research-
and-statistics/how-common-learning-disability. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

95   Homeless Link (2018) Young and Homeless. Retrieved from: https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Young%20
and%20Homeless%202018.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

96   Baker Collins, S., Fudge Schormans, A., Watt, L., Idems, B. & Wilson, T. (2018). The invisibility of disability for homeless youth. Journal of 
Social Distress and Homelessness. 27 (2). Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10530789.2018.1480892. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019. 

disabilities are at much greater risk of experiencing 
homelessness and further exploration of this 
phenomenon in the Welsh context is needed. Collins 
et al have conducted a study of this particular 
issue in Canada, which found that there are 
systemic disjunctures between homelessness and 
disability services, which ultimately disadvantage 
disabled homeless youth: “The homelessness 
sector was not designed to anticipate disability, 
nor was the disability sector designed to anticipate 
homelessness. Key informants make plain that 
neither system has sufficient knowledge of the other. 
Operating as siloes, it is this lack of knowledge 
and engagement between these sectors – more so 
than disability – that works to disable youth and to 
make them vulnerable”. 96 Similar work here would 
be worthwhile to determine if the same is true in 
Wales and, indeed, if LGBTQ+ young people with 
disabilities are particularly disadvantaged in our 
current systems.

“Under international human rights 
law and in keeping with (UN) 
Sustainable Development Goals, 
States have an immediate obligation 
to effectively address homelessness, 
and must take immediate steps to 
address as a matter of priority its 
underlying structural causes towards 
its elimination by 2030. Within that 
context, the measures adopted by 
national and local governments 
must prevent LGBT youth from 
becoming homeless, ensure that 
housing policies and programmes 
be inclusive of LGBT persons and 
address the needs of LGBT youth.”97

97   Office of the United Nations High Commissioner on Human Rights (2019). The right to housing of LGBT youth: an urgent task in the 
SDG agenda setting. Retrieved from https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=24877&LangID=E Last 
accessed 13th August 2019. 

Conclusion

Overall, the situation is a bleak one for many 
LGBTQ+ young people who become homeless in 
Wales in 2019. They face stigma, abuse, misgendering 
and a range of harms and threats beyond even those 
that non-LGBTQ+ people face when made homeless. 
However, there is a great desire from service providers 
to learn more and to offer support which can address 
some of the particular needs of young LGBTQ+ 
people, with a demand for training and better 
understanding of specific services with whom local 
authorities and others can work in partnership with. 
There is a range of good practice available to learn 
from elsewhere in the world, as shown in our study 
by the likes of the Albert Kennedy Trust in England 
and the partnership between the Rock Trust and LGBT 
Youth Scotland in Edinburgh. Welsh Government have 
demonstrated support for initiatives to help young 
LGBTQ+ people facing homelessness by providing 
funding for a partnership project between Llamau, 
Denbighshire Council, Viva LGBT and a mental health 
specialist in Rhyl, which will offer accommodation and 
support. Strategic direction on the issue is needed 
however, at both national and local scale. In particular, 
more investment in preventative services, such as 
an Upstream provision, would help to improve our 
abilities as a society to intervene earlier and prevent 
young people becoming homeless. 

Part 6: Conclusion and 
Recommendations

T
udalen y pecyn 99

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721704/LGBT-survey-research-report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721704/LGBT-survey-research-report.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/lgbt_in_britain_home_and_communities.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/lgbt_in_britain_home_and_communities.pdf
https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/research-and-statistics/how-common-learning-disability
https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/research-and-statistics/how-common-learning-disability
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Young%20and%20Homeless%202018.pdf
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Young%20and%20Homeless%202018.pdf
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10530789.2018.1480892
https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=24877&LangID=E


5352

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Recommendations: 

1. Welsh Government’s 10 year strategy to tackle homelessness comes to an end this 
year. Any future Welsh Government strategy should address LGBTQ+ Youth 
Homelessness specifically, drawing upon the findings of this report, plus 
consultation with young people, LGBTQ+ groups and service providers to make 
LGBTQ+ youth homelessness rare, brief and non-recurrent. 

2. We recommend that Welsh Government support the trial of an Upstream-style 
service, whereby schools work with youth homelessness specialists to identify young 
people at risk of homelessness. Schools offer an excellent opportunity to prevent youth 
homelessness or intervene early to help young people access appropriate support and 
this approach would directly address the concerns of many young people who feel earlier 
intervention would have helped them. This would not need to directly address the gender 
identity or sexual orientation of those completing the survey, but would enable schools to 
pick up on tensions at home and introduce appropriate support to prevent homelessness.

3. Welsh Government should request data from Local Authorities on the numbers of 
LGBTQ+ people accessing homelessness services. This data should be presented in 
a fashion which allows for cross referencing by age, so that the scale of LGBTQ+ youth 
homelessness can begin to be understood and the effectiveness of efforts to reduce it 
demonstrated. It is crucial that this is done in a sensitive fashion, so monitoring questions 
should be co-designed with the LGBTQ+ community and data should only used for 
specific, stated purposes.

4. Local Authorities should revisit their Statutory Homelessness Reviews and 5 Year 
Homelessness Strategies in light of these findings. They should consult with local 
LGBTQ+ groups, and ensure that there is a strategic commitment and agreed approach 
to reducing LGBTQ+ youth homelessness in their areas. 

5. LGBTQ+-specific supported housing services, where young LGBTQ+ people who 
have been made homeless can feel comfortable and safe should be developed. 
It is recommended that Local Authority commissioners learn from and replicate the 
progress of the LGBTQ+-specific supported accommodation project in Rhyl, funded by 
Welsh Government’s Innovation Fund and delivered in partnership by Viva, Llamau and 
Denbighshire Council. 

6. Local authorities should ensure that they are aware of and linked in with the youth 
groups in their areas and that financial support is available to them, as necessary. 
Existing youth services, which cater for LGBTQ+ young peoples’ needs to socialise, 
learn and form communities within safe spaces are precious and should be protected, 
funded appropriately and encouraged to develop, ensuring that, should they experience 
homelessness, young LGBTQ+ people have a trusted agency to turn to. 

7. Local authorities, third sector providers and health practitioners working with 
young people should commission training from LGBTQ+ organisations to ensure 
that their staff feel fully confident when working with young LGBTQ+ people and 
know where to refer for specialist interventions. Improved understanding across 
Wales would reduce intolerance and ensure problems were picked up earlier, reducing the 
numbers of young people entering crisis.

8. Local authorities and third-sector agencies should consider ways to make 
homelessness services more welcoming and inclusive of LGBTQ+ people. Visible 
commitments to equality (including trans equality), employing staff with lived experience 
and early intervention, for instance with homelessness services having a presence at Pride 
events or visiting LGBTQ+ youth groups, would all promote engagement. It is important 
to remember that trans youth are a distinct group from LGBTQ+ youth as a whole, and do 
not necessarily “read” LGBTQ+ materials as inclusive of them, so this should be taken into 
account (by displaying the trans flag alongside LGBTQ+ flags, for example).

9. Organisations working with young people should provide gender-neutral toilets. 
This is a simple way to ensure that no LGBTQ+ young person feels uncomfortable 
accessing any element of the service provided.

10. Young people presenting to homelessness services should be proactively offered a 
private space in which to talk to staff members about their reasons for presenting. 
This is a straightforward way to help young people to feel more comfortable discussing 
their experiences. 

11. More research on this subject is required to help us to better understand young 
LGBTQ+ people’s needs in Wales. In particular, this could focus on improving 
understanding of survival sex (among LGBTQ+ young people and others), as well as 
intersectionality with other issues, e.g. economic disadvantage, race, disability.

T
udalen y pecyn 100



5554

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Abramovich, A. (2015). A Focused Response to Prevent and End LGBTQ2S Youth 
Homelessness. Prepared for Government of Alberta. Retrieved from: https://open.alberta.ca/
publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness. Last accessed 
30th July 2019.  

Albert Kennedy Trust (2019). Business Plan Update. Retrieved from: https://www.akt.org.uk/
News/business-plan-update. Last accessed 30th July 2019.  

Albert Kennedy Trust. (no date). your toolkit. Retrieved from: https://www.akt.org.uk/Blogs/toolkit. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Allen-Kinross, P. (2019). Ofsted: Quarter of teachers have witnessed off-rolling. Retrieved 
from: https://schoolsweek.co.uk/ofsted-quarter-of-teachers-have-witnessed-off-rolling/. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019.

Bachmann, C. L. & Gooch, B. (2018). LGBT in Britain: Home and Communities. Retrieved 
from: https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/lgbt_in_britain_home_and_communities.pdf. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Baker Collins, S., Fudge Schormans, A., Watt, L., Idems, B. & Wilson, T. (2018). The invisibility of 
disability for homeless youth. Journal of Social Distress and Homelessness. 27 (2). Retrieved from: 
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10530789.2018.1480892. Last accessed 30th 
July 2019. 

Bateman, W. (2015). LGBT Youth Homelessness: UK National Scoping Exercise. Albert 
Kennedy Trust. Retrieved from: https://www.theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-
manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 
2019.

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council (CBC), Caerphilly CBC, Monmouthshire CBC, Newport 
City Council & Torfaen CBC (2018). Gwent Homelessness Reviews Retrieved from: https://www.
caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Housing/Homelessness_Reviews_Final-(1).aspx. Last accessed 
30th July 2019.

Boucher, D. (eds). (2006). The Housing Needs of lesbian, gay and bisexual (LGB) people in 
Wales. Cardiff: Triangle Wales, Trothwy Cyf, Stonewall Cymru and Welsh Government.  Retrieved 
from: https://www.taipawb.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/LGB-Housing-Homelessness-Report.
pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

Campbell, J. A., (2013). Homelessness amongst people from Black and Minority Ethnic 
Populations in Wales. Retrieved from: https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/
BME-REPORT-20141.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Canadian Observatory of Youth Homelessness. (2016). Canadian Definition of Youth 
Homelessness. Retrieved from: https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/Definition_of_Youth_
Homelessness.pdf. Last accessed 29th June 2019.

Coolhart, D & Brown, M. T. (2017). The need for safe spaces: Exploring the experiences of 
homeless LGBTQ youth in shelters. Children and Youth Services Review. 82, 230-238. 
Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319661703_The_need_for_safe_
spaces_Exploring_the_experiences_of_homeless_LGBTQ_youth_in_shelters. Last access 30th July 
2019.

Cowan, M. (2019). ‘LGBT shelter means I can be myself’. Retrieved from: https://www.bbc.
co.uk/news/uk-48122185. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Dolamore, S. & Naylor, L. A. (2017). Providing Solutions to LGBT Homeless 
Youth: Lessons from Baltimore’s Youth Empowered Society. Public 
Integrity. 1-16. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/
abs/10.1080/10999922.2017.1333943?scroll=top&needAccess=true&journalCode=mpin20. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Dunne, G. Prentergast, S. & Telford, D. (2002). Young, Gay, Homeless and Invisible: A 
Growing Population. Culture, Health & Sexuality. 4 (1), 103-115.  Retrieved from: https://www.
tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/136910502753389404.Last accessed 30th July 2019.

England, E. (2019). Homelessness among trans people in Wales. Retrieved from: https://
sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Homelessness-among-trans-people-in-Wales_
Website.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Equality and Human Rights Commission. (2019). The Public Sector Equality Duty. Retrieved 
from: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

Galop. (2014). LGBT Intersections: A Charity Perspective. Retrieved from: http://www.galop.
org.uk/lgbt-intersections-a-charity-perspective/. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Government Equalities Office. (2018). Trans People in the UK. Retrieved from: https://assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721642/
GEO-LGBT-factsheet.pdf. Last accessed 29th June 2019.

Government Equalities Office (2018). National LGBT Survey. Retrieved from: https://assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721704/
LGBT-survey-research-report.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

Homeless Link (2018) Young and Homeless. Retrieved from: https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/
default/files/site-attachments/Young%20and%20Homeless%202018.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 
2019.

References

T
udalen y pecyn 101

https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/a-focused-response-to-prevent-and-end-lgbtq2s-youth-homelessness
https://www.akt.org.uk/News/business-plan-update
https://www.akt.org.uk/News/business-plan-update
https://www.akt.org.uk/Blogs/toolkit
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/ofsted-quarter-of-teachers-have-witnessed-off-rolling/
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/lgbt_in_britain_home_and_communities.pdf
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10530789.2018.1480892
https://www.theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf
https://www.theproudtrust.org/wp-content/uploads/download-manager-files/AlbertKennedy_ResearchReport_Youth-Homelessness.pdf
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Housing/Homelessness_Reviews_Final-(1).aspx
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/CaerphillyDocs/Housing/Homelessness_Reviews_Final-(1).aspx
https://www.taipawb.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/LGB-Housing-Homelessness-Report.pdf
https://www.taipawb.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/LGB-Housing-Homelessness-Report.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/BME-REPORT-20141.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/BME-REPORT-20141.pdf
https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/Definition_of_Youth_Homelessness.pdf
https://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/Definition_of_Youth_Homelessness.pdf
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319661703_The_need_for_safe_spaces_Exploring_the_experiences_of_homeless_LGBTQ_youth_in_shelters
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319661703_The_need_for_safe_spaces_Exploring_the_experiences_of_homeless_LGBTQ_youth_in_shelters
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-48122185
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-48122185
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10999922.2017.1333943?scroll=top&needAccess=true&journalCode=mpin20
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10999922.2017.1333943?scroll=top&needAccess=true&journalCode=mpin20
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/136910502753389404.
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/136910502753389404.
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Homelessness-among-trans-people-in-Wales_Website.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Homelessness-among-trans-people-in-Wales_Website.pdf
https://sheltercymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Homelessness-among-trans-people-in-Wales_Website.pdf
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty
http://www.galop.org.uk/lgbt-intersections-a-charity-perspective/
http://www.galop.org.uk/lgbt-intersections-a-charity-perspective/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721642/GEO-LGBT-factsheet.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721642/GEO-LGBT-factsheet.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721642/GEO-LGBT-factsheet.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721704/LGBT-survey-research-report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721704/LGBT-survey-research-report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721704/LGBT-survey-research-report.pdf
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Young%20and%20Homeless%202018.pdf
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Young%20and%20Homeless%202018.pdf


5756

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Llamau (2015) Experiences of Homeless Young People. Retrieved from: https://www.llamau.
org.uk/seyhope. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

LGBT Youth Scotland “LGBT Youth Commission on Housing and Homelessness”. Retrieved 
from: https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/national-programmes/policy-and-influencing/youth-
commission-housing-and-homelessness/. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

LGBT Youth Scotland (2018). LGBT Charter. Retrieved from: https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/lgbt-
charter/. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Maccio, E. M. & Ferguson, K. M. (2015). Service to LGBTQ runaway and homeless youth: 
Gaps and recommendations. Children and Youth Services Review. 63, 47-57. Retrieved from: 
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294122487_Services_to_LGBTQ_runaway_and_
homeless_youth_Gaps_and_recommendations. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Matthews, P., Payner, C. and Kjellgren. (2018). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and queer 
experiences of homelessness and identity: insecurity and home(o)normativity. International 
Journal of Housing Policy. 1-22. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/19
491247.2018.1519341. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

McCann, E. & Brown, M. (2019). Homelessness among youth who identify as LGBTQ+: A 
Systematic Review. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2019: 1-12. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.
nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

McCoy, S. (2018). Danger Zones and Stepping Stones: Phase Two, A quantitative 
exploration of young people’s experience of temporary living. Retrieved from:. https://
uk.depaulcharity.org/sites/default/files/DANGER-ZONES-REPORT-FINAL-EMBARGOED-TILL-
00.01AM-THURSDAY-22-MARCH-2018.pdf Last accessed 30th June 2019. 

McNeil, J. Bailey, L., Ellis, S., Morton, J. & Regan, M. . (2012). Trans Mental Health. Retrieved 
from: http://worldaa1.miniserver.com/~gires/assets/Medpro-Assets/trans_mh_study.pdf. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019.  

Mencap (2018). How common is a learning disability. Retrieved from: https://www.mencap.
org.uk/learning-disability-explained/research-and-statistics/how-common-learning-disability. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019.

Miller, K. (2017). 5.3 YMCA Sprott House: Creating a Better Space for LGBTQ2S Youth in 
Toronto: Sprott House our First Year. Retrieved from: https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/
files/attachments/5.3_YMCA_Sprott_House.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Morton, M. H., Samuels, G. M., Dworsky, A., & Patel, S. (2018). Missed opportunities: LGBTQ 
youth homelessness in America, Chapin Hall at the University of Chicago. Retrieved from: 
http://voicesofyouthcount.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/VoYC-LGBTQ-Brief-FINAL.pdf. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019. 

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. (2019). Health and social care directorate 
Quality standards and indicators Briefing paper. Coexisting severe mental illness and 
substance misuse. Retrieved from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gid-qs10078/documents/
briefing-paper. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Office of National Statistics. (2017). Sexual Identity, UK: 2016. Retrieved from: https://
www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/
sexualidentityuk/2016#people-aged-16-to-24-are-more-likely-to-identify-as-lesbian-gay-or-
bisexual-than-any-othe. Last accessed 29th June 2019.

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner on Human Rights (2019). The right to 
housing of LGBT youth: an urgent task in the SDG agenda setting. Retrieved from 
https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=24877&LangID=E 
Last accessed 13th August 2019. 

Palzkill Woefler, J & Hendry, D. G. (2012). Homeless Young People on Social Network 
Sites. Washington: University of Washington. Retrieved from: https://dl.acm.org/citation.
cfm?id=2207676.2208686. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Poverty and Social Exclusion (2014). Poverty and Sexual Orientation. Retrieved from: http://
www.poverty.ac.uk/editorial/poverty-and-sexual-orientation. Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

Prock, K. A. & Kennedy, A. C. (2017). Federally-funded transitional living programs and 
services for LGBTQ+ identified homeless youth: A profile of unmet need. Children 
and Youth Services Review. 83, 17-24. Retrieved from: https://psycnet.apa.org/
record/2017-53025-004. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Recovery Cymru (no date). Recovery Cymru. Retrieved from: http://www.recoverycymru.org.uk. 
Last accessed 30th July 2019

Rhyl, Prestatyn and Abergele Journal (2018). City loo first as gender-neutral toilets are 
installed as part of St Asaph cathedral revamp. Retrieved from: https://www.rhyljournal.co.uk/
news/15847158.city-loo-first-as-gender-neutral-toilets-are-installed-as-part-of-st-asaph-cathedral-
revamp/. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Rice, E., Lee, A and Taitt, S. (2011). Cellphone Use among Homeless Youth: Potential 
for New Health Intervention and Research. Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of New York 
Academy of Medicine. 88 (6), 1175-1182. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/
articles/PMC3232411/. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Rosario, M., Schrimshaw, E. W. & Hunter J. (2011). Risk factors for homelessness among 
lesbian, gay and bisexual youths: A developmental milestone approach. Children and 
Youth Services Review. 34, 186-193. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/
PMC3279927/. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

T
udalen y pecyn 102

https://www.llamau.org.uk/seyhope
https://www.llamau.org.uk/seyhope
https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/national-programmes/policy-and-influencing/youth-commission-housing-and-homelessness/
https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/national-programmes/policy-and-influencing/youth-commission-housing-and-homelessness/
https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/lgbt-charter/
https://www.lgbtyouth.org.uk/lgbt-charter/
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294122487_Services_to_LGBTQ_runaway_and_homeless_youth_Gaps_and_recommendations
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/294122487_Services_to_LGBTQ_runaway_and_homeless_youth_Gaps_and_recommendations
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/19491247.2018.1519341
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/19491247.2018.1519341
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30786099
https://uk.depaulcharity.org/sites/default/files/DANGER-ZONES-REPORT-FINAL-EMBARGOED-TILL-00.01AM-THURSDAY-22-MARCH-2018.pdf
https://uk.depaulcharity.org/sites/default/files/DANGER-ZONES-REPORT-FINAL-EMBARGOED-TILL-00.01AM-THURSDAY-22-MARCH-2018.pdf
https://uk.depaulcharity.org/sites/default/files/DANGER-ZONES-REPORT-FINAL-EMBARGOED-TILL-00.01AM-THURSDAY-22-MARCH-2018.pdf
http://worldaa1.miniserver.com/~gires/assets/Medpro-Assets/trans_mh_study.pdf
https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/research-and-statistics/how-common-learning-disability
https://www.mencap.org.uk/learning-disability-explained/research-and-statistics/how-common-learning-disability
https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/5.3_YMCA_Sprott_House.pdf
https://www.homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/5.3_YMCA_Sprott_House.pdf
http://voicesofyouthcount.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/VoYC-LGBTQ-Brief-FINAL.pdf
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gid-qs10078/documents/briefing-paper
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gid-qs10078/documents/briefing-paper
https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=24877&LangID=E
https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2207676.2208686
https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2207676.2208686
http://www.poverty.ac.uk/editorial/poverty-and-sexual-orientation
http://www.poverty.ac.uk/editorial/poverty-and-sexual-orientation
https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2017-53025-004
https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2017-53025-004
http://www.recoverycymru.org.uk
https://www.rhyljournal.co.uk/news/15847158.city-loo-first-as-gender-neutral-toilets-are-installed-as-part-of-st-asaph-cathedral-revamp/
https://www.rhyljournal.co.uk/news/15847158.city-loo-first-as-gender-neutral-toilets-are-installed-as-part-of-st-asaph-cathedral-revamp/
https://www.rhyljournal.co.uk/news/15847158.city-loo-first-as-gender-neutral-toilets-are-installed-as-part-of-st-asaph-cathedral-revamp/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3232411/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3232411/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3279927/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3279927/


5958

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Russell, S. T., Pollitt, A. M., Li, G. & Grossman, A. H. (2018). Chosen Name Use Is Linked 
to Reduced Depressive Symptoms, Suicidal Ideation, and Suicidal Behavior Among 
Transgender Youth. Journal of Adolescent Health. 62 (4), 503-505. Retrieved from: https://www.
ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29609917. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Sagar, T., Jones, D. & Symons, K. (2018). Sex Work, Drug and Alcohol Use: Bringing the 
Voices of Sex Workers into the Policy and Service Development Framework in Wales. 
Swansea University. Retrieved from: https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw_44205-
2_0.pdf. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Sagar, T., Jones, E., Jones, D & Clark, C. (2014). Sex Work Research Wales: Summary of 
Findings. Swansea University Research Repository. Retrieved from: https://cronfa.swan.ac.uk/
Record/cronfa26759. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Schwan, K., French, D., Gaetz, S. Ward, A., Akerman, J. & Redman, M. (2018). Preventing youth 
homelessness: An international review of evidence. Cardiff: Wales Centre for Public Policy. 
Available at: https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/preventing-youth-homelessness/. Last accessed 
30th July 2019.

Scottish Housing Regulator (2009). Understanding the Housing Needs and Homeless 
Experiences of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) People in Scotland A Guide 
for Social Housing Providers and Homelessness Services. Retrieved from: https://www.south-
ayrshire.gov.uk/documents/stone%20wall%20lgbt%20guidance.pdf. Last accessed 30th June 
2019.

Shelton, J. (2018). LGBT Youth Homelessness: What are You Going to Do about it? Public Integrity. 
20 (6), 542-545. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10999922.2018
.1441963. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Sherriff, N., Hamilton, W. E., Wigmore, S. and Giambrone, B. L. B. (2011). “WHAT DO YOU SAY 
TO THEM?” INVESTIGATING AND SUPPORTING THE NEEDS OF LESBIAN, GAY, BISEXUAL, 
TRANS AND QUESTIONING (LGBTQ) YOUNG PEOPLE. Journal of Community Psychology. 39 
(8), 939 – 955. Retrieved from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/jcop.20479. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019.

Stevenson, T., and Jardine, L. (2009) Understanding the housing needs and homeless 
experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) people in Scotland: a guide 
for social housing providers and homelessness services. [PDF]. Scotland: Stonewall Scotland. 
Retrieved From: https://www.south-ayrshire.gov.uk/documents/stone%20wall%20lgbt%20guidance.
pdf. Last accesses 18th Dec 2018. 

Stonewall (no date). Glossary of Terms. Retrieved from: https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-
advice/glossary-terms#. Last accessed 29th June 2019.

Stonewall. (2018). Supporting trans women in domestic and sexual violence services: 
Interviews with professionals in the sector.  Retrieved from:

https://www.stonewall.org.uk/system/files/stonewall_and_nfpsynergy_report.pdf. Last accessed 30th 
July 2019. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Stonewall (2017). What’s in My Area: Find LGBT services and community groups that are 
local to you. Retrieved from: https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/help-advice/whats-my-area. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019.

Stonewall Cymru. (no date). Creating a Trans Inclusive School Cymru. Retrieved from:. https://
www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/creating-trans-inclusive-school-cymru Last accessed 30th July 2019. 

Stonewall. (2017). Service Delivery Toolkit: Step 1: Beginning the journey. Retrieved from: 
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/resources/service-delivery-toolkit-step-1-beginning-journey. Last 
accessed 30th July 2019.

Stonewall Cymru (no date). Work Placements: A space for young people to be mentored 
by LGBT role models from a Diversity Champion employer. Retrieved from: https://www.
stonewallcymru.org.uk/get-involved/get-involved-education/work-placements. Last accessed 30th 
July 2019.

Tunaker, C. (2015). “No Place Like Home”. The journal of Architecture, Design and Domestic 
Space.12 (2), 241-259. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1740631
5.2015.1046300. Last accessed 30th July 2019.

Walls, E. & Bell, S. (2010). Correlates of Engaging in Survival Sex among Homeless Youth 
and Young Adults. The Journal of Sex Research. 48 (5), 423-436. Retrieved from: https://www.
tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00224499.2010.501916?needAccess=true. Last accessed 
30th June 2019.

Welsh Government (2016). Code of Guidance for Local Authorities on the Allocation of 
Accommodation and Homelessness. Cardiff: Welsh Government. Retrieved from: https://
gweddill.gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/160324-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities-on-
allocation-of-accommodation-and-homelessness-en.pdf. 

Welsh Government. (2018). Housing. Retrieved from: https://gweddill.gov.wales/topics/housing-
and-regeneration/services-and-support/homelessness/?lang=en. Last accessed 25th April 2019.

WHQ (2018). Call for Action to End Sex for Rent: Retrieved from: https://www.whq.org.
uk/2018/12/03/call-for-action-to-end-sex-for-rent/ Last accessed 25th April 2019.

T
udalen y pecyn 103

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29609917
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29609917
https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw_44205-2_0.pdf
https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw_44205-2_0.pdf
https://cronfa.swan.ac.uk/Record/cronfa26759
https://cronfa.swan.ac.uk/Record/cronfa26759
https://www.wcpp.org.uk/publication/preventing-youth-homelessness/
https://www.south-ayrshire.gov.uk/documents/stone%20wall%20lgbt%20guidance.pdf
https://www.south-ayrshire.gov.uk/documents/stone%20wall%20lgbt%20guidance.pdf
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10999922.2018.1441963
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10999922.2018.1441963
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/jcop.20479
https://www.south-ayrshire.gov.uk/documents/stone%20wall%20lgbt%20guidance.pdf
https://www.south-ayrshire.gov.uk/documents/stone%20wall%20lgbt%20guidance.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-advice/glossary-terms
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-advice/glossary-terms
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/system/files/stonewall_and_nfpsynergy_report.pdf
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/help-advice/whats-my-area
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/creating-trans-inclusive-school-cymru
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/creating-trans-inclusive-school-cymru
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/get-involved/get-involved-education/work-placements
https://www.stonewallcymru.org.uk/get-involved/get-involved-education/work-placements
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/17406315.2015.1046300
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/17406315.2015.1046300
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00224499.2010.501916?needAccess=true
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00224499.2010.501916?needAccess=true
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/160324-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities-on-allocation-of-accommodation-and-homelessness-en.pdf
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/160324-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities-on-allocation-of-accommodation-and-homelessness-en.pdf
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/160324-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities-on-allocation-of-accommodation-and-homelessness-en.pdf
https://gweddill.gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/services-and-support/homelessness/?lang=en
https://gweddill.gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/services-and-support/homelessness/?lang=en
https://www.whq.org.uk/2018/12/03/call-for-action-to-end-sex-for-rent/
https://www.whq.org.uk/2018/12/03/call-for-action-to-end-sex-for-rent/


6160

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Appendix A: Questions to Young People 

Below is the list of co-designed questions asked by peer researchers.

Questions for End Youth Homelessness LGBTQ+ Research

 
Research Aim

We want this research to give us evidence which we can use to recommend changes which will:

• Make it easier to prevent young people from the LGBTQ+ Community becoming homeless

• Make it easier for those who do become homeless receive help which is suitable for their needs

1. Where are you from originally?

2. Where are you living at the moment?

3. Could you tell us about your experience of being made homeless? 

4. Could you tell us about anything that you think might have stopped you from becoming 
homeless?

5. Do you think that being from the LGBTQ+ community has anything to do with you 
becoming homeless?

6. What sort of support did you receive as a homeless person (for example, from the 
council or from homelessness charities)?

7. Did you discuss gender and sexuality with any of the organisations that have supported 
you? Can you tell us about how this went?

8. Did any service try and help you to stay at home?  
a) If so, did you feel like they understood LGBTQ+ issues?

9. Did you find your school or college helpful when you were made homeless?

10. Have you ever used social media, such as Facebook, or apps, like Grindr, to get a 
place to stay for the night? 

11. Have you ever stayed with anyone who made you feel uncomfortable or at risk of harm, 
in order to keep a roof over your head?

We think there are a lot of links between mental health and homelessness and we’d like to 
know more about these links for people from the LGBTQ+ community, in particular;

12. Could you tell us about how becoming homeless affected your mental health?

13. Could you tell us about your experiences of getting help for your mental health?

14. Did your school or college help you to better understand or deal with issues around 
your sexuality or gender identity?

15. If you had the chance to sit down with the First Minister of Wales and ask him to change 
things to prevent young people from the LGBTQ+ community becoming homeless, 
what would you ask him to change?

16. If you could make any changes to the services available to young people who have 
already been made homeless, what would they be?

17. Tell me what you would change for yourself, personally, right now. What changes would 
make your life better at the moment?

18. Finally, is there anything else you’d like to tell us?

Appendices

T
udalen y pecyn 104



6362

FULL REPORT AUGUST 2019OUT ON THE STREETS – LGBTQ+ YOUTH HOMELESSNESS IN WALES

Appendix B: Survey to Practitioners 

A list of the questions asked of practitioners who come into contact with young people at risk  
of homelessness.

1. Do you record the gender identity of people who present to your service? 
a) If yes, what options do you offer?

2. Do you record whether the gender identity of people who present to your service is the 
same as that which was assigned to them at birth?

3. Do you record the sexuality of people who present to your service? 
a) If yes, what options do you offer? 

4. Does your organisation offer training which focusses specifically on sexuality and gender?

5. Do you feel that you understand the specific needs of LGBTQ+ young people (i.e. 16-
25) who present to your service?

6. Do you feel that your service offers a welcoming environment for LGBTQ+ young people? 
a) If so, please give details

7. Does your service offer any tailored, LGBTQ+-specific options? 
a) If so, please give details

8. Do you ever refer people who present to you to LGBTQ+ services?  
a) If so, please give details

9. Finally, do you have any ideas for changes that could be made to improve your service 
for LGBTQ+ young people?

T
udalen y pecyn 105



Tudalen y pecyn 106


	Agenda
	1 Gwaith dilynol ar gysgu ar y stryd yng Nghymru: Diweddariad ar weithgarwch ymgysylltu â dinasyddion, Rhys Jones, Rheolwr Ymgysylltu â Dinasyddion
	Lived experience panel - notes - FINAL (Private)
	Stakeholder event - notes - FINAL (Private)

	2 Gwaith dilynol ar gysgu ar y stryd yng Nghymru: Brîff ar ymchwil i angen â blaenoriaeth a chysgu ar y stryd, Dr Helen Taylor, Cymrawd Academaidd
	4 Gwaith dilynol ar gysgu ar y stryd yng Nghymru: sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda'r Gweinidog
	ELGC(5)-28-19 Papur 1

	5 Papurau i’w nodi
	5.1 Gohebiaeth at y Gweinidog yr Economi a Thrafnidiaeth ynghylch yr ymchwiliad i Ymchwiliad i Gynllun y Bathodyn Glas yng Nghymru: Cymhwystra a Gweithredu
	5.2 Gohebiaeth gan y Dirprwy Weinidog a ' r prif chwip mewn perthynas â Deddf Trais yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol (Cymru) 2015
	5.3 Gohebiaeth at y Cadeirydd mewn perthynas â ' r ymchwiliad i ddiogelwch tân mewn adeiladau uchel eu cynnydd
	ELGC(5)-28-19 Paper 4 -  (members use only)

	5.4 Gohebiaeth gan Llamau mewn perthynas â'r ymchwiliad i gysgu allan yng Nghymru
	Out_on_the_Streets_Full_Report.pdf
	_Hlk6145769
	_GoBack





